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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements”™ within the meaning of Section 2TA of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Act™), and Section 21E of the Sceunities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
All statements other than statements of historscal facts included in this Annual Repon on Form 10-K are forward-looking
statements. The words “hopes,” “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” “seeks.” “estimates,” “projects,” “expects,” “imtends.™
“may,” “could,” “should,” “would,” “will,” “continue,” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements. The following uncertainties and factors, ameng others, could affect future performance and cause actual
results to differ matenally from those matters expressed in or implicd by forward-looking statements:

the results of the go/no go intenim analysis decision from our independent data monitering commitice with
respect to the Phase 2b portion of our engoing Validive clinical trial, anticipated by the end of March 2023;

our ability to raise sufficient funds within the next 12 months m order for us o (1) assuming a positive
result of the go/no go mterim analysis decision anticipated by the end of March 2023, complete the Phase 3
portion of our ongoing Validive Phase 2b/3 clinical trial and, if required, complete a sccomnd confirmatory
Phase 3 clinical trial, (2) continue the clinical development of camsirubicin through and beyond our
ongoing Phase 1b doge cscalation clinical tral, (3) support further preclinical and clinical development of
MNPR-101 for radiophammaceatical use in advanced cancers, and (4) support further development of
MMNPR-202 and related compounds; as well as our ability to further raise additional funds in the future to
support any [uiure product candidate programs through completion of clinical trials, and our curreni and
future product candidate programs through the approval processes and, if applicable, commercialization;

our ability to find a suitable pharmaccutical partner or partners to further our development efforts, under
scceplable financial terms;

risks and uncertainties associated with our rescarch and development activities, including our clinical trinls,
regulatory submissions, and manufaciunng and quality expenses;

estimated timeframes for our clinical inals and regulatory reviews for approval to market products are
uneertain,
the rate of market acceptance and competitiveness in terms of pricing, efficacy and safety, of any products

for which we receive marketing approval, and our ability o competitively market any such products as
compared to larger pharmaceutical fimms;

the difficultics of commiercialization, marketing and product manufactuning and overall strategy,
unceriaimties of mielleciual property position and strategy including new discovenies and patent filings;

aur ability to attract and retain expenienced and qualified key personnel and'or to find and utilize external
sources of expenience, expertise and scientific, medical and commercialization knowledge 1o complete
product development and commercialization of new products;

the risks inherent in our cstimates regarding the level of needed expenses, capital requirements and the
availability of required additional financing at acceplable erms;

the impact of government laws and regulations mcluding mercased govemmental control of healthcare and
pharmaceuticals, resulting in direet price controls dniving lower prices, other governmental regulations
affecting cost requirements and structures for selling therapeutic products, and recent governmental
legislation affecting other industnes which may indirectly increase our costs of obtaining goods and
SETViCes;

the uncertain continuing impact of COVID-19 on our ability to advance our clinical programs and raisc
additional financing;

the curmulative impact of domestic and global inflation, volatility in financial markets and the banking
industry and/or the potential for an cconomic recession increasing our costs of obtaining goods and services
or making financing more difficult to obtain on acceptable terms or at all;

the uncertain impact of the Russia-Ukraine war on our clinical material manufacturing expenses and
timelines. as well as on general cconomic, trade and financial market conditions; and

uncertainty of our financial projections and operational tmelines and the development of new competitive

products and technologics,




Alihough we believe that the risk assessments identified in such forward-looking statements are appropriate, we can give
no assurance that such risks will materialize. Cautionary statements are disclosed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K,
including without limitation statements in the section entitled “Item 1A - Risk Factors,” addressing forward-looking
statements. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable 1o us or persons acting on our behalf
are expressly qualified in their entirety by the caultionary stalements. We undenake no obligation to update any
statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K or elsewhere, including without limitation any forward-looking
statements, except as required by low.

Any forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K reflect our current views with respect to future
events or 1o our future financial performance and volve known and unknown risks, uncenainties and other factors that
may cause our actual results, performance or achicvements to be materially different from any future results,
performance o achicvements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Information that is based on
estimates, forecasts, projections, market research or similar methodologies is inherently subject to uncertainties and
actual events or eircumstances may differ materially from events and circumstances projecied in this information.

Summary Risk Factors

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertaintics, including these highlighted in “ltem 1A - Risk Factors™
located clsewhere in this Annual Report on Form [0-K., These risks include, among others, the following:

®  We arc a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company with a history of financial losses. We expect to
continue to incur significant losses for the foresecable future and may never achicve or maintain cash self-
sufficiency or profitability, which could result in a decline in the market value of our common stock,

®  We expect the results of the go'no go intenim analysis decision from our independent data monitoring
commiittee with respect 1o the Phase 2b portion of our ongeing Validive clinical tral by the end of March
2023, A negative decision would require us to refocus our development efforts on our other product
candicates and could resull in a decling in the market value of our commaon stock.

®  Funds raised o date are not sufficient to 1) assuming a positive result of the go/no go interim analysis
decision anticipated by the end of March 2023, complete the Phase 3 portion of our ongoing Validive Phase
263 {“VOICE™) climical program, including, if required pleting a second Fha;:icun['rmalm‘_\' clinical
trial; 2} continue the clinical development ol'l:am.urublcm through and beyond our ongoing Phase 1b dose
escalation clinical wrial; 3) support further development of MNPR-10]1 for radiopharmaceutical use in
sdvanced cancers: or 4) support continued development of MNPR-202 and related compounds. 1f we are
unable te raise enough funds within the next 12 months from the sale of our common stock or other
financing efforts, or conclude a strategic agreement or collaboration such as out-licensing Validive or other
product candidates, or ¢ntering into a clinical or commercial partnership, we will likely have to terminate
one or more programs. There can be no assurance thal we will be able 10 secure such financing or find a
suitable development pariner on satisfactory terms,

&  We do not have and may never have any approved products on the market. Our business s highly
dependent upon receiving marketing approvals from various U8, and international governmental agencics
and would be severely harmed if we are not granted approvals to manufacture and scll our product
candidates.

®  Our clinical trials may not yield sufficiently conclusive results for regulatory agencics to approve the use of
our products, which would adversely aflect our financial condition.

®  Ifwe experience delays or difficultics in the enrollment of paticnts in clinical trials, our receipt of necessary
regulatory approvals will be delayed or prevented, which would materially delay our program schedules
and adversely affect our financial condition.

®  If we or our licensces, development collaborators, or supplicrs are unable to manufacture our products in
sufficient quantities or at defined quality specifications, or are unable 1o obtain regulatory approvals for the
manufacturing facility, we may be unable to develop and/or meet demand for our products and lose time to
markel and potential revenues.

*  We rely on qualified third parties to conduct our active pharmaceutical ingredient manufacturing, our drug

manufactuning, non-clinical studies, and our climcal tnals. If these third partics do not or cannot

successfully carry out their contractual dutics and meel expected deadlines or performance goals, the

intiation or conduct of our clinical trials would be delayed and we may be unable o obtain regulatory

approval for, er commercialize, our current product candidates or any future products, and our financial
condition would be adversely affected.




The Russia-Ukraine war, and resulting sanctions against Russia and Russian entities, and Russian reduction
in gas shipments to the EU and other allies, have increased fucl costs, reduced access to entical supplies
and may cause shipping delays. The brosder economic, trade and financial market consequences are
uncertain ot this time, which may increase the cost of supplics for our clinical matenials, may delay the
manufacture of our clinical materials, may increase costs of other goods and services or make it more
difficult or costly to raise additional financing, any of which could cause an adverse effect on our clinical
programs and on our financial condition,

Market variables, such as inflation of product costs, labor rates and fuel, freight and energy costs, as well as
geopolitical events could likely cause us to suffer significant increases in our operating and administrative
CAPCNSCE,

Unstable market and economic conditions, such as the recent volatility in the markets due to concems about
bank stability and economic challenges due 1o inflation, may have serious adverse consequences oni our
ability to raise funds, which may cause us 1o delay, restructure of cease our operations,

The effects of economic and political pressure to lower pharmaceutical prices are a major threat to the
economic viability of new reseanch-based pharmaceutical products, and any sigmificant deercase in drug
prices could materially and adversely affect the financial appeal of owr products and investment praspects.

We face significant competition from other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companics, and from
research-based academic medical institutions, in our targeted medical indications, and our operating results
would be adversely affected if we fail to compete effectively. Many competitors have greater
organizational capabilities in our indusiry, much higher available capital resources, and established
marketing resources and sales in the targeted markets. Competition and technological change may make
our product candidates obsolete or non-competitive,

The termination of third-party licenses would adversely affect our nghts to imporiant compounds or
technologies which are essential 1o develop and market our produets.

If we and our third-party licensors do not obtain and preserve protection for our respective intellectual
property rights, our competitors may be able to develop and market competing drags, which would
adversely affect our financial condition,

A we lose key management leadership, and'or the expertise and experience of our scientific personnel, and
if we cannot recruit qualified employees or other highly qualified and experienced personnel for future
requirements, we would be o risk to experience significant program delays and increased compensation
and operational costs, and our business would be matenially disrupted.

The loag-term effects of COVID-19 are highly uncenain, and their scope and impact could have a
substantial negative bearing on our business, financial condition, operating results, stock price and ability to
raise additional funds.




PART 1
Item 1. Business

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with our financial statements as of December 31, 2022,
and the notes to such financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(hverview

We are a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company focused on developing proprctary therapeutics designed 1o
extend life or improve quality of life for cancer patients. We are building a drug development pipeline through the
licensing and acquisition of therapeutics in late preclinical and clinical development stages. We leverage our scientific
and clinical experience to help reduce the rizk and accelerate the clinical development of our drug product candidates.

During 2022, we expanded the number of clinical trial sites in our global Phase 2b/3 clinical trial of our lead
product candidate, Validive® (clomdine hydrochloride mucob | tablet: clonidine HCI MBT), for the prevention of
chemoradiotherapy (CCRT induced sexvere gral mucositis (“SOM”) in patients with oropharyngeal gancer (“VOICE™
trial). We currently have active sites in the U.S., Spain, France, Germany and Foland and have completed enroflment of
the Phase 2b portion of the chinical trial with a go'no go interim analysis decision from our mdependent data monitoring
commniiliee anticipaed by the end of March 2023, We also continued enrolling in our U.S.-based open-label, Phase |b
clinical rial of camsirubicin for the treatment of advanced soft tissue sarcoma (“ASTS™). We also, in collaboration with
our partner, NorthStar Medical Radisisotopes, LLC, continue to move forward with the development of MNPR-101 for
radiopharmaceutical use in advanced cancers. Finally, we continue to develop MNPR-202, an analog of camsirubicin
designed to potentinlly treat doxorubicin- and camsirubicin-resistant cancers, which is being tested in preclinical models
by our collaborator, the Cancer Science Institute of Singapore a1 the National University of Singapore,

To complete the VOICE chimical program, ncluding, if required, completing a second Phase 3 confirmatory
clinical trial, we will require additional funding in the millions or tens of millions of dollars (depending on if we have
consummated a collaboration or parinership or neither for Validive) which we are planning to parsue within the next 12
months. We also require additional funding 1o continue to develop camsirubicin through and beyvond our ongoing Phase
I clinical inal and to further fund our current and future product pipeline.

Our Product Pipeline
Ingcatony
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Validive felonidine hydrochloride mucobuccal tables; clonidine HCI MBET)

Validive is designed to be used prophylactically o prevent SOM in patients undergoing CRT for oropharyngeal
cancer (“OPC”). SOM is a painful and debilitating inflammation and ulceration of the mucous membranes lining the oral
cavity and oropharynx in response to chemoradiation. The majority of patients receiving CRT to treat their OPC develop




SOM, which remains one of the most common and devastating side effecis of treatment in this indication. The potential
clinical benefits to preventing SOM in patients include: reduced treatment discontinuations leading to potentially
improved overall survival outcomes: reduced mouth and throat pain avoiding the need for feeding tube intervention;
decreased long-term and ofien permanent debilitation arising from swallowing difficultics, neck and throat spasms, and
tung complications due to food 3s;nm.um and deereased reliance on pain medication. Our mucobuceal tablet (“MBT™)
formulation is a novel delivery system for clonidine that allows for prolonged and enhanced local delivery of drug in the

regions of I radiation d; in paticnis with OPC, Validive has been granted fast track designafion in the US,,
orphan drug dc:ugwllun in the EU nﬂd has global intellectual property patent protection through mid-2029 nul
g for patent exfens

In Scptember 2017, we exercised an option to license Validive from Onxeo S.A., the company that developed
Validive through itz Phase 2 clinical tnal, In the completed Phase 2 clinical trial, Validive demonstrated clinically
meaningful cfficacy signals within the 64-patient OPC population randomized to placcho, Validive 50 pg dosce and
Validive 100 pg dosc. The absolute incidence of SOM in OPC patients who reocivied a dose of Validive 100 pg once per
day was reduced by 26.3% (incidence rate of 65.2% in placebo, 45.0% in Validive 50 pg group, and 38.9% in Validive
100 pg group). The median time to onset of SOM was 37 days in the placebo cohort; 43 days in the Validive 50 ug
cohort and no median time of onset was reached in the Validive 100 pg group since fewer than half of this cohort of
patients developed SOM. There was also a 37 8% reduction in the median duration of the SOM for the Validive 100 pg
group versus pliccho (41.0 days placebo group, 34.0 days Validive 50 pg group, and 23,5 days Validive 100 pg group)
in paticnts that developed SOM. Median duration of SOM across all paticnts, inclusive of both those that did and did not
develop SOM, was 17 days in the placcho group and O days in cach of the Validive 50 and 100 pg groups. A positive
dose response was scen in cach of these three climcal endpoints. Additionally, paticnts in the Validive cohorts in the
Phase 2 clinical trial demonstrated a safety profile similar to that of placebo. Onxeo's promising prechinical studies and
Phase 2 clinical trial have informed the design and conduct of what we believe will be an effective Phase 2b/3 and, if
required, second confirmatory Phase 3 clinical program.

In February 2021, we dosed the first patient in our Phase 2b/3 VOICE trial. In August 2021, we successfully
reached our ariginal target of 20 activated clinical trial sites for the Phase 2b portion of the 2b/3 Validive™ VOICE trial,
and in September 2021 we received authorization o proceed with the WVOICE clinical wrial in muhiple countries in
Furope. In 2022, we completed enroliment of the Phase 2b portion of the VOICE trial and commenced enrolling the
Phase 3 portion. As of March 10, 2023, we have &1 clinical sites activated and enrolling patients in the U.S. and Europe.
To be prepared for a positive go/no-go decision based on the interim analysis, anticipated to occur by the end of March
2023, we continue to activate additional sites globally. To complete the VOICE clinical program, including. if required,
completing a sccond Phase 3 confimmatory clinical trial, we will require additional funding in the millions or tens of
millions of dollars (depending on if we have consummated a collaboration or parnership or neither for Validive), which
we are planning to pursue within the next 12 months.

SOM typically arises in the immune tissue at the back of the tongue and throat, which comprise the oropharynx,
and consigis of acule severe tissue damage and pain that prevents patients from swallowing, ealing and drinking. Validive
stimulates the alpha-2 adrenergic receptor (alpha-2AR) on macrophages (white blood cells present in the immune tissues
of the oropharynx) suppressing pro-inflammatory cytokine expression. Validive exerts its effects locally in the oral cavity
and x over a prolonged period of time through its unique MBT formulation. Patients who develop SOM are
aleo at increascd risk of developing late onset toxicities, including trismus (jaw, neck, and throat spasms), dysphagia, and
lung complications, which are often imeversible and lead 10 increased hospitalization and the need for lurther
interventions somelimes vears after completion of CRT. We believe that the prevention of SOM by Validive will have
the potential o reduce treatment discontinuation andfor treatment delays potentially leading o improved survival
oulcomes and reducing or eliminating these long-term morbidities resulting from CRT.

The OPC target population for Validive is the most rapidly growing segment of head and neck cancer (“HNC™)
patients, with an estimated greater than 40,000 new cases of OPC in the ULS alone in 2023. The growth in OPC 15 driven
by the increasing prevalence of oral human papilloma virus (“HPV™) infections in e U.S. and around the world. Despite
the avmlability of a pediatnc/adolescent HPY vaccine, the rate of OPC incwdence i adulis is not anticipated o be
materially reduced for decades due to low adoption of the vaccine to date. As a result, the incidence of HPV-dnven OPC
is projected to increase for years to come and will continue to represent a clinical need for Validive for the prevention of
CRT-induced SOM in paticois with OPC since CRT is the standard of carc treatment, and we anticipate that radiation
will remain an important treatiment modality for these patients for vears to come.

Validive is an MBT of clonidine. The MBT formulation was developed to enhance drug delivery to the oral
mucosa while m:mmmng sysiemic nbsnrﬂmn The Validive tablet is tasteless and odorless and is self-administered once
daily by affixing it 10 the outside of the paticnt's upper gum where it dissolves slowly over a period of scveral hours,
r\esuhins in ke exiended release of clomidine inio the oral cavity and oropharynx, ihe sies of SOM [ollowing CRT for
OPC. Validive treatment begins on the first day of CRT and continue daily through the last day of radiation.

The majority of patients receiving CRT fo treat their OPC develop SOM, which is one of the most common and
devastating side effects of treatment in this indication. We believe Validive has the potential 10 address several critical
clements that affect SOM patients, including:




Reduction in the incidenee of SOM. SOM can increase the nisk of acute and chronic comorbiditics, mcluding
dysphagia, tnismus and lung complications, which are often irreversible and lead to increased hospitalization and
the need for additional mterventions. Ina Phase 2 clinical wial, the OPC patient cohort treated with Validive 100
pg demonstrated a reduction in the absolute incidence of SOM compared to placebo of 26,3% (incidence rate of
65.2% in placebo, 45.0% in Validive 50 pg group, 38.9% in Validive 100 pg group). A reduced incidence of
SOM in OPC patients may bower the nisk of acute and chronic comorbidities, and improve clinical outcomes and
quality of life.

Delay in the time to onset of SOM. SOM can cause cancer treatment delay and/or discontinuation, which
seriously impacts overall survival outcomes. In the Phase 2 clinical tnal, OPC patients had o time (o onsel of
SOM of 37 days in the placebo cohort; 45-day time to onset of SOM in the Validive 50 pg cohort; and a median
time was not reached in the Validive 100 jg group as fewer than half of the patients developed SOM. Prolonging
time to onsct of SOM typically leads to fewer missed CRT treatments, resulting in improved overall survival
outeomes,

Decrease in the duration of SOM. Longer duration of SOM leads to a higher nisk of the need for parenteral
nutntion and lower quality of life. SOM patients experience difficulty or inability to drink and/or cat, and
difficulty in swallowing often results in malnounshment and feeding ube intervention. The Phase 2 clinical trial
data demonstrated a 15, 5-day reduction (by 37.8%) in the duration of SOM for patients ireated with Validive 100
pg (41-day median duration with placebo, 34 days with the Validive 50 pg group, and 255 days for the Validive
100 g group) in patients that developed SOM. Median duration across all patients, inclusive of both those that
did and did not develop SOM, was 17 days in the placcho group and 0 days in cach of the Validive 50 ug and
100 pg groups. Reduced duration of SOM has the capacity to result in lower risk of malnourishment and feeding
tube intervention, and fewer treatment terminations/delays,

While not designed by us, Onxeo’s promising preclinical studies and Phase 2 clinical tnal have informed the
design and conduct of what we believe will be an efTective Phase 2b/3 VOICE clinical trial.

In response 1o COVID-19 and its ¢ffects on clinical wnals, in 2020, we adjusted our clinical development plan
accordingly to {it what is feasible in the current environment. We simplified the design of the previously planned Phase 3
clinical trial for Validive for the prevention of CRT-induced severe oral mugositis in patients with oropharyngeal eancer
("WOICE"), to o seamless Phase 2003 design. This design is based on a binary primary endpoint, incidence of SOM, and
minimizes touch points with the clinical trial sites and patients. Walidive is a once daily self-administered mucoadhesive
tablet which can be taken in the patient’s home sctting. The VOICE wrial (NCTO4648020) is a randomized, placebo-
controlled and double blinded global clinical trial with trial sites in the U5, Spain, France, Germany and Poland, In
2022, we completed enrollment of the Phase 2b portion of the VOICE trial and commenced enrollment in the Phase 3
portion. As of March 10, 2023, we have 81 clinical sites activated and enrolling patients in the U5, and Europe.

The blinded interim analysis of clinical data from the Phase 2b patient cohort of the tral, to be performed by an
independent data monitoning commities, will be used 1o guide us as 1o whether or not to continue enrolling the Phase 3
portion of the trial. This analysis should be completed and reported out by the end of March 2023. To be prepared for a
positive go/no-go decision based on the interim analysis, we continue 1o activate additional sites globally, The entire trial
has been designed to enroll up to 260 evaluable patients. This medification in design allowed us 1o activate and
commence dosing the VOICE nal in early 2021 wathout requining near-term financing. I the interim analysis results in a
no-go decision, we would need 1o reconsider our efforts with respect to Validive and refocus osur development efforis on
our other product candidates Because the interim analysis is beng porformed by an independent data monitoring
committee, we do not know what the results will be as of the date of this Annual Report.

Assuming a positive result of the gono go interim analysis decision anticipated by the end of March 2023, 10
complete the Phase 3 portion of the VOICE clinical program, including, if required, completing a second Phase 3
confirmatory clinical tnal, we will require additional funding in the millions or tens of millions of dollars {depending on
if we have consummated a collaboration or partnership or neither for Validive), which we are planning to pursue within
the next 12 months, Validive has been granied fast track designation in the ULS,, orphan drug designation in the EL, and
has global imtellectual property patent protection through mid-2029 not accounting for possible patent extensions.

Validive US. Market Oppovrinin:

The medence of HNC {all anatomical types, includmg larynx, oral cavity, oropharynx, ete.) in the U8, was
estimuted to be approximately 65,630 cases in 2020 (Amenican Society of Clinical Oncology, cancer.net), The most
rapidly growing type of HNC is OPC. The oropharynx is comprised largely of immune tissue and includes the sofi
palate, the base (rear one third) of the tongue, and the tensils. In the US., the incidence of OPC is estimated ro be greater
than 40,000 cases in 2023, The majority of these OPC patients {approximately 70%) are human papilloma virus positive
(“HPV+"). The incidence of OPC iz also increasing in the rest of the world (>30% of HNC), with =50% of all OPC being
HPV+. While cenain types of HNC have been in decline in the ULS., such as laryngeal cancer as a result of a reduction in




the smoking population, the tofal incidence of HNC has been growing steadily primarily due to OPC. The increase in
OPC 15 dircetly associated with inereased infiection with the human papilloma vires, The incidence of HPV+ OPC has
outpaced the incidence of HPV- HNC by 4-5-fold over the past decade. This trend of HPV+ OPC driving an increase in
overall HNC is expected to continue for some time as the relatively recent introduction of a vaccine designed to prevent
the transfer and colonization with HPV is enly effective if administered prior to infection, and until October 2018, it was
only recommended for those under the age of 26 {newer U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA™) guidelines include
those up to age 45). Even for those under the age of 26 who arc cligible for the vaccine, oral HPV infections are
predicted to increase due to the lack of adequate use of HPV vaccinations. Approximately 50% of eligible females and
33% of cligible males are presently being vaccinated.

Mast OPC is caused by the HPV 16 strain, with virus detectable in the tumor. More than 3% of adult men and 1%
of adult woman have HPV 16 detectable in their saliva at any one time. The virus is transmitted through sexual contact
and CDC estimates 10%% of men and 3.6% of women in the US, have an active oral HPV infection. The latency peried
for that proportion that do go on to develop HPV+ OPC is 15-20+ years. This HPV+ OPC population is expected to be a
long-term driver of the incidence of OPC, and the resultant SOM associated with what is frequently curative therapy for
this serious malignancy.

In previous studies describing SOM in OPC patients receiving the CRT regimen we are using in our VOICE
clinical program, patients had a SOM incidence rate of 55-90% across studies. In the Validive Phase 2 trial, the incidence
of SOM in OPC patients receiving placebo was 65.2% (see “Validive Phase 2 Clinical Trial Data™ section below).
Currenily there is no way to predict which patients will develop SOM, so any active preventive ireatment for SOM will
likely be used in most OPC patienis receiving CRT. With the consistenily growing incidence of OPC as a result of the
human papillomavims, there is the potential for a substantiol and growing marker for Validive,

Valtdive Mechanism af Action

Validive is designed 1o deliver high local concentrations of cloniding, an agonist of alpha-2AR, 1o the oral cavity
and oropharynx, the site of iradiation in the treatment of OPC. In the oropharynx, alpha-2AR is expressed on
macrophages, immune cells that produce inflammatory cytokines, the molecules that are responsible for the development
of SOM, in response o CRT. Several published clinical reponts have demonstruted that chemoradiation: treatment
substantially increased salivary cylokine levels and a recent study demonsirated that these were positively associated
with the formation of SOM in patients with head and neck cancer. Patients with HPV+ OPC demonstrate an increased
accumulation of macrophages in the wmor microenvironment compared to paticnts with OPC that were negative for
human papilloma virus (“HPV-"), thus further priming HPV+ OPC patients for the development of SOM. The alpha-
ZAR regulates the expression of cytokines by macrophages. and clonidine reduces this cviokine production.
Macrophages arc the primary immune cells in the oropharyny that express alpha-2AR, making clonidine’s mechanism of
cylokine suppression macrophage selective and distinet from the mechanism of other anti-inflammatory drugs Further,
Validive delivers cloniding to the mucosal surface, the site most affected by chemoradiation ireatment in OPC. This
results in high salivary concentrations of clomdine, mimmizing systemic absorption, and allowing for maximal exposure
the at-risk oral mucosa and the OPC microenvironment to drug. Preclinical studies and a Phase 2 clinical trial of Validive
have provided data that suppont Validive's mechanism of action and therapeutic potential for reducing the incidence of
SOM in patients with OPC, improving oral mucositis-related symptoms, and decreasing CRT-related adverse events,
while exhibiting a favorable safety profile and high compliance rate in patients.

Valtdive Phaze 2 Clinical Trial Data

In October 2015, the results from an international Phase 2 climcal tnal of Validive were announced,
demonsirating pmdmsmg signs of clinical ac:mly and safety compared to placebo, The tral enrolled 183 HNC patients
and was conducted in more than thinty centers in Europe and the United States. Patienis who had undergone surgical
resection of their head and neck cancer with curative intent and who were planned 1o receive at least 50 Gray (Gy) of
radiation in combination with chemotherapy, regandless of anatomical location of discase, were included in this study.
This global, multi-center, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled. three-arm study (NCT01385748) compared the
efficacy and safety of Validive 50 pg and 100 pg to placcho in patients with HNC receiving CRT. OFf the 183 HNC
patients, 64 had OPC (placebo = 24, Validive 50 pg = 21, Validive 100 pg = 19). Validive and placcbo were
administered once daily beginning 1 to 3 days prior to CRT and comtinuing until the ¢nd of chemoradiation.

We believe the Phase 2 clinical tnal data support the development of Validive for the prevention of SOM in OPC
patients. The analysis of OPC patients in this study showed:

o The incidence of SOM (primary endpoint) was reduced by 26.3% (40% relative to placebo) in OPC
patients treated with Validive 100 pg (p=0.09, a meamngful trend but not statistically sigmficant). 65.2% of
OPC patients on placebo experienced SOM compared 10 only 38.9% of OPC patients on Validive 100 g,




w Incidence of SOM in OPC Patients
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Validive has demonstrated reduced incidence of SOM in a Phase 2 clinical trial (p=0.09)

®  Patients on Validive experienced a delay in the time to onset of SOM. Patients receiving placcho
experienced a median time to onset of SOM of 37 days: patients receiving Validive (530 pg one per day)
experienced a 45-day median time to onset of SOM; and patients receiving Validive (100 pg once per day)
did not reach a median time o onset. A comparison of hazards for time 1o onset demonstrated that patients
that received Validive 100 ug had a hazard ratio (HR)=0.48 compared to placebo,

s  Patenis receiving Validive expenienced a decrease in the median durstion of SOM. In patients that
developed S0M, a 15 S-day reduction (by 37 8%) in the median duration of SOM was observed in patients
treated with Validive 100 pg (41-day median duration with placcbo, 34 days in the Validive 50 pg group,
and 25.5 days in the Validive 100 pg group). Median duration across all patients, inclusive of both those
that did and did not develop SOM, was 17 davs in the placebo group and 0 days in each of the Validive 50

and 100 pg groups,
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Validive decreased duration of SOM in a Phase 2 clinical trial

& Severe drinking, cating, and speaking limitations due to mouth and throat soreness (“MTS") score were
also reduced in the Validive 100 pg treated cohort.

*  lmprovements in other indicators of clinical benefit, including decreased weight loss, decreased opiate use
and increased cumulative dose of radiation received, strongly favored the Validive 100 pg reated group,

® A dose response was observed with the Validive 100 pg dose, demonstrating o trend toward superionity
over the Validive 50 pg dose as well as placebo. Individual patient-level data supports advancing the
Validive 100 pg dose into Phase 2b/3,




Individual Patient Data Showing Incidence, Time to Onset, and Duration of SOM in OFC patients
Treated with Placeho and Two Different Doses of Validive (50 and 100 pg/day)
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For the full 183-patient Phase 2 population, which included various types of head and neck cancer such as oral
and laryngeal cancer in addition to OPC, the incidence of SOM was lower in paticnts treated with Validive (45.3% when
the 50 and 100 pg dosc groups were pooled together) than in patients receiving placebo (60.0%) (p = 0.064),
Additionally. Validive was viery well tolerated. with the occurrence of adverse events of any type or grade being similar
between placebo and Validive treated proups. Patients treated with Validive expenienced less nausea and dysphagia
compared to placebo. No clinically meaningful decreases in systolic blood pressure or diastolic blood pressure were
noted between the placebo and Validive arms. There was no statistical difference in the number of patients having
expericnced at least one treatment emergent adverse event related to the study treatment between placebo and Validive as
summarnized in the table below. Two patients in the placcho group and 2 panients in the Validive 50 pg group experienced
# serious treatment-emergent adverse event (“STEAE”). No STEAEs were observed in the Validive 100 pg cohon. No
paticnts in the Validive-treated cohorts were discontinued due 1o study drug. The 2-vear survival rate was not statistically
different between patients treated with placebo and Validive indicating that Validive did not interfere with primsary
discase treatment,




All Serious Treatment-Emergent Adverse Events Related to Study Drug

System Grgan Preferred | Placebo | Clonidine MBY 50ug | Clondine MBT 100w
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MBT= nuwcoadhesive buccal tablet; n=mumber of patients studied

The mean overall patient compliance as assessed by the investigators was approximately 907, and similar across
all treatment groups. Overall compliance according o patient diaries was also similar in all treatment groups and
consistent with the compliance according 1o the investigator's evaluation. The mean incidence of swallowing the MBT
was low (4.7%) for all patients based on 7,366 daily MBT applications across all ircalment groups.

Cur review of the Phase 2 clinical trial data suggests that the effect of Validive was much greater in OPC
compared 10 non-OPC patients. We believe the Phase 2 data along with the mechanism of action of Validive provide a
rationale for developing Validive for the tr of chemoradiation induced SOM in OPC patients as a first indication,
The most rapidly growing sub-population of HNC in the U.S. and Europe is OPC, largely drniven by HPV+ discase, The

is the part of the throat at the back of the mouth, which includes the soft palate, the base (rear one third) of
the tongue, and the tonsils, HPV+ OPC is a molecularly defined population of HNC ch ized by the expression of a
protein biomarker, plé INK4a, and the presence of HPV DNA in the wmor, Evaluation of HPV status is pant of the
routing clinical assessment of patients wath OPC prier to inihiating trealment.

Verltdive Phase | Clinical Trial Data

A Phase | chincal trnial in 36 healthy volunieers companing the pharmacokinetics of the systemic (oral tablet)
clonidine HC1 with clonidine MBT (local and sustained delivery of clonidine to oral mucosa and oropharynx - Validive's
formulation) was completed, This was a single-center. Phase 1, single-blind randomized, three-period. three-sequence,
single-dose crossover study was conducted between August and Novenber 200 5. Healthy volunteers receiving Validive
had far less systemic exposure to clonidine with the 50 pg and 100 pg clonidine MBTs (Validive) versus 100 pg
clomidine HCI tablets (swallowed oral tablet). In contrast, levels of clonidine in saliva in volunteers receiving a single
dose of 50 pg and 100 pg clonidine MBT (Validive) was much greater than saliva levels in volunteers receiving a single
dose of 100 pg cloniding HCI tablets. Additionally, no significant effects on blood pressure were observed with the
clonidine MBTs (Validive). Blood pressure effects were tested because clonidine is known 1o lower blood pressure when
dbsorbed systemically, These results are consistent with the expectation that the MBT formulation (Validive) is designed
ta release cloniding in the oral cavity and oropharynx, as opposed to distributed systemically.

Flasma Conconiraiien Salive Cosprairatoe
an © 0
Mgt — g
L — g = g bl

e L




Both Validive 50 pg and 100 pg showed high salivary exposure (as seen above), with low systematic and blood
pressure effect {as seen below):
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Validive Preclinical Data

The anti-inflammatory properites of clonidine were studsed in a human oral muecosa organotypic culiure model,
as pro-inflammatory cyiokines are believed 1o dive the development of SOM. Samples of healthy non-keratinized
human oral mecoss were obtained from patients undergoing surgery. The experimental oral mucosa pro-inflammatory
process was mediated by the addition of neuropeptide substance P (“SP”) to the culture medium. The addition of SP an
human gingiva induced a significan! incrcase in TNF-alpha, an important pro-inflammatory molecule involved

mucosilis pathogenesis. Overall, on human gingiva
production was observed with clonidine, which was statistically significant at 3 pg/ml cloniding; see below:

Clonidine Inhibits the Production of Pro-Inflammatery Cytokine Release from Oral Tissue
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imulated by SP, a concentration dependent decrease in TNF-alpha



Camsirubicin (5-imino-13-deoxydoxorabicing formerly MNPR-201, GPX-150)

Our second product candidate, camsirubicin, is a novel analog of doxorubicin which has been designed to reduce
the cardiotoxic side cffects generated by doxorubicin while retaining anti-cancer activity. A Phase 2 clinical wial for
camsirubicin has been completed in patients with advanced (e.g., unreseclable or metastatic) sofl tssue sarcoma
{“ASTS"). Average life expectancy for these patients 15 12-15 months. In this study, 52.6% of patients evaluable for
tumor progression demonstrated clinical benefit (partial response or stable discase), which was proportional to dose and
consistently observed at higher cumulative doses of camsirubicin (> 1000 mg/m®). Camsirubicin was very well tolerated
i this study and underscored the ability to potentially administer camsirubicin without restriction of cumulative dose in
patients with ASTS. Although doxorubicin has been the standard of care treatment for ASTS for over 40 wears,
doxorubicin is limited 1o a lifetime cumulative dose maximum of 450 mgim®. Even if a patient is responding to
doxorubicin, their treatment is discontinued once this lifetime cunmulative dose has been reached.

Camsirubicin is & proprictary doxorubicin analog that is selective for topoisomerase -alpha. Doxorubicin is
used to treat adult and pediatric solid and blood (hematologic) canvers, incheding soft tissue sarcomas, breast, gastrc,
ovarian and bladder cancers, leukemias and lymphomas. Despite clinical studics demonstrating the anti-cancer benefit of
higher cumulative doses of doxorubicin, the clinical efficacy of doxorubicin has historically been limited by the risk of
patients developing irmeversible, potentially life-threatening cardiotoxicity, For example, several clinical studies
completed in the 1990 demonstrated that concurrent doxorubicin (60 mg/m’, § cycles) and paclitaxel gave a 94% overall
response rate in patients with metastatic breast cancer but led to 18% of these patients developing congestive heart
failure, Reduction of doxorubicin o 4-6 cyeles of treatment decreased the incidence of congestive heart failure, but also
reduced response rates (o 45-535%. In & chinical study looking al dose response, sarcoma patients on the high dose (75
mg/m?®) doxorubicin had a response rate of 37% compared 10 just 18% in the low dose (45 mg/m®) doxorubicin group.
With the cumulative dose restriction on doxorubicin, the median progression free survival for ASTS patients is
approxinately 6 months, with median overall servival of 12-15 months. There iz a significant unmet opportunity to
develop a replacement for doxermbicin that can be dosed higher and for longer to improve anti-temor activity

Camsirubicin has been engineered specifically to retain the anticancer activity of doxomubicin while minimizing
its toxic effects on the heart. Similar to doxorubicin, the antitumor effects of camsirubicin are mediated through the
stabilization of the twpoisomerase 1l complex after a DNA strand break and DNA mtercalation leading to umor cell
apoptosis {cell death). Inhibiting the topoisomerase [1-alpha isoform is desired for the anti-cancer effect, while inhibiting
the topaizomerase 11-beta isoform has been demonstrated 10 mediate, at least in part, the cardictoxicity associated with all
anthracycline drupgs curmently used in the clinic, Camsirubicin is substantially more selective than doxorubicin for
inhibiting topoisomerase ll-alpha versus topoisomerase [l-beta. This selectivity may partly explain the minimal
cardiotoxicity that has been observied for camsirubicin in preclinical and clinical studics fo date. We believe that these
atinbutes provide a strong rationale for developing camsirubicin as a monotherapy as well as in combination with other
anticancer agents, withowt potential restrictions on cumulative dose, and offer the opportunity w pursue a large market
opportunity for camsirubicin in a broad spectrum of cancer types.

Based on the encouraging clinical results 10 date, in September 2021, we commenced an open-label, Phase 1h
dose escalation tral of camsirubicin plus growth factor support (pegfilgrastim/G-CSF) in the LS. as first-line treatment
for patients with ASTS, The aim 15 to administer camsirubicin without restricting cumulative dose, thereby potentially
improving cificacy by keeping patienis who are responding on treatment. These are patients who are not candidates for
surgery or radiation treatment, and are largely made up of patients with metastatic disease. Doxorubicin i3 the curremt
standard of carc in the first-line sctting for these patients. Although this Phase 1b is designed 1o determine the maximum
tolerated dose of camsinebicin, given the historical dose-dependent anti-lumor resg repeatedly demonstrated with
doxorubicin, efficacy measurements are being tracked in these patients as the dose is increased. In November 2021, the
first dose level of camsirubicin had been completed, with a positive recommendation from the trial safety review
commitiee io proceed to the next higher dose level. We are presently enrolling patienis at the fifth dose level. The fifth
dose level is over twice the highest dose reached in any prior camsirubicin clinical trial (650 mg/m” versus 268 mg/m®)
and no drug-related cardiotoxicity has been observed to date up to the curmment dose-level. The open-label Phase Ib

irubicin dose-cscalation trial is planning to enroll additional cohorts until the maximum tolerable dose is reached. In
November 2022, we presented an abstract and poster of the Phase 1b clinical trial data &t the Connective Tissue
Omncology Society Annual Meeting in Vancouver, BC.

We currently anticipate topline resulis in the camsirubicin Phase Ib clinical trial by the end of 2023 and believe
we have sufficient funds to sdvance the trial through that date. However, if camsirubicin reaches higher dose levels than
we are anticipating, the Phase 1b clinical trial may stll be dosing patients beyond the end of 2023 and topline results may
be deferred. Although we would likely consider this a positive development, it is possible that we would require
additional funding 1o complete an extended Phase 1b clinical ral in this situation. Regardless, additional funding s
expected 10 be required 1o suppon further development through and beyond our ongoing Phase 1b clinical trial.




In June 2009, we entered into a clinical collsboration with Grupo Espafiol de Investigacidn en Sarcomas
(“GEIS"). GEIS is an mierationally renowned non-profit organization focused on the rescarch, development and
management of clinical trials for sarcoma, that has worked with many of the leading biotech and global pharmaceutical
companics, Following completion of our Phase 1h clinical mial, we continue to expect that GEIS will sponsor and lead a
muli-country, randomized, open-label Phase 2 clinical tral evaluating camsirubicin head-to-head against doxorubicin,
the cumrent first-line treatment for ASTS. The Phase 2 clinical trial is estimated to enroll 170 ASTS patients with the
primary endpoint of the trial being progression-free sunvival, with secondary endpeints including response rate, overall
survival and incidence of reatment-emergent adverse events. We will provide study dmg to GEIS and supplemenial
financial support for the clinical tmal. In addition to camsirubicin’s orphan drug designation in the ULS. by the FIDA, the
European Commission also granted orphan drug designation for camsirubicin for the treatment of sofi tissue sarcoma in
the ELY in November 2019,

Camsirubicin US. Market Opportunity

Camsirubicin is an analog of doxorubicin, the first anthracyeline to gain FDA approval. Anthracyclines are a
class of drugs that arc among the most commonly used agents in the treatment of cancer. They have demonstrated
efficacy in a wide varicty of cancers, including oft tissue sarcoma, breast cancer, lung cancer, ovarian cancer, and
lymphomas, among other types. Although doxorubicin was approved decades ago, it is sl widely used. According to
OY Research, in 2020 the global doxorsbicin market was §1.1836 billion, and expected to grow at a 7.7% compounded
annual growth rate, with projections surpassing $1.8 billion by 2026, According to IQVIA, in 2015 the European Union
had over 270 million in sales between doxorubicin HCT and liposemal dexorubicin, Liposomal versions of doxorubicin
{e.g.. Doxil®) demonstrated that a different formulation of doxerubicin with improved clinical benelits can command a
significantly higher price premium compared to generic doxorubicin HCL

The market opportunity for the first indication, ASTS, is anticipated to be substantial. In 2020, there were an
estimated 13,130 new cases of sofl tissue sarcoma (STS) in the ULS,, and approximately 5,350 deaths from STS, mainly
from metastatic disease. Additionally, a few years ago a PDGFR-targeted antibody (olaratumab) was granted accelerated
approval based on data from an open label Phase 2 trial. In 2019, the olaratumab Phase 3 trial as first line for advanced
soft tissue sarcoma came back negative, resulting in the drug being pulled from the market. Olaratumab had jusi
completed its second full year on the market i the U.S. and abroad before being pulled, reaching over $304 million in
sales in 2018, demonstrating the large unmet medical need and considerable market opportunity in ASTS.

Camsirubicin Clinical Data
Several clinical studies of camsirubicin have been completed,

In October 2003, a Phase | dose escalation study conducted at the University of lowa completed enrollment of
24 paticnts who reecived one of cight different dose levels of camsirubicin ranging from 14 10 265 mg/m’. No cvidence
of ireversible cardiotoxicity was observed in any of these patients, including 4 patients who received prior anthracyeline
{doxorubicin or related molecules) treament. Stable discase was observed in $5.0% of patients in this Phase | study,
including 3 out of 4 patients with leiomvosarcoma, which is a tvpe of sofl tissie sarcoma that originates 1n connective
tissue and smoath muscle most commonly i the uterus, stomach and small intesting, No growih factor support (G-C5F)
was given o patients, and the limiting toxicity was noutropenia,

In January 2015, a multi-center open label single arm Phase 2 clinical trial was initiated in doxorubicin-naive
patients with ASTS. This Phase 2 clinical irial enrolled 22 patients and was completed in August 2016, Camsinibicin was
administered intravenously at 265 mg/m® every 3 weeks for up to 16 doses, with all patients being given growth factor
support, and there was clear mdication of anticancer activity at this well-tolerated dose and schedule. The majonity of
patients {32.0%) evaluable for tumor progression demonstrated clinical benefit (stable disease or partial response), which
was proportional 1o dose and consistently observed ot higher cumulative doses of camsirubicin (=1000 mg/'m’), The

ion-free survival at 6 months was 38%, higher than the 6-month PFS of dexorubicin in three of the more recent
studies, which showed 23%, 25%. and 33% 6-month PFS for dexorubicin. Camsirubicin was very well tolerated in this
study and underscored the potential ability to administer camsirabicin without restriction for cumulative dose in patients
with ASTS. Under compassionale use access, one patient received 20 cyeles of camsirubicin {cumulative dose 5,300
mg/m’). Apart from onc paticnt who developed febrile newtropenia and severe leukopenia, there were no grade 4
toxicitics reported and no grade 3 side effects other than anemia, A transient decrease in left veniricular ejection fraction
(“LVEF") was observed in four patients treated with camsirubicin. These decreases in LVEF in camsirubicin treated
patienits were nol serious adverse events and were transient, with LVEF subsequently retumming to normal levels in all
four subjects. Despite some subjects in this study receiving camsirubicin for up o 20 cycles, effects on cardiac function
were of no clinical significance and there was no evidence of immeversible heant failure in any subject.




Camsirubicin Preclinical Data

In preclinical studies, camsirabicin showed a lack of acuie as well as chronic functional cardiotoxicity and did
not cause the cardiac histopathologic lesions observed with doxorubicin in a chronic rabbit model. Below is én vitre data
showing the lack of aliered contractility with acute exposure of rabbit atria 1o camsirubicin, even al high concentralions:

Camsirubicin Cardiac Contractility
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Camsirubicin demonstrated limited effect on cardiac contractility, in-line with control

Chronic [V administration of camsirubicin two times per week into rbbits over the course of 13 wecks also
showed a lack of cardiotoxicity of camsirubicin when compared o doxorubicin (“DOX™). Echocardiography was
performed weekly to obtain left ventricular fractional shortening (“LVFS") measurements (o assess cardiac function. Al
sacrifice, all six doxorubicin-treated rabbits showed cardiac dysfunction by echocardiography, and LVFS was
significantly different from control values (p<0.001), In contrast, none of the camsirubicin-treated rabbits exhibited
cardine dysfunction by echocardiography ot any time during the study. Below is a graph of the results:

Weekly Cardiac Echoes
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None of the camsirubicin ireated rabbits showed significant cardiac dvsfunciion compared (o the vehicle control.

At the conclusion of the 13 weeks of drug dosing, the rabbits were sacrificed, and the left atria were studicd 10
assess cardiac function ex vive, Atna from the doxorubicin-treated rabbits had impaired cardiac tility (dF/dt)
compared to controls over the entire force-frequency range (1, 2 and 3 Hz). Cardiac contractility for the camsirubicin
treated cohort was not significantly different than the vehicle control. Below is a graph of the results:




Camsirubicin Cardiac Contractility
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Cardiac contractility (dF/dt) of isolated atria at the three contraction rates (1, 2, and 3 contractions/sec) obtained
from rabbits chronically infused with elther dosorubicin, camsirubicin or saline vehicle (control).

Values are mean, error bars are standard error of the mean (SEM). Camsirabicin demonstrated limited effect on
cardiac contractility, in-line with placebo.

Frnally, cardinse scoring of the left ventricle walls obtined from the rabbits in this study by a histopathologist
showed increased microscopic injury in heants from dexorubicin-treated rabbits compared to heans from rabbits
adminiztered the vehicle comrol. Heart tissues from camsirubicin-treated rabbits were the same as the vehicle controls,

MNPR-101 for Radiopharmacentical Use

Crur third program 15 based on MNPR-101 (formerly huATN-658), a novel first-in-class humanized monoclonal
antibady 1o the urokinase plasminogen activator receptor (“uPAR”), for its use as a radiopharmaceutical in advanced
cancers. uPAR is highly expressed in tumors while healthy tissuc rurcly, if ever, cxpresses uPAR. The expression of
uPAR on discased cells and tissues allows for selective targeting of MNPR-101, which may be modified to carry imaging
and therapeutic payvloads.

MNPR-101 represents a novel approach for drug targeting of uPAR as it does not interfere with normal binding
of uPA to uPAR. It instead blocks the CD11b (alpha-M-uPAR interaction. MNPR-101 is on its own believed to have
potential activity against many different cancer types because it

® s selectively expressed on metastatic tumor, tumar-associated immune, and angiogenic endothelial cclls,

bul pot on most nommal cells, Several Phase | positron emission wmography (“PET”) imaging studics in
human advanced cancer paticnts show that uPAR can only be detected in the tumor and not in normal
tissanes;

® s central to several extracellular and intracellular oncogenic pathways required for metastasis (inhibiting

the uPA system in tumn inhibits many other downstream targets, such as MAPK. AKT, MEK, and FAK,
that are currently being targeted by other companies):

®  is cxpressed on immune cells that allow the tumor to evade recognition by the immune system;
e mediates antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC): and

®  has the potential 1o mierfere at several different signaling pathways that converge at uPAR.

Based upon the anticipated non-overlapping toxicity and distinct mechanism of action, we believe MNFR-101
has the potential to be used in combination with ¢xisting cancer therapies. The selective expression of uPAR in tumors
underpins our expectation that MNPR-101 will be well-tolerated and amenable 10 a4 radiopharmaceutical treatment
approach.

MNPR-10]-2Zr ax a Potential fnaging Agent
MNPR-101-Zr is being developed as an imaging agent for the diagnosis and surveillance of multiple cancer
types. In February 2023, we announced thal based on promising recently generated preclinical imaging resuliz with

MNPR-101-Zr showing high uptake across multiple cancer types, we and WorthStar were committing to additional
funding with the aim of mitiating a first-in-human imaging stody with MNPR-101-Zr as carly as the end of this vear,
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MNPR-101-Zr is a zirconium-89 labeled version of MNPR-101. Positron emission tomography (“PET”)
imaging of preclinical mouse models for triple-neganive breast, colorectal, and pancreatic tumors displayed high and
selective uptake of MNPR-101-Zr in these uPAR-expressing tumors.

These preof-of-concepl studies provide suppon for a first-in-human PET imaging stody with MNPR-101-Zr and
a future therapeutic study using actinium-223 labeled mdivimmunotherapeutic version of MNPR-101. Overall, the
imaging resulis demonstrate the potential utility of MNPR-101 as a precision targeting agent for both imaging and
therapy in multiple cancer indications.

MNPR-10I RIT

Also pursuant to our collabomation with NorthStar, we continue to develop polential radioimmunotherapetitics
{“RITs”) hased on MNPR-101. Our collaboration combines NorthStar's expertise in the innovative production, supply,
and distribution of important medical radioisotopes with our expertise in therapeutic drug development, NorthStar and
we have filed provisional composition of matter patents covening the actinium-based radioph ical drug lidate
(MNPR-101-PCTA-Ac-225). We are currently evaluating pathways to initiating a first-in-human study with this drug
candidate,

MNPR-202 and Refated Analogs

In June 2021, we eniered into a collaboration agreement with the Cancer Science Instilute of Singapore (“CSI
Singapore™), one of Asia’s premier cancer research centers, ai the National University of Singapore (“MUS")
(consistently ranked as one of the world's top universities) to evaluate the activity of MNPR-202 and related analogs in
multiple types of cancer. MNPR-202 was designed to retain the same potentially non-cardiotoxic backbone as
camsirubicin but is modified at other positions which may enable it to work in cenain cancers that are resistant to
camsirubicin and doxorubicin, In December 2020, we announced the issuance of our composition of malter ULS. patent
(US10,430,340) covering MNPR-202 and related analogs. CS1 Singapore has tested MNPR-202 in preclinical cancer
models with promising resulis and s currently conducting additional preclinical studics with MNPR-202. In December
2022, in collaboration with Dr. Anand Jevasckharan of CSI Singapore, we presented an abstract and poster of the
preclinical data of MNPR-202 at the American Society of Hematology 64th Annual Mecting in New Orleans, LA,

License, Development and Collaboration Agreements
Onxeo S.A.

In June 2016, we cxecuted an agreement with Onxeo S.A. a French public company, which gave us the
exclusive option to license (on a world-wide exclusive basis) Validive (clonidine hydrocholonde mucobuccal tabler;
clonidine HCT MBT) a mucoadhesive tablet of clonidine based on the Lauriad mucomdhesive technology, The agreement
includes clinical, regulatory, developmental and sales milestones that could reach up to $108 million if we achieve all
milestones, and escalating rovalties from 3% to 10% on net sales. Tn September 2017, we exercised the option to license
Validive from Onxeo for 1 million, but as of March 10, 2023, we have not been required to pay Onxeo any other funds
under the agreement. We will need to rame significant funds or enter into a collaboration parinership 1o support the
completion of clinical development and potential marketing approval of Validive.

Under the agreement, we are required to pay royalties to Onxeo on a product-by-product and country-by-country
basis until the later of (1) the date when a given product is no longer within the scope of a patent claim in the country of
sale or manufacture, (2) the expiry of any extended exclusivity period in the relevant country (such as orphan drug
exclusivity, pediatric exclusivity, new chemical entity exclusivity, or other exclusivity granted beyond the expiry of the
relevant patent), or (3} a specific time period after the first commercial sale of the product in such country, Tn most
countnes, including the US,, the patent term 15 generally 20 years from the carhiest clammed filing date of a non-
provisional patent application in the applicable country, not taking into consideration any potential patemt term
adjustment that may be filed in the future or any regulatory extensions that may be obtained. The royalty termination
provision pursuant to (3) described above is shorter than 20 years and is the least likely cause of termination of royalty
payments,

The Onxeo license agreement does not have a pre-determined term, bui expires on a product-by-product and
country-by-country basis; thal is, the agreemeni expires with respect to a given product in a given country whenever our
rovalty payment ohligations with respect to such product have expired. The agreement may also be terminated carly for
cause if ither we or Onxeo materially breach the agreement, or if cither we or Onxeo become insolvent. We may also
choose 1o temmunate the agreement, either in its entirety or as to a certain product and a certain country, by providing
Omxeo with advance notice.




Grupo Espaiol de Investigacion en Sarcamas (“GEIS")

In June 2019, we executed a clinical collaboration with GEIS for the development of camsirubicin in patients
with ASTS. Following completion of the Phase |b clinical trial in the ULS, that we inttisted in the third quarter of 2021
with the first patient desed in October 2021, we continue to expect that GEIS will sponsor and lead a multi-country,
randomized, open-label Phase 2 clinical trial to evaluate camsinubicin head-to-head agamnst doxorubicin, the current first-
line treaiment for ASTS. We will ide study drug and supplemental financial support for the clinical inal. =For the
three months ended March 31, 2021, we incurred 303 million in expenses related o the GEIS collaboration including
clinical material rmnuﬁu:h.u'ing—mlalcd expense, clinical consulting, database management expenscs and intellectual
property expenses. W can terminate the agreement by providing GEIS with advance notice, and without affecting our
rights and ownership to any related mtellectual property or clinical data. In the second quarter of 2021, due o regulatory
delays in Spain, we decided 10 conduct an open-label Phase 1b clinical trial of camsirubicin in the U5, therefore no
expenses were incumed related 1o the GEIS collaboration beyond March 31, 2021,

XOMA Lid.

To humanize our MNPR-101 antibody, we have taken a non-exclusive license to XOMA (US) LLC's
humanization technology and know-how, Humanization involves replacing most of the non-critical parts of the mouse
soquence of an antibody with the human sequence to minimize the ability of the human immune sysiem o recognize this
antibody as forcign, As such, MNPR-101 has been engineered to be 95% human sequence using the XOMA technolegy.
Under the terms of the license, we are to pay only upon developmental and sales milestone achicvements which could
reach up to $14.925 mallion if we achieve all milestones. The agreement does nol require the payment of sales royaliies.
There can be no assurance that we will reach any milestones, As of March 10, 2023, we had not reached any milestones
and had not been required to pay XOMA Lid. any funds under this license agreement. The first milesione payment is
payable upon first dosing of a human patient in a Phase 2 clinical wrial.

Intellectual Property Portfolio and Exclusivity

An important part of our strategy is obtaining patent protection to help preserve the proprictary nature of our
product candidates, and to prevent others from developing competitive agents that are similar. Our patent portiolio
ncludes issued patents and pending patent applications in the LS, and in forcign countrics. Our gencral practice is to
sock patent profection in major markets worldwide,

Validive

We license all mbrﬁc:tual pmpcﬂy related (o Validive from Onxeo S.A. o French public company, Sce
“Business - License, Develop Ilab Agreements™. Validive is covered by 37 issued patents in 31
Jurisdictions, including the ULS,, EL, .hpm and other Asian counirics, and has orphan drug designation in the EL as well
as Fast Track designation frnrn the FDA. These patents are method of use patents that cover the use of Validive 1o
prevent and'or wreat inflammation and inflammatory pain of the mucosa including cancer therapy-induced mucositis; the
use of clonidine or clonidine derivatives for the prevention or treatreent of adverse side effects of chemotherapy; and
clonidine andor clonidine derivatives for use in the prevention of skin injury resulting from radiotherapy, and have been
assigned o us pursuant 1o our license agreement with Onxeo. The latest patent expires in 2035 not accounting for
passible extensions.

In November 2020, we announced a series of recently issued patents for Validive (clonidine HCI mucobuccal
tablet). These patents, including US, Patent No. 10,675,271, provide claims covenng “Clonidine andior clonidine
derivatives for use in the prevention and/or treatment of adverse side effects of chemotherapy™, These patents expand the
potential use of Validive in cancer patients, beyond the carlier allowed claims for the prevention of oral mucesitis in
patients recciving CRT, Specifically, they provide protection for the potential ability of Validive 1o prevemt or treat
common chemotherapy-associated side effects such as asthenia and fatigue and would provide profection should we
determine in the future 1o conduct additional Validive development activities related 10 adverse side effects of
chemotherapy beyond oropharyngeal cancer.

Camsirubicin

Camsirubicin {GPX-150) is covered by mmu[nclunng process patents. We have a patent for chemical synthesis
techmology that efficiently cum'LrIa. nld.mwmc 13-keto™ anthracyclines such as doxorubicin, daunorubicin, eprubicin,
and idarubicin into novel, le, and maost ||i:t:|3r less-cardiotoxic “S-imino-13-deoxy™ un:lugs A novel chemical
composition of an inte hate for ﬂm synthesis is also patented. In mﬁlmnn, we have a patent covering the combination
of camsirubicin with paclitaxcl for the trestment of cancer, plus cm'enng the method of use of these two drugs for this
purpose, Our camsirubicin patent p-urlfnim contains cight issued U5, 'né:au {two of which have expired) one U5,
pending patent application. We have cenain cwrrspondlng patents applications in \wenty-nine foreign jurisdictions,
including the U.S., EU, Japan, and other Asian couniries. The process patents for the synihesis of camsirubicin
intermeediates will expire in 2024 and the patents covering the combination use of hicin and its analogs with
taxanes will expire in 2026 The patent covening novel, potentially more potent analogs of camsirubicin expires in 2038,
We may pursue patenl lerm ¢ where appropriate. We have d patent protection around the intermediales
and process used 1o manufaciure camsirubicin and we expect o obiain Haich-Waxman exclusivity (applicable 1o new
chemical entities) for 5 vears that will prevent generic competition. We have also obtained U5, and EU orphan drug
status in soft fasue surcoma with additional orphan cancer indications expeeted to follow,
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In December 2020, we announced the sswance of a ULS, patent (US 10,450,340) covering compositions of
matter {2-pymilino camsirubicin) for a novel family of camsirubicin analogs. This patent, which expands the Company’s
camsirubicin intellectual property portfolio, is expected 10 expire in 2038 not including any patent term extensions, The
patent broadens our camsirubicin porifolio and creates a pipeline that has been designed to retain the potentially
favorable non-cardiotoxic chemical backbone of camsirubicin and the potent broad-spectrum anlitumor activity of
doxorubicin. Further, preclinical evidence suggests that this new family of 2-pymiling camsimsbicin analogs could be
active in doxorubicin-resisiant tumor cells which may enable use in cancer types bevond those possible with
camsirubicimn.

MNPR-107

Chur patent portfolio for our MNPR-101 antibody (huATN-658), as well as its epitope, consists of two issued
U.8. composition of matter and their methods of use patents and corresponding (granted and pending) patents and patent
applications in twenty-two foreign juniscictions, including the Evropean Union, Japan, and other Asian countrics, These
patents are owned by us. The patents covering the composition of matter of MNPR-101 will expire in 2025 and the
patents covering the MNPR-101 epitope will expire in 2027. Being a novel biologic, it is eligible for 12 years of
exclusivity in the U.S, under the Biologics Price Competition and Innovation Act (“BPCI Act™), and it will benefit from
varying durations of similar exclusivity in pumerous other countrics. The Radio-lmimuno-Therapeutic derivative of
MNPR-101 (uPRIT) patent, if granted expires in 2041,

Patent life determination depends on the date of filing of the application and other factors as promulgated under
the patent lvws. In most countries, including the US., the patem term is generally 20 years from the carliest claimed
filing date (the priority date) of a non-provisional patent application in the applicable coumtry, mot taking into
consideration any potential patent term adjustment that may be filed in the future or any regulatory extensions that may
be obtaned, Some of our patents are currently near expiration and we may pursue patent term extensions for these where
appropniate. See “Risk Factors - Risks Related to our Intellectual Property™.

MNPR-101 for Radiopharmacentical Use

In collsboration  with NorthStar, we filed a provisional patent application entitfed  “Precision
Radivimmunatherapeutic Targeting of the Urokinase Plasminogen Activator Receptor (uPAR) for Treatment of Severe
COVID-19 Discase™ with the USPTO on Junc 15, 2020. A full intermatienal application {Intermational Application
Number PCT/US2021/037416) thal claims prionity o the provisienal filing date was filed under the Patent Cooperation
Treaty (“PCT™) on June 15, 2021, This application covers novel compositions and uses of cytolonic radivisotopes
attached o antitbodies that bind (o uPAR, therehy creating precision targeted radiotherapeutics, also known as uPRITs,
for the treatment of severe COVID-19 and other respiratory diseases. Advanced COWVID-19 patients frequently develop
severe, life-threatening, pulmonary inflammation as a result of a viral induced cytokine storm. The development of this
cvtokine storm i associated with a high rate of montality in severe COVID-19 patients, even when oxygen suppont and
mechanical ventilation are utilized. uPRITs have been designed with the goal of selectively cradicating the aberrantly
activated immume cells responsible for causing cviokine storm and its harmful systemic effects. The co-inventors of the
provisional patent application are James Harvey, Chiefl Scientific Officer of NorthStar, and Andrew P. Mazar, former
Monopar Chief Scientific Officer,

In May 2021, we and MorthStar filed a provisional patent application with the USPTO titled “Bio-Targeted
Radiopharmaceutical Compozitions Comaining Ac-223 and Methods of Preparation,” Radiepharmaceutical therapy is a
promising approach 1o treat cancer and other discases using radioactive isotopes bound with preteins/antibodies 1o target
and kill cells. If validated through further evaluation, it could potentially improve efficacy and safety and enhance
manufscturing efficiency of actinium-based radiopharmaceuticals, the full potential of which are presently constrained by
the price and scarcity of Ac-225.

Also in May 2021, we and NonhStar filed a provisional composition of matier patent application titled
“Urokinase Plasminogen Activator Receptor-Targeted Radiopharmaccutical” covering a radiotherapeutic congisting of
our proprictary antibody MNFR-101 bound 10 Ac-225 via the isotope binding agent PCTA. This RIT demonstrated 98%
radiochemical purity and high stability and has the potential to be a highly sclective, potent treatment for a variety of
cancers, severe COVID-19, and other diseases charactenized by aberrant uPA recepior expression.
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Manufacturing

We do not curremtly own or operate manufacturing facilities for the production or testing of Validive,
camsimubicin, MNPR-101, MNPR-101-Zr, MPNR-101 RITs or MNPR-202, nor do we have plans to develop our own
manufacturing operalions in the foreseeable future. We presently depend on third-party contract manufacturers for all our
required mw materials, Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients (“API1™), and finished drug preducts for our preclinical and
clinical studics. Both COVID-19 and the Russia-Ukraing war, and related impacis on inflation and supply chain logistics,
may impact the cost and delay shipping of supplies for our clinical materials manufacturing due to the rising cost of fuel
and sanctions that may delay global shipping. We have completed manufacturing of the clinical batches of drug product
for Validive that are currently being wilized in our ongoing Phase 2b/3 VOICE clinical trial and for camsinubicin which
are being used in our ongoing Phase Ib dose-cscalation camsirubicin clinical trial. We are in the midst of manufacturing
more camsinibicin for the clinical trhals. We continue 1o develop MNPR-101-Zr, MNPR-101 RIT and MNPR-202 for
potential scale-up.

Sales and Marketing

In light of our stage of corporate development, we have not yel established a commercial organization or
distribwtion capabilities, We have retained worldwide commercial rights for our product candidates, I our product
candidates receive marketing approval, we plan 1o commercialize them in the U.S. and potentially in Europe with our
own focused, specialty sales force to be developed. We would expect 1o conduct most of the buildout of this organization
following approval in the U.S. or following similar marketing authorizations m Europe of any of our product candidates,
We expect io explore commercialization of Validive and potentially other product candidates in certain markets outside
the U.S.. including the EU, utilizing a variety of collaboration, distribution and other sales and marketing armangements
with one or mere third parties.

Oncology Market Competition

The pharmaccutical industry in general, and the oncology therapeutics sector in particular, are charactenzed by
intense competition, W face competition from pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, many of which are larger
and better financed than us. We also face competition in our efforts to develop and commercialize new oncology
therapeutics from academic and government laboratorics. The therapeutics that we are developing. if successfully
commercialized, will have w compete with existing therapeutics already on the market and novel therapeutics currently
in developmient, as well as new therapeutics that may be discovered and developed in the future. Our product candidates
will also have to compete with aliernaie treatment modalities, such as improvements in radiation treatments, which are
also subject to continual innovation and improvement. Additional information can be found in the section entitled “Risk
Factors — Risks Related to Our Business Operations and Industry,”

Validive

There is no effective standard of care or FDA approved preventive or therapentic treatment for patients that
develop chemoradintion-induced SOM, Only symplomatic treatments such as opioids and palliative mouthwashes are
available but have no effect on the occurrence, fime o onset, or duration of SOM. Our primary competitor is a dismutase
mimetic which recently completed its Phase 3 clinical development including submission to the FDA for marketing
approval. The dismutase mimetic is administered through a daily 60-minute intravenous {“IV") infusion 1o be completed
within an hour before cach radiation treatment, Validive, in comparison, is an casy to use, once daily sclf-administered
oral/buccal tablet that acis locally alL the sites of SOM.

Camsirubicin

We believe our camsirubicin program, if approved, could replace doxorubicin as the first-line treatment for
ASTS. In addition, we believe that camsirubicin would compete with a number of currently available anthracycline-
based drugs on the market for other cancer indications. These are largely derivatives of doxorubicin, or reformulations of
doxorubicin such as liposomal doxorubicia (e.g., Doxil. sold by Johnson & Johnson), All of these have the issue of
cardiotoxicity. In addition to approved products. there are a number of product candidates in developiment, largely as new
formulations or denivatives of doxorubicin.

MNPR-101 for Radiapharmacentical Use and MNPR-202
Our MNPR-101-Zr, MNPR-101 RIT and MNPR-202 programs arc in the early stages of development and the

most susceptible to all of the competitive factors listed in the first paragraph of this section on Oncology Market
Competition.




Government Regulation and Product Approval

Government authorities in the U5, a the federal, siate and local level, and in other countries extensively
regulate, among other things, the rescarch, development, testing, manufacture, quality control, approval, labeling,
packaging, storage, record-keeping, promotion, advertising, distnbution, post-approval menitoring and reporting,
marketing and expert and import of products such as these we are developing. The pharmaceutical product candidates
that we develop must be approved by the FDA before they may be legally marketed in the U8, See “Risk Factors — Risks
Related to Clinical Development and Regulatory Approval™.

.5, Pharmaccutical Product Development Process

In the US., the FDA regulates pharmaceutical products under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act
{(“FDCA™) and implementing regulations. Pharmaceutical products are also subject to other federal, state and local
statutes and regulations. The process of obtaining regulatory approvals and the subsequent compliance with appropriate
federal, state, local and foroign statutes and regulations require the expenditure of substantial time and financial
resources. Failure to comply with the applicable ULS. requirements at any time during the product development process,
approval process or after approval, may subject an applicant 1o administrative or judicial enforcement. FDA enforcement
could result in refusal 1w approve pending applications, withdrawal of an approval, a clinical hold, waming leters,
product recalls, preduct scimres, total or partial suspension of production o distribution Injuncti fines, refusals of
government contracts, restitution, disgorgement or civil or criminal penalties. Any agency or judicial enforcement action
could have a material adverse effect on us, The process required by the FDA before a non-biological pharmaceutical
product may be marketed in the U.S. generally involves the following:

*  Completion of preclinical laboratory tests, animal studies and formulation studies according to Good
Laboratory Practices (“GLP"), and other applicable regulations;

*  Submission to the FDA of an Investigational New Drug application (“IND"), which must become effective
before buman clinical studics may begin;

®  Performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical studies according to the FDA’s current Good
Clinical Practices (“GCP7), to cstablish the safery, cfficacy and opiimum dese of the proposed
pharmaceutical product for its intended use;

»  Submission fo the FDA of a New Drug Application (“NDA”) or Biologics License Application ("BLA™),
for a new pharmaceutical product:

»  Satisfactory completion of an FDA imspection of the manufaciuring facility or facilities where the
pharmaceutical product s produced to assess compliance with the FDA's current Good Manufscturing
Practice standards (“cGMP:"), to assure that the facilities, methods and controls are adequate to preserve
the pharmaceutical product’s identity, strength. quality and purity;

&  FDA sudits of the preclimcal and clhimical study sites that generated the data in support of the NDA or BLA:
*  FDA review and approval of the NDA: and
*  Fulfiliment of FDA post-marketing requirements, if any.

The lengthy process of seeking required approvals and the continuing need for compliance with applicable
statutes and regulations require the expenditure of substantial resources, and approvals are inherently uncertuin,

Before testing any compounds with potential therapeutic value in humans, the pharmaceutical product candidate
enters the preclinical testing stage. Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluations of product chemistry, toxicity and
formulation, as well as in-vitro and animal studies o assess the potential safety and activity of the pharmaceutical
product candidate. These carly proof-of-principle studics arc done using sound scieniific procedures and thorough
documentation. The conduct of single and repeat dose toxicology and toxicokinetic studics in animals must comply with
federal regulations and requirements including GLP, The sponsor must submit the results of the preclinical tests, wgether
with manulaciuring information, analytical data, any available clinical data or literature and a proposcd clinical protocol,
to the FDDA as part of the IND. The IND awomatically becomes effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless the
FDA has concems and notifics the sponsor. In such a case, the IND spensor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding
congerns before the clinical study can begin, If resolution cannot be reached within the 30-day review period, either the
FDA places the IND on clinical hold, or the sponsor withdraws the application. The FDA may also impose clinical holds
on a ph dical product candidate at any time before or during clinical studies due 10 safety concems or non-
compliance. Accordingly, it is not cenaim that submission of an IND will result in the FDA allowing clinical studies to
begin, or that, once begun, issues will not arise that suspend or terminate such clinical studies,
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During the development of a new drug, sponsars are given opporiunities to meet with the FDA ot certain points.
These points may be prior w submission of an IND, at the end of Phase 2, and before an NDA or BLA is submitied,
Meetings at other times may be requested. These meetings can provide an opportunity for the sponsor to share
information about the data gathered to date, for the sponsor to ask specific questions to the FDA, for the FDA 1o provide
advice, and for the sponsor and FDA to reach agreement on the next phase of development. Sponsors typically use the
end of Phase 2 meeting 1o discuss their Phase 2 clinical results and present their plans for the pivetal Phase 3 clinical
{registration) triak(s) that they belicve will support approval of the new drug. A sponsor may be able to request a Special
Protocol Assessment (“SPA”), the purpose of which is to reach agreement with the FDA on the Phase 3 clinical trial
protoco] design and analyses that will form the primary basis of an efficacy claim.

According to FDA guidance for industry on the SPA process. a sponsor which meets the prerequisites may make
a specific request for a SPA and provide information regarding the design and size of the propesed clinical tnal. The
FDA's goal is to evaluate the protocol within 45 days of the request 10 assess whether the proposed trial is adequate, and
that evaluation may result in discussions and a request for additional infermation. A SPA request must be made before
the proposed irial begins, and all open 1ssues must be resolved before the trial begins, If a written agreement is reached, it
will be documented and made part of the IND record, The agreement will be binding on the FDA and may not be
changed by the sponsor or the FDVA afier the trial begins except with the written agreement of the sponsor and the FDA
or if the FDA determines that a substantial scientific issue essential to determining the safety or efficacy of the drug was
identified after the testing began.

Clinical siudies mvolve the administration of the ph iical product didate 1o healthy volunteers or
patients under the supervision of qualified investigators, generally physicians not emploved by or under the clinical study
sponsor’s control. Clinical stedies are conducted under protocols detailing, among other things, the objectives of the
clinical study, dosing procedures, subject sclection and exclusion criteria, how the results will be analyzed and presented
and the parameters to be used to monitor subject safery. Each protocol must be submitted to the FDDA as part of the IND.
Chinical studies must be conducted in accordance with Good Chinical Practice (“GCP”) guidelines. Further, each climical
study must be reviewed and approved by an independent mstitutional review board (“IRB”), at, or servicing, each
institution at which the clinical study will be conducted. An IRB is charged with protecting the welfare and rights of
study participanis and is tasked with considering such items as whether the risks to individuals participating in the
climical studies are minimized and are reasonable in relation to anticipated benefits. The IRB also approves the informed
consent form that must be provided to cach clinical study subject or his or her lcgal representative and must monitor the
clinical study unnil completed.

Human clinical studies are typically conducted in three sequential phases that may overlap or be combined:

®  Phase |. The pharmaccutical product is initially introduced into healthy human subjects and tested for
safety, dosage tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distnbution and excretion.

®  Phase 2, The pharmaceutical product s evaluated in a limited patient population 10 identify possible
adverse effects and safety nsks, to preliminarily evaluate the efficacy of the produst for specific targeted
diseases, to determine dosage tolerance, opfimal dosage and dosing schedule and to identify patient
populations with speeific charactenistics where the pharmaceutical product may be more effective.

#»  Phase 3. Clinical studies are undertaken to further evaluate dosage, clinical efficacy and safety in an
expanded patient population at geographically dispersed clinical study sites, These clinieal studies are
ntended to establish the overall nskibenefit ratio of the product and provide an adequaie basis for product
Inbeling. The studics must be well-controlled and usually include a control arm for comparison. One or two
Phase 3 studics are required by the FDA for an NDA or BLA approval, depending on the discase severity
and other available treatment options.

*  Post-approval studics, or Phase 4 clinical studics, may be conducted after initial marketing xppmwl Thcsc
studies are used 10 gain additional experience from the s of pati in the i ded th
indication.
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&  Progress reports detailing the results of the clinical studics must be submitted at least annually to the FDA

and written IND safety reports must be submitted 1o the FDA and the investigators for sertous and

adverse evends or any finding from tests in laboratory animals that suggests a significant risk

for human subjects. Phase |, Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical studies may not be completed successfully within

any specificd period, if of all. The FDA or the sponsor or its data safcty monitoring board may suspend a

climical study at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the research subjects or patients are

being cxposed 10 an unacceptable health risk. Similarly, an [RB can suspend or terminate approval of a

clinical study a1 its institution if the clinical study i3 not being conducted in accordance with the IRB's

requirements of if the pharmaceutical product has been associated with unexpected serious harm to
patients.




Concurrent with clinical studies, companics wsually complete additional animal stedies and must also develop
additional information about the chemistry and physical characteristics of the pharmaceutical product as well as finalize a
process for manufacturing the product in commercial quantities in accordance with ¢GMP requirements. The
manufactuning process must be capable of consistently producing quality batches of the pharmaccutical product
candidate and, among other things, must develop methods for testing the identity, strength, quality and purity of the final
pharmaceutical product. Additionally, appropriate packaging must be selected and tested, and stability studies must be
conducted to demonstrate that the pharmaceutical produect candidate does not undergo unaccepiable deterioration over its
shelf life.

LL5. Review and Approval Processes

The results of product development. preclinical studies and clinical studies, along with descriptions of the
manufacturing process. analytical tests conducted on the chemistry of the pharmaceutical product, proposed labeling and
other relevant information are submitted 1o the FDA as pant of an NDA or BLA requesting approval 1o market the
produect. The submission of an NDA or BLA s subject to the payment of substantial user foes, a waiver of such fees may
be obtained under cortain limited circumstances.

In addition, under the Pediatric Research Equity Act ("PREA™), an NDA, BLA or a supplement thereof must
contain data to assess the safety and effectiveness of the pharmaceutical product for the claimed indications in all
relevant pediatric subpopulations and 1o suppon dosing and adminisiration for each pediatric subpopulation for which the
product is safe and effective. The FDA may grant defemals for submission of data or full or partial waivers. Unless
otherwise required by regulation, PREA does not apply 1o any pharmaceutical product for an indication for which orphan
designation has been granted.

The FDA reviews all NDAs and BLAs submitted before it accepts them for filing and may request additional
information rather than accepting an NDA or BLA for filing. Once the submission is accepted for filing, the FDA begins
an in-depth review of the NDA or BLA. Under the goals and policies agreed 1o by the FDA under the Prescription Drug
User Fee Act ("PDUFA”), the FI}A has 10 months in which 1o complete its initial review of a standard NDA or BLA and
respond o the applicant, and six months for a priority NDA or BLA. The FDA docs not always meet its PDUFA goal
dates for standard and priosity NDAz or BLAs. The review process and the PDUFA zoal date may be extended by three
months if the FODA requests or if the NDA or BLA sponsor otherwise provides additional information or clarification
regarding information already provided in the submission within the last three months before the PDUFA goal dute.

After the NDA or BLA submission is accepled for filing, the FDA reviews the NDA or BLA application o
determing, among other things, whether the proposed product is safe and effective for its intended use, and whether the
product is being manufactured in accordance with ¢GMP to assure and preserve the product's identity, strength, quality
and parity. The FDA may refer applications for novel pharmaceutical products or pharmaceutical products which present
difficult questions of safety or efficacy to an advisory committee, typically a panel that includes clinicians and other
cxperts, for review, evaluation and a recommendation as to whether the application should be approved and under what
conditions. The FDA is not bound by the recommendations of an advisory committee, but it considers such
recommendations carefully when making decisions. During the pharmaceusical product approval process, the FDA also
will determine whether a fsk evaluation and mitigation strategy (“REMS"), is necessary to assure the safe use of the
pharmaceutical product. If the FDA concludes that a REMS is needed, the sponsor of the NDA or BLA must submit a
proposed REMS; the FDA will not approve the NDA or BLA without a REMS, if required.

Before approving an NDA or BLA, the FDA will inspect the facilities a1 which the product is manufactured. The
FDA wall not approve the product unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities are in compliance
with ¢GMP requirements and adequate Lo assure consistent production of the product within required specifications,
Additionally, before approving an NDA or BLA, the FDA will typically inspect one or more clinical sites as well as the
site where the phamusceutical product is manufactured w assure compliance with GCP and ¢GMP. If the FDA
determines the application, manufacturing process or manufacturing facilitics are not acceptable, it will outline the
deficiencics in the submission and often will request additional testing or information, In addition, the FDA will require
the review and approval of product labeling,

The NDA and BLA review and approval process is lengthy and difficult and the FDA may reluse to approve an
WA or BLA if the applicable regulatory criteria arc not satisfied or may require additional clinical data or other data and
information. Even if such data and information arc submined, the FDA may ultimately decide that the NDA or BLA does
not satisfy the criteria for approval. Data obtained from clinical studies are not always conclusive and the FDA may
interpret data differently than the sponsor interprets the same data. The FDA will issuc a complete response letter if the
agency decides not 1o approve the NDA or BLA. The complete response letier usually deseribes all of the specific
deficiencies in the NDA or BLA identified by the FDDA. The deficiencies identified may be minor, for example, requiring
labeling changes, or major, for example, requiring additional clinical studies. Additionally, ibe compleie response letter
may include recommended actions that the applicant might lake 1o place the application in a condition for approval. 1f a
complete response letter is 1ssued, the applicant may either resubmit the NDA or BLA, addressing all of the deficiencies
wdentified in the letter, or withdrmw the application.
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IT a product receives regulutory approval, the approval may be significamtly limited to specific discases and
dosages or the indications for use may otherwise be limited, which could resirict the commercial value of the product,
Funther, the FDA may require that cenain contraindications, wamings o precautions be included in the product labeling.
In addition, the FDA may require Phase 4 testing which involves clinical stedies designed 1o further assess
pharmaceutical product safety and effectiveness and may require testing and surveillance programs to monitor the safety
of approved products that have been commencialized,

Expedited Development and Review Programs

The FDA has a Fast Track program that is intended to expedite or facilitate the process for reviewing new

ical products that meet certain criteria. Validive has Fast Track designation. New pharmaceutical products are

eligible for Fast Track designation if they are intended to treat a serious or life-threatening condition and demonsirate the

potential to address unmet medical needs for the condition. The Fast Track designation must be requested by the sponsor.

Fast Track desi lies to the bination of the product and the specific indication for which it 13 boing studied.

With a Fast Tr.ld: :kn:gnmd product, the FDA may consider for review sections of the NDA or BLA on a rolling basis

before the complete application is submitied, if the sponsor provides a schedule for the submission of the sections of the

NDA or BLA, if the FDA agrees 1w accept sections of the NDA or BLA and determines that the schedule is acceptable
and if the sponsor pavs any requircd wser fees upon submission of the first section of the NDA or BLA.

Any product submitted to the FDA for marketing approval, mcluding a Fast Track program, may also be eligible
for other lypes of FDA programs intended 1o expedite development and review, such as priority review and accelerated
approval. Any product is eligible for priority review if it has the potential 1o provide safe and effective therapy where no
satisfactory alternative therapy exists or a significant improvement in the treatment, diagnosis or prevention of a disease
compared to marketed products, The FDA will attempt to direct additional resources 1o the evaluation of an application
for a new pharmaceutical product designated for prionty review in an effort to facilitate the review. Additionally, a
product may be eligible for accelerated approval. Pharmaceutical products studied for their safety and effectiveness m
treating serious or life-threptening illnesses and that provide meaningful therapeutic benefit over existing treatments may
reecive accelerated approval, which means that the products may be approved on the basis of adequate and well-
controlled clinical studics establishing that the product has an effect on a swrrogate endpoint that 15 reasonably likely to
predict a clinical benefit, or on the basis of an effect on a clinical endpoint other than survival or irreversible morbidity.
As a condition of approval, the FDA may require that a sponsor of a pharmaceutical product receiving accelerated
approval perform adequate and well-controlled pest-marketing clinical studies. In addition, the FDA currently requires as
a condition for accelerated approval pre-approval of promotional materials, which could adversely impact the tming of
the commercial launch of the product. Fast Track designation, prionity review and accelerated approval do not change the
standards for approval but may expedite the development or approval process.

Breakthrough Therapy Designation

The FDA is also required to expedite the development and review of the application for approval of drugs that
are intended to treat a serioas or life-threatening disease or condition where preliminary clinical evidence indicates that
the drug may demonsirate substantial improvement over existing therapies on one or more clinically sigmificant
endpoints. Under the breakthrough therapy program, the sponsor of a new product candidate may request that the FDA
designate the product candidate for a specific indication as a breakthrough therapy concurrent with, or after, the filing of
the IND for the product candidate, The FDA. must determine if the preduct candidate gualifics for breakthrough therapy
designation within 60 davs of receipt of the sponsor’s request. Validive, camsirubicin and MNPR-101 may all be eligible
for breakthrough therapy designation pending additional data.

Ewropean Union Drug Review and Approval

In the European Economic Area ("EEA”) (which is comprised of the 28 Member States of the European Union
plus Norway, Ieeland and Liechtenstein), medicinal products can only be commercialized afier obtaining a Marketing
Authonization {“MA™). There arc two tvpes of MA:

The Community MA, which is issued by the European Commission through the Centralized Procedure, based on
the opinion of the CHMP, or Commitiee for Medicinal Products for Human Use, of the Evropean Medicines Agency
(“EMA”), is valid throughout the entire termitory of the EEA. The Centralized Procedure is mandatory for certain types of
products, such as biotechnology medicinal products, orphan medicinal products, and medicinal products comaining a
new active substance indicated for the wemment of AIDS, cancer, neurodegencrative disorders, diabetes and auto-
immune and viral diseases. The Centralized Procedure is optional for products containing a new active substance not vet
authorized in the EEA, or for products that constitute a significant therapeutic, scientific or technical innovation or which
are i the interest of public health in the EU.




Mational MAs, which are ssued by the competent authorities of the Member States of the EEA and only cover
their respective territory, are available for products not falling within the mandatory scope of the Centralized Procedure.
Where a product has already been authorized for marketing in a Member State of the EEA. this National MA can be
recognized in other Member States through the Mutual Recognition Procedure. 17 the product has not received a National
MA in any Member State at the time of application, it can be approved simultaneously in various Member States through
the Decentralized Procedure. Under the above described procedures, before gramting the MA, the EMA or the competent
authontics of the Member States of the EEA make an assessment of the risk-benefit balance of the product on the basis
of scientific criteria conceming its quality, safety and efficacy.

PRIME Designation

The EMA launched its PRIME regulatory initiative to enhance suppon for the development of therapies that
target an unmel medical need, The initiative focuses on drugs that may offer a major therapeulic advanlage over existing
treatments, or benelit patients with no treatment options, These therapics are considered priority medicines within the
EU. Through PRIME, the EMA offers carly, proactive and enhanced support to drug developers to optimize the
generation of robust data on a therapy's benefits and nisks and cnable sccclerated asscssment of drug applications.
MNPR-101 may be cligible for PRIME designation,

Post-Approval Requirements

Any pharmaccutical products for which a sponsor receives FDA approvals are subject to continuing regulation
by the FDA, including, among other things, record-keeping requirements, reporting of adverse cxpericnees with the
product, providing the FDA with updated safety and cfficacy information, product sampling and distribution
rcq:irermwrs. complying with certain clectronic records and signature requirements and complying with FDA and FTC
promation and adwmrung mqu1rrmenls. whu'h incluede, among others, standards for direct-to-consumer advertising,
prohibitions. on pr ical products for uses or in patient populations that are pot described in the
pharmaceutical product’s ng:pmwd labeling (known as “off-label use™), industry-sponsored scientific and cducational
activities and promotional activities nvolving the intermet. Failure to comply with FDA requirements can have negative
consequences, including adverse publicity, enforcement letters from the FDA, actions by the US. Department of Justice
and/or ULS. Department of Health and Human Services Office of Inspector General, mandated corrective advertising or
communications with doctors, and civil or criminal penalties. Although physicians may prescribe legally available
pharmaceutical products for off-label uses, manufacturers may not directly or indirectly market or promote such off-label
uses.

Manufacturers of FDA approved products are required to comply with applicable FDA manufacturing
requirements contained in the FDA's ¢GMP regulations, cGMP regulations require, among other things, quality control
and quality assurance, as well as the comesponding maintenance of records and documentation. Pharmaceutical product
maiufacturers and other ¢ s involved in the manufacture and distribution of approved pharmaceutical products are
required to register their establishments with the FDA and cenain state agencies, and are subject to periodic unannounced
inspections by the FDA and cenain state agencics for compliance with ¢GMP and other laws, Accordingly,
manufacturers must continue to expend time, money and effort in the area of production and quality control 1o maintain
oGMP compliance. Discovery of problems with a product after approval may result in restnctions on a product,
manufacturer or holder of an approved KIDA or BLA, including withdrawal of the product from the market, In additon,
changes to the manufacturing process generally require prior FDA approval before being implemented and other types of
changes to the approved product, such as adding new indications and additional labeling claims, are also subject o
further FDA review and approval. The FDA also may require post-marketing testing, known as Phase 4 testing, risk
minimization action plans and surveillance 1o monitor the effects of an approved product of place conditions on an
approval that could restrict the distribution or use of the product.

Pharmaceutical Coverage, Pricing and Reimbursement

Significant uncertuinty exists as fo the coverage and reimbursement status of any pharmaceutical product
candidates for which we oblain regulatery approval, In the ULS. and markets in other countries, sales of any products for
which we receive regulatory approval for commercial sale will depend in part upon the availability of reimbursement
from third-party payvers. Third-party payers include government payers such as Medicare and Medicaid, managed care
providers, private health insurers and other organizations. The process for determining whether a payer will provide
coverage for a pharmaceutical product may be separate from the process for setting the price or reimbursement rate that
the payer will pay for the pharmaccutical product. Third-party payers may limit coverage to specific pharmaceutical
products on an approved list, or formulary, which might not include all of the FDA-approved pharmaceutical products
for o particular indication. Third-party payers are increasingly challenging the price and examining the medical necessity
and cost-efMectiveness of medical products and services, in sddition to their safety and efficacy. We may need 0 conduct
cxpensive pharmaco-cconomic sivdies in order 10 demonsirate the medical necessity and cost-cifectiveness of our
products, in addition to the costs required 1o oblain the FDA approvals, A payers decision to provide coverage for a
pharmaceutical product does not imply that an adeguate reimbursement rate will be approved.
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In 2003, the federal government enacted legislation providing a partial preseription drug benefit for Medicane
recipients, which became effective at the beginning of 2006. However, to obtain payments under this program, a
company would be required to sell products to Medicare recipients through prescription drug plans operating pursuant o
this legislation, As pan of their participation in the Medicare preseription drug program, these plans negotiate discountod
prices for prescription drugs. Federal, state and local governments in the US. continue to consider legislation to limit the
growth of health care costs, incleding the requirement to reduce the price of certain prescription drugs. Foture legislation
and regulations could limit payments for pharmaceuticals such as the prod didates that we are developing.

Different pricing and reimbursement schemes exist in other countrigs. In the Furopean Community, governments
influence the price of pharmaccutical products through their pricing and reimbursement rules and control of national
health care systems that fund a large part of the cosi of those products to consumers. Some jurisdictions operale positive
and negative list systems under which products may only be marketed once a reimbursement price has been agreed upon,
To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval, some of these countries may require the completion of clinical studies that
compare the cost-effectiveness of a particular pharmocewtical product candidate to currently available therapies. Other
member states allow companies to fix their own prices for medicines, but monitor and control company profits, The
downward pressure on health care costs in general, particularly prescription drugs, has become very intense. As a result,
increasingly high barriers are being erecled to the entry of new products. In addition, in some countries, cross-border
impeorts from low-priced markets exert a commercial pressure on pricing within a country,

International Regulation

In addition to regulations in the U.S., there are a variely of foreign regulations governing clinical studies and
commercial sales and distribution of our future product candidates. Whether or not FDA approval is obtained for a
product, approval of a product must be obtained by the comparable regulatory authoritics of foreign countries before
clinical studies or marketing of the product can commence in these countries. The approval process varies from country
to country, and the time may be longer or shorter than that required for FDDA approval, The requircments governing the
conduct of clinical studies, preduct licensing. pricing and reimbursement vary greatly from country to country. In
addition, certain regulatory authorities in selcet countrics may require us o repeat previously conducted preclinical
and'or clinical studies under specific eritenia for approval in their respective country which may delay andior greatly
increase the cost of approval in cenain markets targeted for approval by us,

Under EUL regulatory systems, marketing applications for pharmaceutical products must be submitted under a
centralized procedure 1o the EMA. The centralized procedure provides for the granting of a single marketing
authorization that is valid for all EU. member states. The EMA also has designations for Orphan Drugs, which, if
applicable, can provide for faster review, lower fees and more access 1o advice during drug development. While the
marketing suthorization in the European Union is centralized, the system for clinical studies (application, review and
requirements) is handled by cach individual country. Approval to run a clinical study in one country does not guarantee

| in any other country, The pharmaceutical industry in Canada 15 regulated by Health Canada, A New Drug
Submission (“ND5") is the equivalent of a LS. NDA and must be filed to obtain approval to market a pharmaceutical
product in Canada. Marketing regulations and reimbursement are subject 1o national and provincial laws. In Japan,
applications for approval to manufacture and market new drugs must be approved by the Ministry of Health, Labor and
Welfare. Nonclimcal and clinical studies must meet the requirements of Japanese laws. Results from climcal studies
conducted outside of Japan must be supplemented with at least a bridging clinical study conducted in Japanese patients.

In addition to regulations in Europe, Canada, Japan and the U.S,, there arc a varicty of forcign regulations
governing clinical studies, commercial distribution and reimbursement of future product candidates which we may be
subject to as we pursue regulatory approval and commercialization of Validive, camsirubicin, MNPR-101, or any future
product candidates intemationally.

Compliance with Environmental Laws

Smce we do not have our own laboratory or manufacturing faciliies, we do not estimate any annual costs of
compliance with environmental laws.

Employees

Cur operations are currently managed by five individuals (including our executive chairman and our Acting
Chiell Medical Oficer), of whom two have a PhD, two have an MD, two have an MBA, one has an MSc i health
economics and policy, one has an M5 from Stanford University, and onc is a former CPA. They have worked at industry
leading companies such as BioMarin Pharmaceuncal Inc., Raptor Pharmaceuticals, and Onyx Pharmaceuticals. As of
March 10, 2023, we had twelve employees; eleven of whom were full-time. We anticipate hiring additional employees i
clinical operations, regulatory affairs and other dep: 1o help our clinical studies, regulatory submissions,
and manufacturing 10 suppen Validive and camsirubicin program development, business development and corporate
strategy. In additien. to complement our internal expertise, we have contracts with medical and scientific consultants,
manulscturers, laboratories, and contract rescarch orgamizations that specialize in varous aspects of drug development
including clinical development, preclnical development, manufaciuring, quality assurance, and regulatory affairs.
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Corporate Information

We were formed as a Delaware limited lishility company in December 2014, with the name Monopar
Therapeutics, LLC. In December 2015, we converied 10 a Delaware C corporalion. Our principal executive offices are
located at 1000 Skokie Blvd, Suite 350, Wilmette, IL 60091, Our telephone number is (847) 388-0349. Our corporate
wehsite is located at www. monopartx com. Any information contained i, or that can be accessed through our website, 15
not incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Trademark Notice

We have a registered trademark with the USPTO for “Validive”™. All other trademarks, service marks and trade
names in this Annual Report on Form 10K are the property of their respective owners. We have omitted the * and ™
designations, as applicable, for the trademarks used herein.

Available Information

Our corporate website is located s www.monepartc.com. The reference to these website addresses does not
constitule incorporation by reference of the information contained on the websites and should not be considered part of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We intend (o satis{y any disclosure requirement under liem 5.05 of Form 3-K regarding an amendment to, or
waniver from, a provision of our Code of Business Conduct und Ethics by posting such information on our website as
specified above.

Ttem 1A, Risk Factors
RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves a high degree of nsk. A prospective investor should carefully
consider the following information about these risks, together with other information appearing elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, before deciding to invest in our common stock. The occurrence of any of the following risks could
have o material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, resulis of operations and future prospects and
prospective investors could lese all or part of their mvestment. The nisk factors discussed below and elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K are not exhaustive; other significant risks may exist that are not identificd in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, but that might sull maternially and sdversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, and
results of operations were any of such risks 1o occur.

Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Capital Requirements

We have a limited operating history, expect o incur significant operating lossex, and have a high risk of never being

We commenced operations in December 2004 and have an operating history of approximately eight years,
Therefore, there is limited historical financial or operational information upon which te evaluate our performance. Cur
prospects must be considered in light of the uncenainties, risks, expenses, and difliculties lrequently encountered by
companies in their carly clinical stages of operations. Many, if not mest, companies in our industry at our stage of
development never become profitable and are acquired, merge, sell major product assets or go oul of business before
successfully developing any product that generates revenue from commercial sales and enables profitability.

From inception in December 2014 through December 31, 2022, we have incurred losses of approximately 351.8
million, which includes $13.5 million of non-cash in-process rescarch and development, which was incurred in
connection with our 2017 acquisition of camsirubicin, We expect 1o continue to incur substantial operating losses over
the next several vears for the clinical development of our current and future licensed or purchased product candidates and
will continue to incur losses for the foresecable future. We expect that our R&D and G&A expenses will increase to
enable the execution of our strategic plan. As a resuli, we anticipate that we will seek to raise additional capital within the
next 12 months to fund our future operations, We will seck 1o oblain needed capital through a combanation of cquity
offerings, including the usage of our Capital on Demand™' Sales Agreement with JonesTrading. debt financings,
strategic collaborations and grant funding. To date, we have funded our operations through net proceeds from the initial
public olfering of our common stock, nel proceeds from sales of our common stock through an at-the-market zales
program, privale placements of our preferred and common stock, and the net receipt of funds related 10 our acquisition of
camsirubicin and related assets.




The amount of future losses and when, if ever, we will become profitable are unceriain, We do not have any
products that have generated revenues from commercial sales, and do not expect o generate revenues from the
commercial sale of products in the near future, if ever. Our sbility 1o generate revenue and achieve profitability will
depend on, anvong other things, successful completion of the development of our product candidates; obtaining necessary
regulalory approvals from the FDA and mtermational regulatory agencies; establishing manufacturing/quality, sales, and
marketing and distribution arrangements with third parties; obtaining adeguate reimbursement by third-party payers; and
raising sufficient funds to finance our activities. If we are unsuccessful at some or all of these undertakings, our business,
financial condition, and resulis of operations are expecied to be matenally and adversely affected.

We will need to raise substantiol additional funding or find a suitable pharmaceutical partier to continue to advance
our clinical programs and support oar preclinical activities,

In order to be commercially viable, we must successfully research, develop, test, obtain regulatory approval for,
manufacture, introduce, market and distribute Validive, camsirubicin, MNFR-101-Zr, MNPR-101 RIT, MNPR-202, and,
if applicable, any current and future product candidates we may develop. The estimated required capital and time-frames
necessary to achiove these developmental milestones as described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K or as we may
state from time to time is subject W inherent risks, which are beyond our control, Clinical development of Validive,
camsinbicin, MNPR-101-Zr, MNPR-101 RIT, and MNPR-202 will require significant funds, Proceeds to-date from the
sales of our common stock we believe could be sufficient for us to complete our ongoing open-label Phase |b
camsirubicin elinical trial (but this may not be the case if camsirubicin reachies even higher dose levels than we are
anticipating) and, assuming a positive result of the go/no go interim analysis decision anhicipated by the end of March
2023, continue enrolling the Phase 3 portion of our ongoing Validive Phase 2b/3 {(VOICE) clinical program, but will not
be sufficient for us 1o complete our VOICE clinical program, including if we need to run a second confirmatory Phase 3
clinical trial and support funther development through and beyond our ongoing Phase Ib camsirubicin clinical trial. To
complete the VOICE clinical program, including, if required, completing a second Phase 3 confirmatory clinical trial, we
will need o mise additional funding in the millions or tens of millions of dollars. Therefore, we will necd 1o raise
significant additional funds or find a suitable pharmaceutical pariner within the next 12 months to complete the VOICE
clinical program, as well as support further development of camsirubicin through and bevond our ongoing Phase 1b, to
support MNPR-101-Zr, MNPR-101 RIT and MNPR-202 and related compounds in various indications and generally to
support our current and any future product candidates through completion of chinical tnals, approval processes and. if
applicable, commercialization, If we are able to raise financing, it may be on terms that are unfavorable to us and if we
are unable to raise sufficient funds or find a suitable pharmaceutical partner, we may have 1o discontinue or delay clinical
development of Validive and/or any other of our current or future product candidates.

If the fterim analysis for our ongoing Validive Phase 203 clinical program yields a no-ge decision, our business
would be adversely impacted.

This interim analysis for our ongoing Validive Phase 2b/3 clinical program, and the resulting go/no-go decision
dbout whether to proceed to the Phase 3 portion of the tnal, iz expected by the end of March 2023, Because the interim
analysis is being performed by an independent data monitoring committee, we do not know what the results will be as of
the date of this Annual Repont. If the interim analysis results in a no-go decision, we would need to reconsider our efforts
with respect to Validive and refocus our development efforts on our other product candidates. Validive has been our lead
product candidate to date and 13 the most clinically advanced, and if we had to reconsider or abandon our efforts, it would
likely materially adversely impact our financing prospects, as well as the price of our common stock.

Qur aperations and financial resilts could be adversely fmpacted by COVID-19, which may negatively impact oir
ahility to manufaciure our product candidates for our clinical rials, our ability to acerue and conduct our clinical
trials, and may delay regulatory agency responses. Any such impact will negatively impact our financial condition and
could require us fo delay sur clinical development programs,

In response to COVID-19 and its effects on clinical trials, we modified the original adaptive design Phase 3
clinical trial for our lead product candidate, Validive, in 2020 1o be a Phase 2b/3 VOICE clinical trial to better fit the
types of trials which can enroll paticats in the current environment. We have activated sites and commenced dosing in
our VOICE clinical program. We completed enrollment of the Phase 2b portion of the trial and commenced enrollment
of the Phase 3 portion of the VOICE trial. To complete VOICE clinical program, including, if required, completing a
second Phase 3 confirmatory clinical trial, we will need to raise additional funding in the millions or tens of mallions of
dollars (depending on if we have consummated a collaboration or partnership or neither for Validive), or find a suitable
pharmaceutical partner, both of which we are planning o pursue within the next |2 months. There can be no assurance
that any such cvents will oocur, and the long-term effects of COVID-19 continue 1o create uncertainties and challenges to
our ability to seck additional funding and explore collaborations and pannerships.




While we are currently continuing our ongoing clinical trials, COVID-19 and related precautions have directly or
mdirectly impacted the timeline for certamn of our climical trals. We are continuing o monitor the impact of COVID-19
on our operations and ongoing clinical develoy activity, g Iy, As a result of COVID-19, we may experience
further disruptions that could severely impact our business, preclinical studics and clinical mials, including:

&  Delays in receiving approval from the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities to initiste our planned
clinical wrials,

e Delays or difficulties in enrolling and monitoring patients in our clinical trials;

®  Delays or difficultics in clinical site initiation, including difficultics in recruiting clinical site investigators
and clinical site stail;

»  Delays in inal drug shipments due o COVID-19 vaccine shipmenis tying up available pharmaceutical
product shipping lanes and increasing their cost;

&  Diversion of healthcare resources away from the conduct of clinical wials, including the diversion of
hospitals serving as our clinical rial sites and hospital stafl supporting the conduct of our clinical trials;

»  Risk that panticipants enrolled in our clinical wrials will acquire COVID-19 while the clinical trial is
ongoing. which could impact the results of the clinical trial, including by increasing the number of
observed adverse events,

»  Interruption of key clinical trial activities, such as clinical tnal sife data monitoring, due to limitations on
travel imposed or recommended by federal or state governments, emplovers and others or interruption of
clinical iral subject visits amd siudy procedures, which may impact the integniy of subject data and chinical
siudy endpoinis;

#  Interruption or delays in the operations of the FDA and foreign regulatory agencies, which may impact
approval imelines;

*  Interruption of, or delays in receiving, supplics of our product candidates from our contract manufacturing
organizations duc to staffing or supply shortages, production slowdowns, global shipping delays or
stoppages and disruptions in delivery systems;

»  Limitation on employee resources that would otherwise be focused on the conduct of our preclinical studics
and clinical inals, including beeause of sickness of our employees or their familics or the desire of
employees o avord contact with large groups of people.

#  Refusal of the FDA 1o accept data from clinical trials in affected geographies; and
#  Impacts from prolonged remote work arangements, such as increased cybersecurity risks.

The extent 10 which the long-term effects of COVID-19 funther impacts our business, including our preclinical
studies and clinical trials, results of operations and financial cendition will depend on future developmenis which remain
highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence. Such factors include but are not limited to the global
availability and acceptability of available vaceinations, the continued efficacy of available vaceines and treatments, the
potential and duration of another major outbreak and the impacis of new vanations of the virus, continued or
reimplemented travel restrictions, local states of emergency requiring quarantines and shelter-im-place orders, adherence
to social distancing and mask-wearing recommendations in the U.S. and other countries and the availability of effective
global therapeutics 1o treat COVID-19.

The Russia-Ukraine war will likely have contimeing global effects on fuel costs and shipping and broader impacts on
rcmomi’r. M and financial market conditions, which conld delay the shipping of supplies for our clinical material

ially resulting in increased manufacturing expenses, delays to our clinical programs and
n‘wrsu_.ﬁ"m o ﬂurﬂnmng activities and financial conditien.

The Russia-Ukraine war is & volatile situation, resulting in f il zervices and banking instability in the
region. The ULS. and other countries” sanctions against Russia and Russian entities, together with existing inflationary
conditions and supply chain challenges arising in the wake of COVID-19, are affecting fuel costs and shipping. resulting
in higher costs and delays for various types of supplies. These cost ingreases and delays may affect our clinical material
manufecturing which will likely have an adverse effect on our financial condition. In addition, at this stage, we are
unable to predict whether the war will have brosder adverse impacts to European, US. or global economic, trade and
financial market conditions, which could adversely aifect our operations and financial condition in a variety of ways, In
particular, financial market instability or volatility mav make it more difficult to mise required financing.
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If we continue to incur aperating losses and fail to obtain the capital necessary to fund our aperations, we will be
unable to advance our development programs, complete our clinfcal trials, or bring products to market, or may be
Sorced 1o reduce or cease operations entively. fn addition, any capital obtained by us may be abtained on rerms th
are unifavorable to us, onr investors, or bath,

While we believe adequate cash s currently available to operate for the next twelve months, developing a new
drug and conducting clinical inals and the regulatory review processes for one or more disease indications involves
substantial costs. We have projecied cash requirements for the near term based on a vanety of assumplions, but some or
all of such assumptions arc likely to be meomect andfor incomplete, possibly materially in an adverse direction. Cur
acwal cash needs may deviate materally from those projections, changes in market conditions or other factors may
increase our cash requirements, or we may not be successful even in raising the amount of cash we currently project will
be required for the near term. We will need 1o mise additional capital in the future; the amount of additional capital
needed will vary as a resuli of a number of factors, including without limitation the following:

&  receiving less funding than we require;

®  higher than expected costs to manufacture and ship our active pharmaceutical ingredient and our product
candidates;

®  higher than expected costs for preclinical testing:
*  anincrease in the number, size, duration, and/or complexity of our clinical irals;

*  slower than expected progress in developing Validive, camsirubicin, MNPR-101-Zr, MNFR-101 RIT,
MNPR-202 or other product candidates, including without limitation, additional costs caused by program
delays;

o higher than expected costs assoviated with anempting to obtain regulatory approvals, meluding withou
limitation additional costs caused by additional regulatory requirements or larger clinical trial requirements;

&  higher than expected personnel, consulting or other costs, such as adding personnel or industry expert
consultants or pursuing the licensing/acquisition of additional assets; and

& higher than expected costs to protect our intellectual property pontfolio or otherwise pursue our intellectual
PrOpTty strategy.

When we attempl to raise additional financing, there can be no assurance that we will be able w0 secure such
additional financing in sufficient quantities or at all. We may be unable to raise additional capital for reasons including,
without limitation, our operational and'or financial performance, investor confidence in us and the biopharmaceutical
industry, credit availability from banks and other financial instifutions, the status of current projects, and our prospects
for oblaining any necessary regulatory approvals, General economic and financial market conditions, which have
recently been impacted by inflation, bank instability and other factors, can also adverscly impact our ability to raise
additional financing. Potential investors™ capital investments may have shifted to other opportunitics with perceived
greater retums andior lower risk, thereby reducing capital available to us, if available at all.

In addition, any additional financing might not be available, and even if available, may not be available on terms
acceptable to us or our then-existing investors. We will scek (o raise funds through public or private equity offerings,
including the usage of our Capital on Demand™ Sales Agreement with JonesTrading, debt financings, corporate
collsboration or licensing arrangements, mergers, acquisitions, sales of intellectual property, or other financing vehicles
or amangements, To the extent that we raise additional capital by issuing equity sceuritics or other securitics, our then-
existing investors will experience dilution. If we raise funds through debt financings or bank loans. we may become
subject to restrictive covenants, our assets may be pledged as collateral for the debt, and the interests of our then-existing
investors would be subordinated to the debt holders or banks. In addition, our use of and ability 10 exploit assets pledged
as collaieral for debi or loans may be resiricted or forfeited. To the oxtent thal we raise addibional funds through
collaboration or licensing arrangements, we may be required to relinguish significant rights (including without limitation
intellectual property rights) to our technologies or product candidates, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to
us, I we are not able to raise necded funding under acceptable terms or at all, then we will have to reduce expenses,
including the possible options of curtailing operations, abandoning opportunities, licensing or selling off assets, reducing
costs 1o a point where clinical development or other progress 14 impaired, or ceasing operations entircly.
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Markes variahles, such as inflavion of product costs, labor rafes and fuel, frefght and emergy costs, as well as
geapalitical events could likely cause us to suffer significant increases in onr aperating and administrative expenses.

In the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Russia-Ukraine war and other geopolitical factoss, cconomic
conditions have become strained, with inflation and supply chain challenges impacting businesses worldwide. These
conditions affect fueel cosis and shipping, resulting m higher costs and delays for various types of supplies. These cost
increases and delays may affect our clinical material manufacturing which will likely have an adverse effect on our
financial condition. In addition, the effects of resg 1o inflationary conditions, such as significantly increased interesi
rates, on the coonomy and market conditions are difficult to predict. IF LS. or global cconomic, trade and financial
markel conditions continue 1o be challenged or volatile, or we do not effectively manage our response 1o these
conditions, our operations and financial condition could be adversely affected in a varicty of ways,

Unsiable muarket and economic condiiions may have serious adverse consequences on our ability io raise funds, which
may cause us fo delay, restruciure or cease our operations.

From time to time, global and domestic credit and financial markets have experienced extreme disruptions,
including severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in economic
growth, increases in unemployment rates, and uncenainy about economic stability, Recently, COVID-19 and the Russia-
Ukraine war have created volatility and uncerainty. Recent instability in the banking industry has added 1o the volatility
and uncertamty. Our financing strategy will be adversely affected by any such economic downtum, velatle business
environment and continued unpredictable and unstable market conditions. If the equity and credit markels deteriorate, it
may make a debt or equity [inancing more difficult 1o complete, cosilier, and more dilutive. Failure to secure any
necessary financing in a tumely manner and on favorable werms wall have a mateninl adverse effect on our business
strategy and financial performance, and could require us to cease or delay our operations,

Risks Related to Clinical Development and Regulatory Approval

We do wot have and may never have any approved products on the market. (ur business is highly dependent upon
receiving approvals from various UK, and international governmenial agencies and will be severely harmed if we are
waf granted approval to manufacture and sell our product condidates.

In order for us to commercialize any treatment for chemoradiation-induced SOM, cancer or any other discase
ndication, we must oblain regulatery approvals of such treatment for that indication. Satisfying regulatory requircments
is an expensive process that takes many years and involves compliance with requirements covering research and
development, testing, manufacturing, quality control, labeling and promotion of drugs for human use, To obtain
necessary regulatory approvals, we must, among other requirements, complete climical tnals demonsirating that our
products are safe and effective for a panticular indication. There can be no assurance that our products will prove 1o be
safe and cffective, that our clinical wials will demonstrate the necessary safery and effectivencss of our product
candidates, or that we will succeed in obtaining regulatory approval for any treatment we develop even if such safety and
effectivencss are demonstrated.

Any delays or difficuliies we encounter in our clinical trials may delay or preclude regulatory approval from the
FDA or from international regulatory organizations. Any delay or preclusion of regulatory approval would be expected to
delay or preclude the commercialization of our products, Examples of delays or difficultics that we may encoumer in our
clinical trials include without limitation the following:

& Clinical trials may not yield sufficiently conclusive results for regulatory agencies w approve the use of our
products,

& Our products may fail to be more ¢ffective than current therapies, or 1o be effective at all.

*  Wemay discover that our products have adverse side effects, which could cause our products to be delayed

or precluded from recenving regulatory approval or reduce the effective size of our target patient population
or otherwise expose us 1o significant commercial and legal risks,

®  li may take longer than cxpected to determine whether or not a treatment is safc and cffcctive.

»  Patients involved in our clinical trials may suffer severe adverse side effects even up to death, whether as a
result of with our prod the withholding of such treatment, or other reasons which may not
include the effects of our treatment (whether within or outside of our control).

& W may fuil to be able to enroll a sufficient number of patients in our clinical trials (o mect tnal statistical
plans and gain statistical significance, or it may take longer than expected to enroll.
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»  Patients enrolled in our clinical trials may not have the safety or efficacy characteristics necessary to obtain
regulatory approval for a particular indication or patient population,

- We may be unable to preduce sufficient quantifies of product to complete the clinical trials.

#®  Even if we are successful in our clinical trials, required governmental approvals may still not be obtaimed
or, if obtained, may nol be mainiained.

*  [f approval for commercialization is granted, it is possible the authorized use will be more limited than is
necessary for commercial success, or that approval may be conditioned on completion of furither clinical
trials or other activities, which will cause o substamtial increase in costs and which we might not suceeed in
performing or completing.

o If granted, approval may be withdrawn or limited if problems with our products emerge or are suggested by
the data arising from their use or if there is a change in law or regulation.

Any success we may achicve at a given stage of our clinical trials does not guarantee that we will achieve
success al any subsequent stage, including without limitation final FDA or other regulatory organizations’ approval.

We may encounter delays or rejections in the regulatory approval process because of additional govemment
regulation resulting from future legistation or administrative action, or from changes in the policies of the FDA or other
regulatory bodies during the period of product development, clinical tals, or regulatory review. Failure to comply with
applicable regulatory requirements may result in criminal prosecution, civil penalties, recall or sebure of proeducts, total
of partial suspension of production, or an injunction preventing certain activity, as well as other regulatory action against
our product candidates or us. As a company, we have no expenence in successflly obtaining regulatery approval for a
product and thus may be poorly equipped 1o gauge, and may prove unable to manage, risks relating to obtaining such
approval,

Outside the U.S., our ability to market a product is contingent upon receiving clearances from appropriate non-
LLS. regulatory authorities. Mon-U.S, regulatory approval typically includes all of the risks associated with FDA
clearance discussed above as well as geopolitical uncertaintics and the addivonal uncentaintics and potential prejudices
faced by LS. pharmaceutical companics conducting business abroad. In certain cases, governmental pricing resirictions
and practices can make achieving even limited profitability very difficult.

Even if we complete the clinical trials we discassed with the FDA, there is no guarantee that af the time af submission
the FDA will accept aur wew drig application (“NDA") based an the trials discussed,

The FDA provided guidance on our proposed VOICE trial, but the FDA is not bound by the guidance they give,
and can change their position in the future. Any future decision by the FDA will be driven largely by the data generated
from the VOICE clinical program. However, the FDA and other regulatory organizations will leam from their tolal
experience in the review of multiple drugs in multiple indications and they will apply the knowledge of broad and diverse
experience even il less than a perfect match with our product.

As a company, we have never completed a clinical trial and have limited experience in completing regulatory filings
and any delays in regulatory filings could materially affece our finawcial condition,

While members of our team have conducted numerous clinical trials ot previous companics, and have launched
and marketed innovative pharmaceutical products in the U.S. and internationally, as a company, we have not yet
completed any clinecal tnals of our product candidaies, nor have we demonstrated the ability o obtain marketing
approvals, manufacture product candidates a1 a commercial scale, or conduct sales and marketing activitics necessary for
the successful commercialization of a product. Consequently, we have no historical basis as a company by which one can
evaluate or predict reliably our future success or viability.

Additionally, while our team has expertence al prior companies with regulatory filings, as a company, we have
limited experience with regulatory (ilings with agencies such as the FDA or EMA. Any delay in our regulatory filings for
our product candidates, and any adverse development or perceived adverse development with respect 1o the applicable
regulatory authonty's review of such filings, including, without limiation, the FDA's issuance of a “refuse o file™ letter
or a request for additional information, could materially affeet our financial condition,
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We may seek fast frack designation for one ar more of our carvent and future product candidates, but we might mor
receive such designation, and even if we do, such designation may mot actwally lead to a faster development or
regulatory review or approval process,

Our lead prodect candidate. Validive, has been given fast track designation from the FDA. Fast track designation
does not ensure that we will receive marketing approval or that approval will be granted within any particular timeframe.
We may not experience a faster development, regulatory review or approval process with fast track designation
compared to conventional FDA procedures. Additionally, the FDA may withdraw fast track designation, for reasons such
a5 it comes (o believe a drug candidate no longer adequately addresses an unmet medical need. Fast track designation
alene does not guarantee qualification for the FDA’s priority review procedures. 1§ we seek fast wrack designation for
other product candidates, we may not receive such a designation from the FDA.

We, ar any future collaborators, may not be able to obtain and maintain orphan drug exclusivity for our product
candidutes in the U.S. and Europe.

Validive has been granted orphan drug designation for the treatment of SOM in the EU. Camsirubicin has been
granted orphan drug designation for the treatment of soft tissue sarcoma in the US. and in the EU. We may seck
additional orphan drug designations or regulatery incentives for our pipeline product candidates, for other indications or
for future product candidates. There can be no assurances that we will be able to obtain such designations.

Even if we obtain orphan drug designation for a product candidate, we may not be able 1o mamtam orphan drug
exclusivity for that drug. For example, orphan drug designation may be removed if the prevalence of an indication
increases beyond the patient number limit required w maintain designation. Generally, i a drug with an orphan drug
designation subsequently receives the first marketing approval for the indication for which it has such designation, the
drug is entitled to a peried of marketing exclusivity, which precludes the EMA or the FDA from approving another
marketing application for the same preduct in the same indication for that time penod. Orphan drug exclusivity may be
lost if the FDA or EMA determines that the request for designation was matenally defective or if the manufacturer is
unable to assure sufficient quantity at the specified quality of the product to meet the needs of patients with the rare
discase or condition. Marcover, even afier an orphan drug is approved, the FDA can subsequently approve a different
drug for the same condition if the FDA concludes that the later drug is climcally superior in that it is shown to be safer,
more cffective or makes a major contribution to paticnt care compared to our product.

The FDA may reevaluate the Orphan Drug Act and its regulatiens and policies, and similarly the EMA may
reevaluate its policies and regulations. We do not know if, when, or how the FD)XA or EMA may change their orphan drug
regulations and policies in the future, and it 15 uncertain how any changes might affect our business. Depending on what
changes the FDA andior EMA may make to their orphan drug regulations and policies, our business could be adversely
impacted.

If serious adverse or undexirable side effects are identified diring the development of our prodiict candidates, we may
abandon or imit our development or commercialization of such product candidates.

If our product candidates are associated with undesirable side effects or have unexpected charactenistics, we may
need to abandon their development or limit development to certain uses or subpopulations in which the undesirable side
effects or other charactenstics are less prevalent, less severe or more acceplable from a risk-benefit perspective.

IT we elect 1o o are forced to suspend or terminate any clinical trial with one of our product candidates, the
commencial prospects of such product candidate will be harmed, and our ability to generate revenue from such product
candidate will be delayed or eliminated. Any of these ocourrences may harm our business, financial condition and

prospects significantly.

With regard to our lead product candidate, unforescen side effects from Validive could arise either during
clinical development or, if approved, after Validive has been marketed. This could cause regulatory approvals for, or
market acceplance of, Validive 1o be harder and costlier o obtain,

To date, no difference in the frequency of serious adverse events (“SAEs") has been observed in patients treated
with Walidive compared to placebo, In the Phase 2 clinical trial, two patients in the placebo group and 2 patients in the
Validive 50 pg group cxperienced SAEs that were asscssed as treantment related. No patients in the Validive treated
cohorts were discontinued due to the study drug. Clonidine, the active ingredient of Validive, has been used for over 50
vears as an orally swallowed systemic treatment for high bleod pressure. Validive administration leads to very low, but
still detectable exposure of clonidine owiside the oral cavity. Thus, there is some risk thal patients may expenence side
effects due to this systemic exposure, which could include a reduction in blood pressure, immegular heartbeat, drowsiness
or dry mouth,




The results of our current or any future clinical trials may show that the side effects of Validive are unacceptable
or intolerable, which would interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials, and result in delay of, or failure to obtain, marketing
approval from the FDA or EMA and other regulatory suthorities, of result in marketing approval from the FDA or EMA
and other regulatory authorities with restrictive label warnings,

If Validive receives marketing approval and we or others later identify undesirable or unacceptable side effects
caused by the use of Validive:

+  regulstory auhorities may withdraw their approval of the preduct, which would force us to remove
Validive from the market;

*  regulatory authoritics may require the addition of labeling statements, specific warnings, a contraindication,
aor ficld alerts to physicians and pharmacies;

o we may be required to change instructions regarding the way the product is sdministered, conduct
additional climical tnals or change the labeling of the product;

* we may be subject to limitations on how we may promate the product;
*  sales of the product may decrease significantly:

®  we may be subject to litigation or product lisbility claims: and

&  our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us or our potential future collaborators from achieving or maintaining market
acceptance of Validive andior could substantially increase commercialization costs and expenses, which in wm could
delay or prevent us from generating significant revenucs from the sale of Validive.

As with any clinical trial, our VOVCE clinfcal program entails significant visk af not meeting clinical endpoints. If the
results of VINCE are nof statistically significant, the FDA will likely mot approve Validive for marketing which will
resulf in a decrease in our stock price and market value.

The VOICE clinical program has been designed based on an analysis of the 64 oropharvngeal cancer (“OPC™)
patients included in the Phase 2 trial (n= 24 in the placebo group, n= 21 Validive 50 pg group, and n= 19 Validive 100
pg group), While a dose response was observed in the Validive treated OPC cohonts compared 1o placebo across multiple
clinically meaningful endpoints, the ability to establish statistical significance was limited by the relatively small sample
size. This increases the risk that the VOICE trisl may not achicve its prospectively defined endpoints. VOICE includes an
interim analysis after the 2b portion that allows for an assessment of the primary (and only) endpoint, incidence of SOM,

fore proceeding to the Phase 3 portion of the trial. This interim analysis, and the resulting go/no-go decision about
whether io proceed 1o the Phase 3 poriion of the inal, is expected by the end of March 2023 If the mterim analysis
resiilts in a no-go decision, we would need lo reconsider our efforts with respeet to Validive and refocus our
developiment ¢ffors on our other product candidates. Validive has been our lead product candidate 1o date and is the most
clinically advanced. and if we had to reconsider or abandon our effors, it would likely materially adversely impact our
financing prospects, as well as the price of our common stock. Because the interim analysis is being performed by an
independent data monitoring committee, we do not know what the results will be as of the date of this Annual Report,
Assuming positive results from the mterim analysis and that we fully proceed to the Phase 3 portion of the tnal, we may
also be required by the FDA to conduct a second Phase 3 confirmatory clinical trial which may not yield the same resulis.
If our VOICE clinical trial results are not statistically significant, the FDA will likely not approve Validive for marketing,
which willl result in a decrease in our stock price and market value,

If we experience delays or difficilties in the enrollment of subjecis to our clinfcal irials, eur receipt of necessary
regilatory approvals could be delayed or prevented, which could materially affect owr financial condition.

Identifying. screening and enrolling patients 1o participate in clinical trials of our product candidates is critical o
our success, and we may not be able to identify, recruil, enroll and dose a sulficien! number of patients with the required
or desired charactenistics (o complete our clinical rials in a timely manner, The timing of our clinical tnals depends on
our ability to recruit paticnis to participate as well as to subsequently dose these patients and complete required follow-up
periods. In particular, because our currend clinical trials of Validive and camsirubicin are focused on indications with
relatively small patient populations, our ability to enroll eligible patients may be limited or may result in slower
enrollment than we anticipale,

In pddition, we may experience enroliment delays related to increased or unforcseen regulmtory, legal and
logistical requirements and COVID- | %related 1ssucs at cortain clinical tnal sites. These delays could be caused by
reviews by regulatory authoritics and contractual discussions with individual chinical trial sites. Any delays in enrolling
and'or dosing patients in our current clinical trals could result in increased costs, delays in advancing our product
candidates, delays in testing the effectiveness of our product candidates or in termination of the clinical trials altogether.
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Patient enroliment may be affected if our competitors have ongoimng clinical trials with products for the same
indications as our product candidates, and patients who would otherwise be eligible for our clinical trials instead enroll in
our competitors’ clinical trials, Patient enrollment may also be affected by other factors, including:

»  delays in U.S. or foreign regulaiory approvals to start the clinical trial;

&  coordination with clinical research organizations to cnroll and administer the clinical trials;
e coordination and recruitment of collaborators and investigators at individual sites;

®  sizc of the patient population and the effectivencss of the process for identifying paticnts;
& design of the clinical tral protocol;

& eligibility and exclusion criteria;

&  perceived therapeutic risks and benefits of the product candidates under study;

*»  avalability of competing commercially available therapies and other competing products” clinical trials;
o time of yvear in which the trials are initiated or conducted,

@  severily and prognosis of the diseases under investigation;

& ability to obtain and maintan subject consents;

& ability to enroll and treat patients in a timely manner:

s risk that enrolled subjects will drop out before completion of the inals;
& proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective patients;
*  ability to monitor subjects adequately during and afler treatment;

®  paticnt referral practices of physicians; and

®  potential long-term effects of COVID-19.

Chir inability to enroll & sufficient number of patients for clinical trials would result in significant delays and
could require us to abandon one or more clinical trials altogether, Enrollment delays in these clinical trials may result in
incressed development costs for our product candidates, which could materinlly affect our financial condition.

If we or onr licensees, development colluborators, or suppliers are wnable to manufacture our products in sufficient
quantities or at defined quality specifications, or are unable to obtain regulatory approvals for the manufacturing
Sacility, we may be unable to develop andior meet demand for onr products and lose time io market and potential

Fevennes.

Completion of our clinical trials and commercialization of our product candidates require access 1o, or
development of, facilitics 10 manufacture a sufficient supply of our product candidates. We will wtilize third panies 1o
manufacture Validive, camsinbicin, and MNPR-101. We currently have manufacturing armangements for Validive und
camsirubicin. W have not yet secured manufacturing agreements for MNPR-101-Zr, MNPR-101 RIT or MNPR-202,

In the future we may become unable, for various reasons, to rely on our sources for the manufacture of our

candidates, cither for clinical trials or, a1 some future date, for commercial distribution. We may not be
successful in identifying additional or replacement third-party manufacturers, or in negotiating acceptable terms with any
we do identify. We may face competition for sccess 1o these manufacturers’ facilities and may be subject to
manufacturing delays if the manufacturers give other cliems higher priority than they give 1o us. Even if we are able to
identify an additional or replacement third-party manufacturer, the delays and costs associated with establishing and
maintaining a relationship with such manufaciurer may have a material adverse effiect on us.

Before we can begin to commercially manufacture Validive, camsirubicin, MNPR-101-Zr, MNPR-101 RIT,
MNPR-202 or any other product candidate, we must obtain regulatory approval of the manufaciuring facility and
process, Manufacturing of drugs for clinical and commercial purposes must comply with current Good Manufacturing
Practices requirements, commonly known as “cGMP.” The c¢GMP requirements govern quality control and
documentation policies and procedures. Complying with ¢GMP and non-11.5, regulatory requirements will require that
we expend time, money, and effort in production. recordkeeping. and quality control 1o ensure that the product mects
applicable specifications and other requirements. W, or our contracted manufacturing facility, must also pass a pre-
approval mspection prior to FDA approval. Failure to pass a pre-approval inspection will likely significantly delay or
prevent FDA approval of our products. If we fail 1o comply with these requirements, we would be subject o possible
regulatory action and may be limited in the jurisdictions in which we are permitied 1o sell our products and will lose fime
to market and potential revenues.
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It ix uncertain whether product lability insurance will be adequate to address product lability claims, or that
insurance against such claims will be affordable ar available on acceptable terms in the future.

Chinical rescarch involves the testing of new drugs on human volunteers pursuant to a clinical trial protocol.
Such testing involves a risk of liability for personal injury to or death of paticnts due 1o, among other causes, adverse side
effects, improper administration of the new drug. or improper volunteer behavior. Claims may anse from patients,
clinical irial volunteers, consumers, physicians, hospitals, companics, institutions, rescarchers, or others using, selling, or
buying our products, as well as from govenmental bodies including a possibility in some states for product liability
claims being made based on generic copics of our drugs. In addition, product liability and related nisks are likely to
increase over time, in particular upon the commercialization or marketing of any products by us or parties with which we
enter into development, marketing, or distnbution cellaborations. Although we have obtained product lability insurance
in connection with our clinical trials, there can be no assurance that the amount and scope of such insurance coverage
will be appropriate and sufficient in the event any claims arise, that we will be able to secure additional coverage should
we atempt 1o do so, or that our insurers would not contest or refuse any attempt by us to collect on such insurance
policies. Regardless of their ment or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in:

*  withdrwal of clinical 1ral voluntesrs:

®  decreased demand for our products when approved;

& injury to our reputation and significant, adverse media attention: and

»  potentially significant litigation costs, including without limitation, any damages awarded to the plaintiffs if

we lose or seltle claims,

If thie market apportunities for our current and patentiol futire drug candidates are smaller than we believe they are,
our ability to generate product revenies will be adversely affected and our business may suffer.

O understanding of the number of people who suffer from SOM resulting from CRT for the treatment of OPC,
whom Validive may have the potential to treal, is based upon estimates and on varnous reports [rom governments or
medical insiitutions. These estimates or reports may prove to be incorrect, and new studies may demonstrale or suggest a
lower estimated incidence or prevalence of this condition, The number of paticnts in the LS. or elsewhere may fum oul
to be bower than expected, may not be otherwise amenable 1o Validive treatment, or treatment-amenable paticnts may
become increasingly difficult to identify and access, all of which would adversely affect our business prospects and
financial condition. In partecular, the treatable population for Validive may further be reduced if our cstimates of
addressable populations are ermoneous of sub-popslations of patients within the addressable population do not derive
benefil from Validive.

Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties

Corparate, non-profis, and academic collaborators may take actions fincluding lack of effeciive actions) fo delay,
prevent, or undermine the success of our prodices.

Chur operating and financial strategy for the development, clinical testing. manufacture, and commercialization of
product candidates is heavily dependent on us entering into collaborations with corporations, non-profil organizations,
academic institutions, licensors, licensecs, and other partics, There can be no assurance thay we will be successful in
cstablishing such collzborations. Current and firture collaborations arc and may be terminable at the sole discretion of the
collaborator. The sctivitics of any collaborator will not be within our dircet control and may not be in our power (o
influence. There can be no assurance that any collaborator will perform its obligations to our satisfaction or at all; that we
will dertve any revenue, profits, or benefil from such collaborations; or that any collaborator wall not compete with us. If
any collaboration is nol pursued, we may require substantially greater capital 1o undertake development and
commercialization of our propoesed products, and may not be able o develop and commercialize such products
cffectively, if at all, In addition, a lack of development and commercialization collaborations may lead to significant
delays in introducing propesed products into corain markets and/or reduced sales of proposed products in such markets,
Furthermeore, current and future collaborators may act deliberately or inadvertently in ways detrimental to our interests.

The termination of third-party licenses could adversely affect our rights o important compounds or technologies.

We have exercised our option o license Validive; as such, Onxeo has the ability w0 terminate the license if we
breach our obligations under the license agreement. A termination of the lieense agreement might force us to cease
developing and'or selling Validive, if it gets 1o market. We rely on certain rights to MNPR-101 that we have secured
through a non-exclusive license agreement with XOMA. XOMA, as licensor, has the ability 10 terminate the license if we
breach our obligations under the license agreement and do not remedy any such breach within a set time after receiving
written notice of such breach from XOMA. A termination of the license agreement might force us 1o cease developing
and/or selling MNPR-101-Zr or MNPR-101 RIT, i it gets 10 market.
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Data provided by collabarators and other parties upon which we rely have not been independently verified and could
turn out fo be inacewrate, misieading, or incomplere,

We rely on third-party vendors, scientists, and collaborators 1o provide us with significamt data and other
mformation related 10 our projects, clinical trals, and business. We do nol independently verify or audit all of such data
{including possibly material portions thereof). As a resull, such data may be inaccurate, misleading, or incomplete.

fin certain cases, we may need to rely on a single supplier for @ particular manufaciuring maierial or service, and any
inferruption in or termination of service by such supplier could delay or disrupt the commercialization of owr
products.

We rely on third-party suppliers for the materials used 1o manufacture our compotnds. Some of these materials
may at times only be available from one supplier. Any interruption in or termination of service by such single source
supplicrs could result in a delay or disruption in manufacturing unatil we locate an alternative source of supply. There can
be no assurance that we would be successful in locating an alternative source of supply or in negotiating acceptable terms
with such prospective supplier.

Cur Validive manufacturer is fn the United Kingdom (“UK"), and it is wiknows in the long-tevm how they will be
impacted by Brexit; however, if they are negatively impacted, this could increase our manifacturing cosis, delfvery
schedules, and adversely impact our financial condition.

The UK lefi the Evropean Union (“EU™) on Jenuary 31, 2020, which is commonly referred to as “Brexit.” The
full long-term impact of Brexit, however, remains uncertain. Our Validive manufucturer may be negatively affected by
interest rate, exchange rate and other markel and economic volatility, as well as regulatory and political uncertainty. The
1ax consequences of the UK's withdrawal from the EL are uncerain as well. If Brexit has a detrimental effect on our
Validive manufacturer. it could, in tum, adversely impact our manufacturing costs and financial condition.

We rely on a limited number of contracied manufacturing plants. If we need fo enlist new comfract manufaciurers, it
will delay our camsirubicin clinical program and may increase onr cost for our Phase b and future camsivabicin
clinical trials.

Cur contracted camsirubicin active pharmaceutical ingredient manufacturing plant and our contracted raw
materials menufacturing plant are in countrics in Asia and Europe, cither of which may be affected by imposed tanfls
and regional geopolitical factors outside of their control, including the Russia-Ukrine war, which may affect the supply
of camsirubicin active pharmaccutical ingredient and raw matenals, If we need 1o enlist new contract manufacturers, it
will delay our camsirubicin clinical program and may increase our cost for our Phase 1b and fuiure camsirwbicin clinical
trials.

We rely on third parties to conduct our non-clinical studies and our clinical irfals, If these third parties do ot
successfilly carry out their contractival duties or meet expecied deadlines, we may be unable to obtain regulatory
approval for or commercialize our current product candidates or any future products, on a fimely and efficient basis
wr af all, and our financial condition will be adversely affecied.

We do not have the capacity 1o independemly conduct non-clinical studies and clinical rials, We rely on medical
institutions, clinical investigators, contract laborstorics, collaborative partners and other third partics, such as contract
research organizations of clinical research organizations, 1o conduct non-clinical studies and clinical trials on our product
candidates. The third parties with whom we contract for execution of our non-clinical studies and elinical trals play a
significant role in the conduct of these studies and trials and the subsequent collection and analysis of data. However,
these third parties are not our employees, and except for contracival duties and obligations, we have limited ability to
conirol the amount or timing of resources that they devole to our programs.

Although we rely on third partics to conduct our non-clinical studies and clinical trials, we remain responsible
for ensuning that cach of our non-clinical studics and clinical trials is conducted in accordance with its investigational
plan and protocol. Moreover, the FDA, EMA and other foreign regulatory sutherities require us to comply with
regulations. and standards, inchading some regulations commonly referred to as good clinical practices (“GCPs™), for
conducting, monitoring, recording and reporting the resulis of clinical tnals to ensure that the data and resulis are
scientifically credible and accurate, and that the trial subjects are sdequaicly informed of the potential nsks of
participating in clinical trials.
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In addition, the exceution of non-clinical studies and clinical trials, and the subsequent compilation and analyses
of the dia produced, requires coordination among various parties. In order for these functions to be camied owt
effectively and efficiently, it 15 imperative that these parties communicate and coordinate with one another, Moreover,
these third partics may alse have relationships with other commercial entitics, some of which may compete with us.
Under cortam circumstances, these third parties may be able to terminate their agreements with us upon short notice, If
the third partics conducting our chnical trials do not perform their contractual duties or obligations, experience work
stoppages, do not mect expected deadlines, terminate their agreements with us or nced to be replaced, or if the quality or
accuracy of the clinical data they obtain 15 compromised due to the failure 10 adhere 10 our clinical wial protocols or
GCPs, or for any other reason, we may need to enter into new amrangements with afternative third parties, which could be
difficult, costly or impossible, and our clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated or may need 1o be repeated.
If any of the foregoing were to occur, we may nol be able 1o obiain, on a timely and efficient basiz or w all, regulatory

wal for or to commercialize the product candidate being tested in such trials, and as a result, our financial condition
will be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Commercialization of Our Product Candidates

We have no experience as a company in commercializing any produce. If we fail fo obiain commercial expertise, upon
product approval by regalatory agencies, ouwr prodict launch and reveniues could be delayed.

As a company, we have never obtained regulatory approval for, or commercialized, any product. Accordingly,
we have not yet begun to build out any sales or marketing or distribution capabilities. If we are unable to establish, or
contract for, effective sales and marketing and distribution capabilitics, or if we are unable to enter into agreements with
third parties to commercialize our product candidates on favorable terms or on any reasonable terms at all, we mav not be
able to effectively generate product revenues once our product candidates are approved for marketing. If we fail to obtain
commercial expertise or capabilitics, upon drug approval, our product launch and subsequent revenues could be delayed
and for fail to reach their commercial potential.

Qur product developent efforis are at an carly stage. We have not yet underfaken any markefing effores, and there
cait be io assurance that futwre anticipaied market testing and analyses will validate our marketing strategy. We may
need te modify the produces, or we may et be suceessfil in cither developing or marketing those products,

As a company, we have not pleted the develoy or clinical trials of any product candidates and,
accordingly, have not vet begun to market or generate revenue from the commercialization of any products. Obtaining
approvals of these product candidates will require substantial additional rescarch and development as well as cestly
clinical trials. There can be no assurance that we will successfully complete development of our product candidates or
successfully market them. We may encounter problems and delays relating 10 rescarch and development, regulatory
approval, intellectual propenty rights of product candidaes, or other factors. There can be no assurance that our
development programs will be successful. that our product candidates will prove to be safe and effective in or after
clinical trials, that the necessary regulatory approvals for any product candidaies will be obtained, or, even if obiained,
will be as broad as sought or will be maintained for any period thereafter, that patents will issue on our patent
applications, that any intellectual propenty protections we secure will be adequate, or that our collaboration ammangements
will not diminish the value of our intelleetual property through licensing or other arrangements. Furthermore, there can
be no assurance that any product we might market will be received favorably by customers (whether physicians, pavers,
patients, or all three), adequately reimbursed by third-party payers, or that competitive products will not perform better
and‘or be marketed more successfully. Additionally, there can be no assurances that any future market testing and
analyses will validate our marketing strategies. We may need 1o seek to modily the product labels through additional
studies in order 1o be able to marker them successfully to reach their commercial potential.

If we are unable to establish relationships with Neensees or collaborators to carry out soles, marketing, and
distribution functions or fo create offective marketing, sales, and distribution capabilities, we will be unable (o market
our praducts successfully.

Our business strategy may include out-hi ing product lid 0 or collaborating with larger firms with
experience in marketing and selling pharmaceutical products. There can be no assurance that we will successfully be able
to establish marketing, sales, or distribution relationships with any third-party. that such relationships, if established, will
be suceessful, or that we will be successful in gaining market acceplance for any products we might develop. To the
extent that we enter into any marketing, sales, or distnibution arrangements with third panies, our product revenues per
unit sold are expected to be lower than if we marketed, sold, and distributed our products directly, and any revenues we
receive will depend upon the efforts of such third partics.

If we are unable to establish such third-party marketing and sales relationships, or choose not to do =0, we would
have lo establish in-house marketing and sales capabilities. We have no experience in marketing or selling oncology
pharmaceutical products, and currently have no marketing, sales, or distribution infrastructure and no experience
developing or managing such infrastructure for an oncology related product. To market any products dircetly, we would
have to establish a marketing, sales, and distribution force that has technical expertise and could support a distnbution
capability. Competition in the biopharmaceutical industry for technically proficient marketing, sales, and distribution
personne] is intense and attracting and retaining such personnel may significantly increase our costs, There can be no
assurance that we will be able to establish internal marketing, sales, or distribution capabilities or that these capabilities
will be sufficient to mect our needs,
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Commercial success of onr product candidates will depend on the acceptance of these products by physicians, payers,
and patients.

Any product candidate that we may develop may not gain market acceptance among physicians, pavers and
patients. Market acceptance of and demand for any product that we may develop will depend on many factors, including
without limitation:

*  Comparative superiority of the efficacy and safety in the of the di wndication ed 1o

alternative treatments;

L

Less incidence, less prevalence and more severity of adverse side effects;

Potential advantages over altemative treatments;

Cost ellectiveness:

Convenience and case of administration, stability and shelf life, for distributor, physician and paticnt;
Sufficient third-party coverage and'or reimbursement;

Strength of sales. marketing and distribution support; and

Our ability to provide acceptable and compelling evidence of safety and efficacy.

If any product candidate developed by us receives regulatory approval but does not achicve an adequate level of
markel acceptance by physicians, pavers, and patients, we may generate insufficient, little, or no product revenue to eam
appropriate returmns on the investment of product development costs and may not become profitable at sufficient product
sales volumes to cam sustainable profitability.

Cur products may nof be accepred for refmbursement or adequately reimbursed by third-party payers,

The successful commercialization of any products we might develop will depend substantially on whether the
costs of our products and rclated treatments are reimbursed at scceptable levels by government authoritics, private
healtheare insurers, and other third-party payers, such as healih maintenance organizations. Reimbursement rates may
vary, depending upon the third-party paver, the type of insurance plan, and other similar or dissimilar factors. If our
products do not achicve adequate reimbursement, then the number of physician prescriptions of our products may not be
sufficient to make our products profitable, and to eam a sulficient profit to cam a reasonable relum en our investmeni
and a provide a cash flow to finance future investments on the next generation of products and investments in new
techmological platforms,

Comparative effectiveness rescarch demonstrating benefits of a competitor’s product could adversely affect the
sales of our product candidates, If third-party payers do not consider our products to be cost-effective compared to other
available therapies, they may not cover our products as a benefit under their plans or, if they do, the level of payment
may not be sufficient to allow us to sell our products on a profitable basis sufficient for our Company 10 remain
competitive and thrive,

Adeguate third-party reimbursement may not be available to enable us W maintain price levels sufficient to
realize an appropriate retum on our investment m the product development of that product. In addition, in the U.S. there
is a growing emphasis on comparative effectiveness research, both by private payers and by government agencies. To the
extent other dmugs or therapies are found to be more effective than our products, payers may clect w cover such therapies
in lieu of our products or reimburse our products a1 a lower rte.

The effects af economic and political pressure to lower pharmacewtical prices are a mafor threat o the economic
viability of new research-based pharmacentival produces, and any significant decrease in drag prices could materially
and adversely affect our prospecis.

Emphasis on managed care and government price controls in the ULS, has increased and we expect this wall
continue to mcrease the pressure on pharmaceutical pcing. Coverage policies and third-party reimbursement rates may
change at any time, Even if favorable coverage and reimbursement status is anained for onc or more products for which
Ilgr'e receive regulatory approval, less favorable coverage policies and reimbursement rates may be implemented in the

uture.

Any development along these lines could materially and adversely affect our prospects. Wi are unable 1o predici
what political, legislative or regulatory changes relating to the healtheare industry, including without limitation any
changes affecting governmental and‘or private or third-party coverage and reimbursement, may be enacted in the future,
or what cffect such legislative or regulatory changes would have en our business, However, if governmental price
management does not provide for the very high price of pharmaceutical rescarch, it could create very demanding
challenges for our industry and our prospects or require breakthroughs in research productivity, of which there can be no
ASSUFANCE.
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If we obtain FIA approval for any of our product candidates, we will be subject fo various federal and state fraowd and
abuse lmws; these laws may impact, among other things, our proposed sofes, marketing and education programs,
Fraud and abuse laws are expected to increase in breadel and in detail, which will likely increase our operating costs
and the conplexity af oy programs fo ensire compliance with siuch enhaniced laws,

If we obtain FDIA approval for any of our product candidates and begin commercializing those products in the
LS., our operations may be directly, or indirectly through our customers, distnbuters, or other business pariners, subject
1o various federal and state fraud and abuse laws, including, without limitation, anti-kickback statutes and false claims
statutes which may increase our operating costs. These laws may impact, among other things, our proposed sules,
marketing and education programs. In addition, we may be subject 1o data privacy and security regulation by both the
federal government and the states in which we conduct business,

If our aperations are fouwd to be in violation of any of the federal and state frand and abuse laws or any other
govermmenfal regulations that apply fo us, we may be subfect fo criminal actions awd significont civil monefary
pemalties, which wouwld adversely affect our ability te operate our business and our rexults af aperations.

IF our operations are found to be in violation, even inadvertemly, of any of the federal and state fraud and abuse
laws, including, without limitation, anti-kickback statutes and false claims statutes or any other governmental regulations
that apply to us, we may be subject to penalties, including eriminal and significant civil monctary penaltics, damages,
fines, imprsonment, exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs, and the curtailment or
restructuning of our operations, any of which could uducr;cly alfect our ability to operate our business and our results of
operations. To the extent that any of our product candidates are ultimately sold in a foreign couniry, we may be subject to
similar foreign laws and regulations, which may include, for instance, applicable post-marketing requirements, including
safery surveillance, anti-fraud and abuse laws, and implementation of corporate compliance programs and reporting of
pavments or transfers of value to healthcare professionals.

Negotiated prices for our produces covered by a Part I} prescription drug plan and other government programs will be
lower than the prices we might etherwise obtain.

Government payvment for some of the costs of prescription drugs may increase demand for our products for
which we receive marketing approval; however, any negotiated prices for our products covered by a Pant D prescription
drug plan and ather government programs will be lower than the prices we might otherwise obtain. We anticipate that the
number and type of products that will be subject to federal pricing will increase substantially over ime. There may be
rules to demand that the government and medical institutions, which are in pari supporied by govermment funding, will
be granted access fo medicines al the same highly favorable prices given to the governmental direct medical care
programs.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

{f we and our thivd-party licensors do nof obtain and preserve protection for our respective intellectual property rights,
our competitors may be able to take advantage of our (and our ficensors') development efforts to develop competing
drugs.

Our commercial success will depend in pant on obtaming patent protection for any products and other
technologics we might develop, and successfully defending any patents we obtain against third-party challenges. We
have licensed all imellectual property related 10 Validive from Onxeo S.A., a French public company. See “Business
License, Development and Collaboration Agreements”. The assignment and transfer of the camsirubicin {formerdy GPX-
150) patent portfolio from TacticGem, LLC (“TacticGem™) o us has been completed. We filed and have been granted in
the LS, and various countries around the world patenis for antibodies that target uPAR for our MNPR-101 program. We
huve also been granted in the ULS. and vanous countries around the world patents to a specific sequence of anuno acids
on uPAR, to which our MNPR-101 amibody binds. We are currently prosccuting this patent in other countries around the
waorld to further protect MNPR-101. We also have jointly applicd for patemts with our collsborator, NorthStar, for
MNPR-101-Zr and MNPR-101 RIT conjugates. The patent process is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, and
there can be no assurance that we will be successful in obtaining and defending patents. See “Busi = Intellectual
Property Portfolio and Exclusivity™. These risks and uncertamties include without limitation the following:

®  Patents that may be issued or licensed may be challenged, invalidated, or circumvented; or may not provide
any competitive advantage for other reasons.

&  Our licensors may terminale of breach our existing or future license agreements, thereby reducing or
preventing oar ability to exclude competition; termination of such license agreements may also subject us
to risk of patent infringement of patenis to which we no longer have a license,
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®  Our competitors, many of which have substantially greater resources than us and have made significant
investments in competing technologies, may seck, or may already have obtained, patents that will limit,
interfere with, or climinate our ability to make, use, and sell our potential products cither in the LS. or in
international markets,

#*  As a matier of public policy regarding worldwide health concems, there may be significant pressure on the
U8, government and other mternational governmental bodies to limit the scope of domestic and
i wonal patent pr on for cancer treatments that prove successiul.

»  Couniries other than the ULS. may have less restrictive patent laws than those upheld by the ULS, courts:
therefore, non-U.S. competitors could exploit these laws to create, develop, and market competing
products. In some countrigs, the legal comphance with ph utical patent applications and
ather intellectual property regulations is very weak or actively evaded in some cases with government aid.

In addition, the U.5. Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO™) and patent offices in other jurisdictions have often
required that patent applications concerning pharmmacewtical and'or biotechnology-related inventions be limited or
narrowed substantially to cover only the specific innovations exemplified in the patent application, thereby limiting their
seope of protection against competitive challenges. Thus, even if we or our hicensors are able (o oblain patenis, the scope
of the patents may be substantially narrower than anticipated.

If we permit our patents to lapse or expire, we will not be protecied and will have less of a competitive
advantage. The valee of our products may be greatly reduced if this occurs. Our patents expire at different times and are
subject to the laws of multiple countries. Some of our patents are currently near expiration and we may pursue patent
term extensions for these where appropriate, See “Business - Intellectual Property Portfolio and Exclusivity™,

In addition to patents, we also rely on trade secrets and proprictary know-how, While we take measures to
protect this information by entering into confidentiality and invention agreements with our employvees, consultants and
collaborators, we cannot provide any assurances that these agreements will be fully enforceable and will nod be breached,
that we will be able to protect oursclves from the harmful effects of disclosure if they are not fully enforceable or are
breached, that any remedy for a breach will adequately compensate us, that these agreements will achieve their intended
aims, or that our trade secrets will not otherwise become known or be independently discovered by competitors.
Enforcing a claim that a panty illegally disclosed or misappropnated a trade secret is difficult, expensive and time-
consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some couns inside and owtside the U.S,, are less willing or
unwilling to protect trade secrets. If any of our trade scerets were 10 be lawfully obtained or independemly developed by
a competitor, wie would have no right to prevent them from using that technology or information to compete with us. 1f
any of our trade scerets were to be disclosed 1o or independently developed by a competitor, our competitive pasition
would be harmed, and the value of the trade secrets may be greatly reduced.

The patent protection we obiain and preserve for our product candidates may not be sufficient to provide us with any
waierial competitive advaniage.

We may be subject to competition despite the existence of intellectual property we license or own. We can give
no assurances that our intellectual property claims will be sufficient to prevent third partics from designing around
patents we own or license and developing und commercializing competitive products. The existence of competitive
products that avord our intellectual property could matenially sdversely affect our operating results and financial
condition. Furthermore, limitations, or perceived limitations, in our intellectual property may limit the interest of third
parties to partner, collaborate or otherwise transact with us, if thind parties perceive a higher than acceptable nisk to
commercialization of our products or future products. When looking at our Validive patents” ability 1o block competition,
the protection offered by our patents may be, o some extent, more limited than the protection provided by patents
claiming the composition of matter of entirely new chemical structures previously unknown. If 4 competitor were able to
successfully design around any methed of use and formulation patents we may have now or in the future, it is highly
likely that our business and competitive advantage would be adversely affected.

Patent terms may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on our product candidates for an adeguate amount
af e If this eccurs, our competitive position, business, financial condition, results of aperations, and prospects
wourld be materially harmed,

Patents have a limited lifespan. In the LIS, if all maintenance fees are timely paid, the natural expiration of a
patent is generally 20 years from its carliest U.S. non-provisional fling date. Various exlensions may be available, but
the life of a patent. and the protection it affords, is limited. Even if patents covering our product candidates are oblained,
once the patent life has expired for a product candidate, wie may be open to competition from competitive medications,
mcluding genenic medications, Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of
new product candidafes, patents protecting such product candidates might expire before or shortly afier such product
candidates are commercialized. As a result, our owned and licensed patent porifolio may not provide us with sufficient
rights to exclude others from mmmmiﬂ]iring product candidates similar or identical to ours.
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Depending upon the timing, duration and conditions of any FIXA marketing approval of our product candidates,
one or more of our U.S. patents may be cligible for limited patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition and
Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, referred to as the Hatch-Waxman Amendments, and similar legistation in the
European Union. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments pormit a patent term extension of up o five years for a patent
covering an approved product as compensation for effective patent term lest during product development and the FDA
regulalory review process. However, we may not receive an extension il we fail 1o exercise due diligence dunng the
testing phase or regulatory review process, fail to apply within applicable deadlines, fail to apply prior to expiration of
relevani paients or atherwise fail 1o satisfy applicable requirements. Moreover, the length of the extension could be less
than we request. Only one patent per approved product can be exiended, the extension cannot extend the total patent term
beyond 14 vears from approval and only those claims covering the approved drug, a method for using it or a method for
manufacturing it may be extended. If we are unable to obtain patent term extension of the term of any such cxtension is
less than we request. the period during which we can enforce our patent rights for the applicable product candidate will
be shortened and our competitors may obiain approval to market competing products sooner. As a result, our revenue
from applicable products could be reduced. Further, if this oceurs, our competitors may take advantage of our investment
in development and trials by referencing our clinical and preclinical data and launch their product carlier than might
otherwise be the case, and our competitive position, business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects
would be materially harmed.

lutellectival property disputes conld reguire us 1o spend time and money 1o address such disputes and could it our
intellecinal properiy rights.

The biopharmaceutical industry has been characterized by extensive litigation regarding patents and other
intellecal propenty rights, and companics have employed intellecal property litigation and USPTO  post-grant
proceedings 1o gain 3 competitive advaniage. We may become subject to infringement elaims or litigation arising out of
patents and pending applications of our competitors, or additional interference proceedings declared by the USPTO to
determing the prionity and patentabality of inventions. The defense and prosecution of intellectual property suits, USPTO
proceedings, and related legal and adminisirative proceedings are costly and time-consuming to pursue, and their
ouicome is uncerfain, Litigation may be necessary to enforce our issued patents, to protect our trade secrets and know-
how, or to determine the enforceability, scope, and validity of the proprictary nights of athers. An adverse determination
in lingation or USPTO post-grant and interference proceedings to which we may become a party could subject us to
significant linbilitics, require us to obtain licenses from third panics, or restrict or prevent us from selling our products in
certain markets. Even if a given patent or intellectual property dispute were settled through licensing or similar
arrangements, our costs associated with such arrangements may be substantial and could mclude the payment by us of
large, fixed payments and ongoing rovalties. Furthermore, the necessary licenses may not be available on satisfactory
terms or ai all, Even where we have menitorions claims or defenses, the costs of litigation may prevent us from pursaing
these claims or defenses and’or may require extensive financial and personnel resources o pursue these claims or
defenses, In addition, it is pessible there may be defects of form in our current and future patents that could result in our
inability to deferd the intended claims, Intellectual property disputes arising from the aforcmentioned factors, or other
factors, may materially harm our business.

We may not be able to enforce our intellectal property rights throughout the world,

The laws of some forcign countries do not profect intellectual property rights 1o the same extent as the laws of
the U.S. Companies have encountered significamt problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in
certain forcign jurisdictions, The legal systems of some countrics, particularly develeping countries, do not favor the
enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, especially those relating to life sciences, This could
make it difficult for us 1o stop the infringement of our patents or the misappropriation of our other intellectual property
nights. For example, many foreign countries have compulsory licensing lows under which a patent owner must grant
licenses o third parties, In addition, many couniries limit the enforceability of patents against third paries. including
government agencies or government contractors, In these countries, patents may provide limited or no benefil,

Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions, whether or not successful, could result in
substantial costs and divent our ¢fforts and attention from other aspects of our business. Furthermore, while we intend to
protect our intellectual property rights in our expected significant markets, we cannol ensure that we will be able to
initiate or maintain similar efforts in all jurisdictions in which we may wish to market Validive or any future products.
Accordinglv, our efforts 1o protect our infellectual property nights in such countries may be inadequate, In addition,
changes in the law and legal decisions by courts in the US. and forcign countrics may affoct our ability to obtain and
enforce adequate intellectual propenty protection for our products and technology.
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Changes o the patent law in the UK, and other jurisdictions could diminish the value of patenis in general, thereby
impairing our ability to protect our producet candidates,

As is the case with other biopharmaceutical companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property,
particularly patents. Obtaining and enforcing patents in the biopharmaceunical industry mvolves both rechnological and
legal diligence and complexity, Therefore, obfaining and enforcing biopharmaceutical patents is costly, time consuming
and inherently uncertain. In addition, the U.S. has recently enacted and is currently implementing wide ranging patent
reform legislation. The LS. Supreme Count has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, cither narrowing the scope
of patent protection available in certain circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. In
addition 1o increasing uncentainty with regard 1o ouwr ability o obtain patents in the future, this combination of events has
cremed uncertainty with respect (o the value of patents once obtained. Depending on future actions by the U5, Congress,
the fiederal cousts and the USPTO, as well as other jurisdictions around the world, the laws and regulations governing
patents could change in unpredictable ways that would weaken our ability to obtain new patents o 10 enforce our
existing patents and patents that we might obtain in the future.

Obtaining and firtaining our patent ,mm'rﬁm d'fmdt on comipliance with various procedural, docimient
submission , few payment and other requir d by gover) tarl patent agencies, amd our patent profection
could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.

The USPTO and vanous foreign gmemmenml patent agencies require compliance with 2 number of procedural,
documentary, fee payment and other plmlsmm during the patent process, There are situations in which noncompliance
due 10 issues bevond our control, can result in abandonment o lapse of a patent or patent application, resulting in parial
or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant junsdiction. In such an cvent, competitors might be able to enter the
market earlier than would otherwise have been the case.

Af we fail to comply with aur pﬁhgm-m winder any license, collabaration or other intelfectual property-related

. we may be required io pay damages and could lose intellecinal praperiy righis that may be necessary for
a‘ﬂw\lo_mng. conmmercializing and protecting our current or future technologies or drug candidates or we could lose
certain rights fo grant sublicenses.

Any license, collaboration or other intellectual propeny-related agreements impose, and any future license,
collaboration or other intellectual property-related ag s we enfer into are likely to impose, vanious development,
commercialization, funding, milestone, royalty, diligence, sublicensing, insurance, patent prosecution and enforcement or
other obligations on us. If we breach any of these obligations, or use the intellectual property licensed to us in an
unauthorized manner, we may be required 1o pay damages and the licensor may have the right to terminate the license. In
spite of our best efforts, any of our future licensors might conclude that we have materially breached our license
agreements and might therefore terminate the license agreements, therchy removing our ability to develop and
commercialize products and technologies coviered by these license agreements. Any license agreements we enter info
may be comp'lcx, and cerfain provisions in such agreements may be susceptible to multiple interpretations. The resolution
of any contract interpretation disagreement that may arise could nammow what we believe to be the scope our rights to the
relevant intellceteal property or technology, or increase what we believe to be our financial or other obligations under the
relevant agreement, either of which could have a matenial adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, and prospects.

We may seek 1o obtain licenses from licensors in the fulure, however, we may be unable 1o obtain any such
licenses at a reasonable cost or on reasonable terms, i€ at all. In addition, if any of our future licensors terminate any such
license agreements, such license termination could result in our mability to develop, manufacture and sell products that
are covered by the licensed technology or could enable a competitor to gain access 1o the licensed technology. Any of
these events could have a material adverse offect on our competitive position, business, financial condition, results of
operations, and ability to achieve profitability.

Furthermore, we may not have the nght o control the preparation, filing, proscoution, maintenance, enforcement
and defense of patents and patent applications that we license from third partics. Therefore, we cannot be certain that
these patents and patent applications will be prepared, filed, prosecited, maintained, enforced and defended in a manner
consistent with the best interesis of our business., If our future icensors fail 1o prosecute, maintain, enforce and defend
palents we may in-license, or lose rights to licensed patents or patent applications, our license nights may be reduced or
climi 4. In such circ cx, our right to develop and commercialize any of our products or drug candidates that iz
the subject of such licensed rights could be matertally adverscly affected. In certain circumstances, our licensed patent
righis are subject o our reimbursing our licensors for their patent prosecution and mainienance costs.

Moreover, our licensors may own or contral intellectual propeny that has not been licensed to us and, as a result,
we may be subject to claims, regardless of their meril, that we are infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating the
licensor's intellectual property rights and the amount of any damages or future royalty obligations that would result, if
any such claims were spccessful, would depend on the technology and intelleciual property we use in products tha we
successfully develop and commercialize, if any. Therefore, even if we successfully develop and commercialize products,
duc to such obligations, we may be unable to achicve or maintain profitability,




Third parties may initiate legal proceedings alleging that we are infringing, misappropriating or otherwive violating
their intellectual property rights, the outcome of which would be wncertain and conld have o material adverse impact
on the siiceess of our bisiness,

COur commercial success depends, in part, upon our ability or the ability of any of our future collaborators to
develop, manufacture, market and sell our current or any future drug candidates and to use our proprictary technologies
without nfrnging, misappropriating or otherwise violating the proprictary and intellecrual property nghts of third
partics. The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are charactenzed by extensive and complex litigation regarding
patents and other intellectual property nights.

We or any of our future licensors of strategic partners, may be pany to, or be threatened with, adversarial
proceedings or Iullg:allon ngardmﬂ mlelﬁe:lual property nglu with respect to our current of any potential future drug
candidates and tech g derivation, reexami inter partes review, post-grant review or interference
proceedings before the L.bPTL‘I and similar proceedings in jurisdictions outside of the U.S. such as opposition
proccedings. 1f we or our licensors or strategic partners are unsuccessful in any interference procecdings or other priority
or validity disputes (including through any patent oppositions) to which we or they are subject, we may losc valuable
ntcllectual property righis through the loss of onc or more patents or our patent claims may be narrowed, invalidated, or
held unenforceable. In some instances, we may be required to indemnify our licensors or strategic partners for the costs
associated with any such adversarial proceedings or ltigation. Third parties may also assen infringement,
musappropriation of olher claims against us, our licensors or our strategic pantners based on existing patents or patents
that may be granted in the future, as well as other intellectual property rights. regandless of their merit. There is a nisk that
third partics may choesc to engage in litigation or other adversarial proceedings with us, our licensors or our strategic
partners to enforce or otherwise assert their patent rights or other intellectual property rights, Even if we believe such
claims are without merit, o count of competent jurisdiction could hold that these third-party patents and other intellectual
property rights are valid, enforceable and infringed, which could have a material sdverse impact on our ability to utilize
our developed technologics or to commercialize our current or any future drug candidates deemed to be infringing. In
order 1o successlully challenge the validity of any such U8, patent in federal court, we would need 1o overcome a
presumption of validity by presenting clear and convincing evidence of invalidity. There is no assurance that a court of
competent jurisdiction, even if presented with evidence we believe to be clear and convincing, would invalidate the
claims of any such U5, patent.

Further, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to successfully settle or otherwise resolve such adversarial
proceedings or litigation. If we are unable to successfully setle future claims on terms accepiable to us, we may be
required to engage in or o continue costly, unprediciable and time-consuming litigation and may be prevented from or
experience substantial delays in marketing our drug candidates. If we or any of our licensors or stralegic panners are
found to infringe, misappropriale or violate a lhml—purry patent or other intellectual property rights, we could be required
1o pay damages, mchldmg treble d.u.mugrs and anomey s fees, il we are found 10 have willfully infringed. In addition, we,
or any of our licensors or strategic partners may choose o seek, or be required to seek, a license from a third-party,
which may not be available on commercially reusonable terms, if at all. Even if a license can be obtained on
commercially reasonable terms, the rights may be non-exclusive, which coulil give our competitors aceess 10 the same
technology or intellectual property rights licensed to us, and we could be required 1o make substantial licensing and
royalty payments. We also could be forced, including by coun order, o cease wilizing, developing, manufactuning and
commercializing our developed technologics or drug candidates deemed to be infringing. We may be forced to redesign
current or future technologics or products, Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our ability to
generate revenue or achieve profitability and possibly prevent us from generating revenue sufficient to sustam our
operanoens.

In addition, we or our licensors or sirslegic partners may find il necessary 1o pursue clains of 1o initiate lawsuilz
to protect o enforce our patent or other intellectual property rights. If we or our licensors or stralegic partners were 10
initiate legal proceedings against a third-pany (o enforce a patent covening one of our drug candidates or our developed
technology, the defendant could counterelaim that such patent is invalid or unenforceable. In patent litigation in the U.S.,
defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity or unenforceability are commonplace. Grounds for a validity challenge could
be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, for example, claiming patent-incligible subject matier,
lack of novelty, indefiniteness, lack of writien description, non-enablement, anticipation or obvisusness, Grounds for an
unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the patent withheld relevant
information from the USPTO or made a mislcading statement during prosecution. The outcome of such invalidity and
uncnforceability claims is unpredictable. With respect to the validity question, for example, we cannot be cerain that
there is no invalidating prior an of which we or our licensors or strategic parmers and the patent examiner were unaware
during prosecution. If a defendant were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity or unenforceability, we could lose s
least part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection fior one or mare of our drug candidates. The narrowing or loss of our
owned and licensed patent claims could limit our ability o stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical
technologies and products. All of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects. Patent and other intellectual property rights also will not protect our drug candidates
and technologies if competitors or third parties design around such dnig candidates and technologies without legally
infringing, misappropriating or vielating our patent or other intellectual property rights.
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The cost to us in defending or initiating any litigation or other proceedings relating to our patent or other
intellectual property rights, even if resolved in our favor, could be substantial, and any litigation or other procecdings
would divert our management's attention and disiract our personnel from their normal responsibilities, Such litigation or
proceedings could matenally increase our operating losses and reduce the resources available for development activities
or any fuere sales, marketing or distribution activities. We may not have sufficient financial or other resources to
conduct such litigation or proceedings adequately. Some of our competitors may be able to more effectively sustain the
costs of complex patent litigation because they have substantially greater resources. Uncertainties resulting from the
initiation and continuation of patent [tigation or other procecdings could delay our research and development efforts and
materially limit our ability 1o continue our operations, Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery
required in connection with cenain such proceedings, there is a risk that some of eur confidential information could be
compromised by disclosure. In addition, there could be public annoencements of the results of hearings, maotions or other
interim proceedings or developments and if securities analvsts or investors perceive these results to be negative, such
announcements could have a material adverse effect on the price of our common stock.

Tniellectual properiy rights of third parties could adversely affect our ability to0 commercialize our current or future
techaologies or drug candidates, and we might be required to litigate or obtain Neenses from thivd parties te develop
or market our current or future technol, or drug candid which may nof be available on commercially
reasonable terms, or of afl.

There are numerous companies that have pending patent applications and issued patents broadly covering
immune-therapics generally or covering small molecules dirccted against the same tangets as, or targets similar to, those
we are pursuing. Our competitive position may materially suffer if patents issued to third partics or other third-party
intellectual property rights cover our current or future technologies, drug candidates or elements thereof, or our
manifaciure of uses relevant o our development plans, In such cases, we may not be in a position to develop or
commercialize current or (uture technologies or drug candidates unless we successfully pursue litigation 1o nullify or
invalidate the third-party intellectual property rights concerned or enter into a license agreement with the intellectual
property rights holder, it available on commercially reasonable terms, There may be issued patents of which we are not
aware, held by third partics that, if found to be valid and enforceable, could be alleged to be infringed by our current or
future !cchnnloglcs or drug candidates, There also may be pending patent applications of which we are not aware that
may result in issued patents, which could be alleged to be infringed by our current or future technelogies or drug
candidates. Should such an infrin claim be fully brought, we may be required to pay substantial damages
or be forced to abandon our cumrent or fature technologies or drug candidates or 1o seek a license from any patent holders.
Neo assurances can be given that a license will be available on commircially reasonable terms, if at all,

Third-party intellectual property rights holders may also actively bring infringement, misappropriation or other
claims alleging violations of intcllectual propernty rights against us. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to
successfully settle or otherwise resolve such claims, If we are unable to successfully settle future claims on ferms
acceptable to us, we may be required to engage in of to continue costly, unpredictable and time-consuming litigation and
may be Pﬂ:\-md from, or expericnce substantial delays in, marketing our drug candidates. 1f we fail in any such disputc,
in addition to being forced to pay damages, we may be temporarily or permanently plohlblll:d from ﬁurmm:ﬂ'mlmng any
of our current of fiture technologies or drug candidates that are held 1o be infringing, misappropriating or otherwise
violating third-party intellecteal property rights. We might, if possible, also be forced to redesign curremt or future
technologies or drug candidates so that we no longer infringe, misappropriate or violate the third-party inielleciual
property rights. Any of these events, even if we were ultimately to prevail, could require us 1o divernt substantial financial
and management resources that we would otherwise be able to devote to our business, which could have a material
adverse effect on our {inancial condition and resulis of operations.

Risks Related to Our Business Operations and Industry

We have a limited operating history.

To date, we have engaged exclusively in acquiring pharmaccutical product candidates, licensing rights to
product candidates, enlen’ng into collaboration agreements with respect to key services or technologies for our drug
product development, and commenced clinical irals, but have not vet -.amnh:ad any clinical trials, received any
governmental approvals, brought any product to market, manufactured products in commercial quantitics or sold any
phumac\cu'l.lr.:l preducts. As a company we have limited expenience in negotiating, blishing, and maintai
strategic relationships, conducting clinical trmals, and managing the regulatory approval process, all of which will be
necessary if we are to be successful, Our lack of experience in these critical arcas makes it difficult for a prospective
investor to evaluste our abilities and increases the risk that we will fail to successfully execute our strategies.

Furthermaore, if our business grows rapidly, our operational, managerial, legal, and financial resources will be
stramned, Our development will require continued improvement and expansion of our £ team and our
operational, managerial, legal, and financial svstems and controls.

In the normal course of business, we have evaluated and expect 10 evaluate potential acquisitions andior licenses
of patents, compounds, and technologics that our management belicves could complement or expand our busincss. In the
event that we sdentily an acquisition or license candidate we [ind afiractive, there is no assurance that we will be
successful in negolialing an agreement to acquire of license, or in financing or profitably exploiting, such patenis,
compounds, or technologies. Furthermore, such an acquisition or license could divent management time and resources
away from other activities that would further our current business development.

46




If we lose key management leadership, andior scientific persannel, and if we camnot recrail gualified employees,
managers, directors, afficers, or other significant personnel, it is highly likely that we will experience program delays
and fncreases in compensation costs, and our business will be materially disrupted.

Our future success is highly dependent on the continued service of principal members of our management,
leadership, and scientific personnel, who are able 1o terminate their employment with us at any time and may be able to
compete with us. The loss of any of our key management, leadership, or scientific personnel including, in panicular,
Christopher M. Starr, our Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors (referred to as the “Board™), and Chandler D,
Robinson, our President and CEOQ, could matenally disrupt our business and materially delay or prevent the successful
product development and commercialization of our product candidates. We have an employment agreement with Dr.
Robinson which has no term but is for at-will employment, meaning the exccutive has the ability to terminate his
employment at any time. We have a consulting agreement with Dr. Starr that is terminable with 30-days® notice by Dr.
Starr or us.

Cuur future suceess will also depend on our continuing ability 10 identify, hire, and retain highly skilled perzonnel
for all arcas of the organization. Competition in the biopharmaceutical industry for scientifically and technically qualified
personne] is intense, and we may be unsuccessful in identifying, hinng, and retaining qualificd personnel. Our continued
mquirprir;cm to identify, hire, and retain highly competent personmel may cause our compensation costs to increase
matenally.

We incur costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our managentent is required to devote substamtial
time to fovestor relad information and ¢ ication to the public, and refated compliance initiatives and
corperale governance pracifces.

As a public company, and particularly after we arc no longer an emcrging growth company, we will incur
significant legal, sccounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the
Dodd-Frank Wall Sireet Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the listing requirements of the Nasdaq Capital Marke
and other applicable secuntics rules and regulations impose various requirements on public companies, |nclu=!|n5
establishment and maintenance of elfective disclosure and linancial controls and corporate govemance practices. Our

and other pe | devote a suby ial amount of time to these compliance initiatives. Morcover, these
rules and regulations increase our legal and financial complionce costs and make some activitics more time-consuming
and costly. For example, we expect that these rules and regulations may make it more difficult and more expensive for us
to obtain director and officer liability insurance, which in tum could make it more difficult for us to atiract and retain
qualified members of our Board, However, these rules and regulations are often subject 1o varying interpretations, in
many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new
guidance is provided by regulatory and goverming bodies. This could result in confinting uncertainty regarding
comphiance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revistons 1o disclosure and governance practices,

Despite ongoing complianee training and perfodic education, our employees and consulianis miay engage in
misconduct or otfer improper activities, including noncompliarce wich regulatory standards and requirements, which
could result in delays or ferminations of our development programs and adversely affect our business.

Although we regularly trin our emplovees on compliance and we are aware of no misconduct of improper
activities to date, we are exposed 1o the risk of employee or consuliant fraud or other misconduct. Misconduct by our
employees or consultants could mclude intentional failures to: comply with FDA regulations; provide accurate
information to the FDA; comply with manufacturing standards; comply with federal and state healtheare fraud and abuse
laws and regulations; report financial information or data accurately or disclose unauthorized activities to us. In
particular, sales, marketing and business ammangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and
regulations intended to prevent fraud, kickbacks, sclf-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations
may resinct or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer
incentive programs and other business arrangements. Employee and consuliani misconduct could also imvolve the
improper use of information obtained in the course of clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and
serious harm 1o our reputation. It is not always possible 10 idemtify and deter such misconduct, and the precautions we
take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in confrolling unknown or unmanaged nsks or losses or i
protecting us from gover | invesiigations or other actions or lawsusis stemming from a failure to be in compliance
with such laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending
ourselves or asserting our fights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition
of significant fines or other sanctions. Such actions could adversely affect our business including delaying or terminating
one or more of our development programs,
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We are an emerging growth company and we cannof be certain if the reduced disclosure requirements applicable io
emergimg growth companies will make our common stock fess attractive o investors.

We are an emerging growth company. Under the Jumpstant Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS
Act”™), emerging growth companies can delay adopling new or revised sccounting standards until such time as those
standands apply 1o private companies. We have imevocably elected 1o opt out of this provision and, as a result, we will
mmpl:.,' with new or rc\."l'st accounting standards when they are required to be adopted by public companies that are not
emerging growth companies.

For as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we also intend to take advantage of cenain other
cxemptions from varous reporting requircments that are applicable to other public companies including, but not limited
to. reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our peniodic meports and proxy slalements,
exemptions from the requiremenis of holding a nonbinding advisory stockholder vote on executive compensation and
any golden parachute payments not previously approved, exemption from the requirement of auditor attestation in the
assessment of our internal control over financial reporting and exemption from any requirement that may be adopted by
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory sudit firm rotation or a supplemant to the
auditor’s repon providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements (auditor discussion and
analysig). If we do take advantage of these exemptions, the information that we provide stockholders will be differen
than what is available with respect 1o other public companies. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock
less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If investors find our commen stock less attractive as a result of
our stalus as an emerging growth company, there may be less liquidity for our common stock and our stock price may be
more volatile,

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (1) the last day of the vear (a) following the
fifth anniversary of the completion of our initial public offering. (b) in which we have total annual gross revenue of &
least $1.235 billion or (c) in which we are deemed 10 be a large accelerated filer, which means the market value of our
common steck that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the prior June 30th, and (2) the date on which we
have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debd securities during the prior three-year period. We anticipate
this will be December 31, 2024,

Competition and technological change may make our product candidates less competitive or obsolete.

The biopharmaceutical industry i3 subject 1o rapid technological change. We have many potential competitors,
including major drug and chemical companies, specialized biopharmaceutical firms, universities and other research
instifutions. These companics, firms, and other instilutions may develop products that are more effective than our product
candidates or that would make our product candidaies less competitive or obsolete. Many of these companics, firms, and
other institutions: have greater financial resources than us and may be better able to withstand and respond 10 adverse
market conditions within the biopharmaccutical industry, including without limitation the leagthy product development
and regulatory approval processes for product candidates,

We face sigmificant competition from other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, and our operating resolts
will suffer if we fail fo compete effectively.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are charactenzed by rapidly advancing echnologics, imense
competition and a strong emphasis on proprictary products. While we believe we have significant competitive advantages
with our expertise in small molecules and biologics, and rare discase clinical development, along with a sirong
imtellectual propeny porfolio, we currently face and will continue w face competition for our drug development
programs from companies that target SOM, are developing doxorubicin analogs/replacement. or are targeting uPAR. The
competition is likely to come from multiple sources, including larger pharmaceutical companies, bistechnology
companies and academia, Accordingly, our competitors may have more resources and be more successfl than us in
obtaining approval for treatments and achieving widespread market acceptance. For any products that we may ultimately
commercialize, not only will we compete with any existing therapics and those therapies currently in development, we
will have to compete with new therapies that may become available in the future.
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We may engage in sirategic transactions that conld impact our Bguidity, increase our expenses and present significan:
distractions o owr managentent,

From time to time, we may consider strategic fransactions, such as acquisitions of companics, asset purchases,
and oul-licensing or in-licensing of products, product candidates or technologies. Additional polential transactions that
we may consider include a vaniety of different business armangements, including spin-offs, stralegic parinerships, joint
veniures, restructurings, divesiitures, business combinations and investments. Any such transaction will require us to
incur non-recurring or other charges, may increase our near- and long-term expendifures and may pose significant
mtegration challenges or disrupt our management or business, which could adversely affect our operations and financial
results. For example, these transactions may entail numerous operational and financial risks. including:

*  exposure o unknown technologies, product candidates, medical conditions and indications, product
manufacturing challenges and uncertainties, and other unknown factors of potential high risk;

*  disruption of our business and diversion of our management’s time and attention in order 10 develop
acquired products, product candidates or technologies;

®  incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuances of equity scounitics 1o pay for acquisitions,

*  higher-than-cxpected acquisttion and integration costs;

*  write-downs of assets, goodwill or impairment charpes;

® increased amortizalion expenscs;

*  difficulty and cost in combining the operations and personnel of any acquired businesses with our
operations and personnel;

& impairment of relationships with key suppliers or customers of any acquired businesses duc to changes in
managemen! and ownership; and

s mability to retain key employees of any acquired businesses or for our current business based on changed
CIrCUMSLanCes.

Accordingly, although there can be no assurance that we will undertake or successfilly complete any
transactions of the nature described above, any transactions that we do complete may be subject to the foregoing or other
risks, and could have a matenial adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

(ur business and operations are valmerable fo compufer system failures, cyber-aitacks or deficiencies in our cyber-
securify, which could increase onr expenses, divers the attention af owr management and key personnel away from

our business operations and adversely affect our results of aperations,

Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems, and those of thind partics on
which we rely, are vulnerable to damage from: computer vinsses; malware; natural disasters; terrorism; war;
telecommunication and elecirical failures; cyber-attacks or cyber-tnirusions over the Intemet; atlachments 1o emails;
persons inside our organization; or persons with access to systems inside our organization. The nsk of a security breach
or disruption, particularly through cyber-attacks or cyber intrusion, including by computer hackers, foreign govermmenis,
and cyber terrorists, has gencrally increased as the number, intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks and
intrusions from around the world have increased. If such an event were to occur and cause intermuptions in our
operations, it could resull in a material disruption of our product development programs. For example, the loss of clinical
trial data from completed or engoing or planned clinical trials could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts
and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any disruption or secunity breach
was 1o result in a loss of or damage o our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary
mformation, we could meur matenal legal claims and habality, and damage o our reputation, and the further
development of our product candidates could be delayed. We could be forced to expend significant resources in response
to a cyber security breach, including repairing system damage, increasing cyber security protection costs by deploying
additional personnel and protection technologies, paving regulatory fines and resolving legal claims and regulatory
actions, all of which would increase our expenses, divert the atiention of our management and key personnel away from
our business operations and adversely aflect our resulis of operations.
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Faifure fo comply with health and data protection faws and regulations could lead fo govermment enforcement actions

(which could include civil or eriminal penalties), private Niigation ar adverse publicity and could negatively affect our
operating results and busimess,

We and our current and any of our future collaborators may be subject to federal, state and foreign data
protection laws and regulations (1.¢., laws and regulations that address privacy and data secunity). In the U5, numerous
federal and state laws and regulations, including federal health information privacy laws (e.g.. the Health Insurance
Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA™), as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and
Clinical Health Act (“HITECH™)), state data breach notification laws, state health information privacy laws and federal
and state consumer protection laws (e.g. Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act), that govern the collection,
use, disclosure and protection of healih-related and other personal information could apply to our operalions or the
operations of our collaborators. In addition, we may obtain health information from third partics (including rescarch
mstitwtions from which we obtain clinical trial data) that are subject to privacy and security requirements under HIPAA,
az amended by HITECH, or other privacy and data security laws. Depending on the facts and circumstances, we could be
subject to enminal penalties if we knowingly obtain, use, or disclose mdividually identifiable health mformation
maintained by a HIPAA-covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA.

International data protection laws, including Regulation 20016/679, known as the General Data Protection
Regulation ("GDPR”) may also apply to health-related and other personal information obtained outside of the U8, The
GDPR went into effect on May 25, 2018, The GDPR introduced new data protection reguirements in the EU, as well as
potential fines for non-compliant companies of up to the greater of €20 million or 4% of annual global revenue. The
regulation imposes numerous new requirements for the collection, use, storage and disclosure of personal information,
including more stringent requirements relating to consent and the information that must be shared with data subjects
about how their personal information is used, the obligation 1o notify regulators and affected individuals of personal data
breaches, exlensive new intemnal privacy governance obligations and ebligations to honor expanded rights of individuals
in relation to their personal information (... the right to access, correct and delete their data), In addition, the GDPR
mncludes restrictions on cross-border data transfers. The GDPR increased our responsibility and liability i relation to
personal data that we process where such processing is subject to the GDPR, and we may be required to put in place
additional mechanisms to ensure compliance with the GDPR, including as implemented by individual countries. Further
Brexit has created uncertainty with regasd to data protection regulation in the United Kingdom. In panicular, it is unclear
how data transfers to and from the United Kingdom will be regulated,

In addition, California recenily enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act ("CCPA”™), which ereates new
individual privacy nights for California consumers (as defined in the law) and places increased privacy and security
obligations on entities handling personal data of consumers or households. The CCPA will require covered companies to
provide new disclosure 1o consumers about such companies” data collection, use and shanng practices, provide such
consumers new wavs o opt-out of ceriain sales or transfers of personal information, and provide consumers with
additional causes of action. The CCPA wenl mio effect on January 1, 2020, and the Califorma Allomey General may
bring enforcement actions for vielations beginning Jaly 1, 2020, The CCPA was amended on September 23, 2018, and it
remains unclear what, it any, further modifications will be made to this legislation or how it will be interpreted. As
currently written, the CCPA may impact our business activities and exemplifies the vulnerability of our business to the
cvolving regulatory environment related to personal data and protected health information,

Compliance with L.S. and international data protection laws and regulations could require us 10 1ake on more
oncrous ebligations in our contracts, restrict our sbility to collect, use and disclose data, or in some cascs, impact our
ability to operate in cerain junsdictions. Failure to comply with US, and international data protection laws and
regulations could result in government enforcement actions (which could include civil or criminal penaltics), private
litigation or adverse publicity and could neganively affect our operating results and business.

If we, our contract research organizations (“CROs™) or our 1T vendors experience security or data privacy breaches
or afher unauthorized or improper access fo, wse of, or destraction of personal data, we may face costs, significant
liabilities, harm to our brand and business disruption.

In connection with our drug research and development efforts, we or our CROs may collect and use a variety of
personal data, such as names, mailing addresses, email addresses, phone numbers and clinical trial infonnation. Although
we have extensive measurcs in place to prevent the shanng and loss of paticnt data in our climical inal provesses
associated with our developed technologies and drug candidates, any failure o prevent or mitigate security breaches or
improper access 1o, use of, or dischosure of our clinical data or patients’ personal data could result in significant liability
under state (c.g., state breach notification laws), federal (e.g., HIPAA, as amended by HITECH), and international laws
(e.g.. the GDPR). Any failure to prevent or mitigate secunty breaches or improper access 1o, use of, or disclosure of our
clinical data or paticnis’ persenal data may cause a matenial adverse impact to our reputation, affect our ability o conduct
new studies and potentially disrupt our business. We may also relv on third-party IT vendors 1o host or otherwise process
some of our data and that of users, and any failure by such IT vendor to prevent or mitigate security breaches or improper
access 1o or disclosure of such information could have similarly sdverse consequences for us. If we are unable to prevent
or mitigate the impact of such sccunity or data privacy breaches, we could be exposed 1o htigation and governmenial
investigations, which could lead 1o a potential disruption to our business.
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If we do not comply with laws regulating the provection of the envirommeni and health and hunan safeiy, our
business could be adversely affected.

Our rescarch and development and drug candidates and future commercial manufacturing may invelve the use of
hazardous materials and vanows chemicals. We currently do not maintain a rescarch laboratory, but we engage third-
g.}l:;msrmh organizations and manufacturers to conduct our preclinical studies, clinical tnals and manufacturing.

third-party laboratories and manufacturers are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the
use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of these hazardous materials. We must rely on the third partics’
procedures for stonng, handling and disposing of these matenials in their facilities to comply with the relevant guidelines
of the states in whi:ﬁ. they operate and the Occupational Safery and Health Administration of the U.S. Department of
Labor. Although we believe that their safety procedures for handling and disposing of these materials comply with the
standards mandated by applicable regulations, the risk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials cannot
be eliminated. If an aceident occurs, this could result in significant delays in our development. We are also subject to
numerous environmental, health and workplace safety laws and regulations, Ahbhough we maintain workers’
compensation msurance 10 cover us for cosis and expenses, we may incur due (o injurics to our employees, this insurance
may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities. Additional federal, state and local laws and regulations
affecting our operations may be adopted in the future. We may incur substantial costs (o comply with, and substantial
fines or penaltics if we violate, any of these laws or regulations.

We have limited the Bability of and indeminified our divectors and officers,

Albough our directors and officers are accountable 1o us and must exercise good faith, good business
judgement, and integniy in handhing our affairs, our Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the
“Certificate of Incorporation”) and indemnification agreementz execuled by all of our non-employee directors and
officers provides that our non-employee directors and officers will be indemnified to the fullest extent permitted under
Delaware law. As a result, our stockholders may have fewer rights against our non-employee directors and officers than
they would have absent such provisions 10 our Centificate of Incorporation and indemnification agreements, and a
stockholder's ability 1o seek and recover damages for a breach of fiduciary duties may be reduced or restricted. Delaware
Low allews indemmfication of our non-emplovee directors and officer, if they (a) have acted in good faith, in & manner
the non-emplovee director or officer reasonably believes to be in o not opposed to our best interests, and (b) with respect
to any criminal action or procceding, if the non-employee director or officer had no reasonable cause to believe the
conduct was unlawiul.

Pursuant 1o the Cenificate of Incorporation and indemnification agreement, each non-emplovee director and
officer who is made a party to a legal proceeding because he or she is or was a non-employee director or officer, is
indemnified by us from and against any and all lishility, except that we may not indemnify a non-employee director or
officer: (a) for any liability incurred in a proceeding in which such person is adjudged liable 1o Mon or is subjected
to injunctive relief in favor of Monopar; (b) for acts or omissions that mvolve intentional misconduct or a knowing
violation of law, fraud or gross negligence: (¢) for unlawful distributions; (d) for any transaction for which such non-
employee director or officer received a personal benefit or as otherwise prohibited by or as may be disallowed under
Delaware law; or (¢} with respecet to any dispute or proceeding between us and such non-cmployee director or officer
unless such indemnification has been approved by a disinteresied majonty of the Board or by a majonity in inferest of
disinterested stockholders. We ase required to pay or reimburse attorney’s fees and expenses of a non-emplovee director
or officer secking indemnification as they are incurred, provided the non-employee director or officer excoutes an
agreement 1o repay the amount 10 be pad or reimbursed if there i a final determination by a coun of competent
Jurisdiction that such person is not entitled to indemnification.

Future legislation or executive or private sector actions may increase the difficalfy and cost for us fo commercialize
wour prodices and adversely affect the prices obtaimed for such products.

In the LS., there have been and continue 1o be a number of legislative initiatives to contain healthcare costs. For
example, in March 2010, the Affordable Care Act (the “ACA”), was enacted, which substantially changed the way
healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers, and significantly impacted the ULS. pharmaccutical
industry,

Since its enactment, there have been numerous judicial, adminstrative, executive, and legislative challenges 1o
certain aspects of the ACA, and we expect there will be additienal challenges and amendments to the ACA in the future.
Various portions of the ACA are currently undergoing legal and constiutional challenges in the US Supreme Court; the
Trump Administration signed vanous executive orders and other directives that eliminated cost sharing subsidies and
various provisions that would impose a fiscal burden on states or a cost, fee, tax, penalty or regulatory burden on
individuals, healthcare providers, health insurers, or manufacturers of pharmaceuticals or medical devices; and Congress
has introduced several picees of legislation aimed at significantly revising or repealing the ACA. The US Supreme Count
is expected to rule on a legal challenge to the constitutionality of the ACA in 2021, The American Rescue Plan Act of
2021 which was recently cnacted into law includes provisions which funther the ACA, incleding expansion of
markeiplace subsidics and credits o reduce or eliminate premiums in the federal exchange for persons with cerfain
income levels and providing subsidies for state exchanges. The implementation of the ACA 15 ongoing, the law appears
likely to continue the downward pressure on pharmaceutical pricing, especially under the Medicare program, and may
also increase regulatory burdens and operating costs, Litigation and legislation related w ihe ACA are likely 1o continue,
wilh unprediciable and uncertain results. 1115 unclear whether the ACA will be overtumed, repealed, replaced, or further
amended. We cannot predict what affect further changes to the ACA would have on our business,
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In addinon, government price reporting and payment regulations are complex, and we will be required o
continually assess the methods by which we plan to calculate and repont any future pricing in accordance with these
obligations. Our methodologics for calculations are inherently subjective and may be subject to review and challenge by
various govermnmenl agencies, which may disagree with our interpretation. [f the government disagrees with our reported
calculations, we may need 1o restate the previously reported data and could be subject w additional financial and legal
liahility.

Further, the increasmg cost of healihcare as a percentage of GDP and the massive and increasing deferred
libilitics behind most governmental healthcare programs (such as Medicare and Medicaid and state and local healthcare
programs especially for retirement benefits) continue 1o be an economic challenge which threatens the overall cconomic
health of the 1.5, High cost healthcare products and therapies that are early in their life cycle are altractive targets for
parties that believe that the cost of healihcare must be better controlled and significantly reduced. Pharmaceutical prices
and healtheare reform have been debated and acted upon by legislators for many years, Future legislation of executive or
private sector actions related to healthcare reform could materially and adversely affect our business by reducing our
ability to generate revenue a1 prices sufficient to reward for the nisks and costs of pharmaceutical development, 1o raise
capital, and 1o market our prodiscts,

There is no assurance that federal or state healtheare reform will not adversely affect our future business and
financial results, and we cannot predict how future federal or state legislative, judicial or administrative changes relating
to healtheare reform and third-party payers will affect the pharmaceutical industry in general and our business in
parficular,

Even if we are able to commercialize any drug candidate, such drug candidate may become subject to unfavorable
pricing regilations or third-party coverage aind refmbirsement policies, which would harm our bisiness,

Chr ability to commercialize any products successfully will depend, in part, on the extent to which coverage and
adequate reimbursement for these products and related treatments will be available from third-party payors, such as
government authontics, private healthcare insurers and health mainienance orgamizations, Patients who are presenbed
medications for the treatment of their conditions generally rely on third-party pavors (o reimburse all or pant of the costs
associated with their prescription drugs. Coverage and adequate reimbursement from government healthcare programs,
such as Medicare and Medicaid, and private healthcare insurers are critical to new product acceptance. Patients are
unlikely to use our future products, if any, unless coverage s provided and reimbursement is adeguate o cover a
significant portion of the cosl.

Cost-containment 15 a prionty in the U.S, healtheare industry and elsewhere. As a resuli, government suthonties
and other third-party payors have attempted to control costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reimbursement for
particular medications. Increasingly, third-party payors are requiring that drug companics provide them with
predetermined discounts from list prices and are challenging the prices charged for medical products. Third-pany pavors
also may request additional clinical evidence bevond the data required to obtain marketing approval, requiring a
company to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic studies in order 10 demonstrate the medical necessity and cost-
effectiveness of its products, Commercial third-party payors often rely upon Medicare coverage policy and payment
limitations in setting their reimburserent rates, but also have their own methods and approval process apart from
Medicare determinations. Therefore, coverage and reimbursement for pharmaceutical products in the LLS. can differ
significantly from payor to payor. We cannot be sure that coverage and adequate reimbursement will be available for any
product that we commercialize and, il reimbursement is available, that the level of reimbursement will be adequate,
Coverage and reimbursement may impact the demand for, or the price of, any drug candidate for which we obtain
marketing approval. If coverage and reimbursement are not available or are available only at limited levels, we may not
be able to successfully commercialize any drug candidate for which we obtain marketing approval.

Additionally, the regulations that govern regulatory approvals, pricing and reimbursement for new drugs and
therapeutic biologics vary widely from coumry to country. Some countries require approval of the sale price of a drug or
therapeutic biologic before it can be marketed. In many countries, the pricing review period begins after marketing
approval 8 granted. In some foreign markets, prescription pharmaceutical pricing remains subject to continuing
govemmental control even after initial approval is granted. As a result, we might obtain regulatory approval for a product
in a particular country, but then be subject 1o price regulations that delay our commercial launch of the product, possibly
for lengthy time periods, and negatively impact the revenues we are able to generate from the sale of the product in that
country. Adverse pricing limitations may hinder our ability to recoup our investment in one or more drug candidates,
even if our drug candidates obtain regulatory approval.
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Politically divided govermmental actions and related political actions owtside of government can impact the FDA's
rofe in the timely and effective review of new pharmacentical products in the U8, wnd our business may be adversely
impacted.

A relevant example of dysfunctional government was the 33-day government shutdown that ended February 15,
2019, which limited the FDA to activities necessary 1o address imminent threats to human life and 1o activities funded by
carry-over user fees. Future government shotdowns or other activities which imit the financial resources available to the
FDA (and in particular to the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research) will delay the processing of new product drug
development submissions, reviews, and approvals and other required regulatory sctions. Such delays will adversely
impact our business and financial condition.

Effective collaboration with the FDA s Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (“CDER") for the approval of drug
didates is a highly ding process which can reswlf in increased time and expense o gain

Our lead drug development program, Validive, will be reviewed by CDER. Efficient and professional
collaboration with the FDA's CDER is cssential for the timely clinical resting, test evaluations, analysis and approval of
our drug candidates. CDER has an outstanding record of drug approvals and substantial funds to operate a highly
professional organization but is alse very demanding as to the quality of clinical research and applications for marketing
approvals for drug candidates.

Our Company has in-house expertise and experience in the management of drug approvals, Qualified consultants
and drug research organizations are also available o aid in our drug approval process; however, there is a meaningful
risk that discussions and interactions inherent in the drug approval process and fumre developments or new
improvements will result in delays, added expenses and new scientific/medical requirements which will cause adverse
financial results and will likely impact the price of the Company’s stock.

Fufure tax reforn measures may megatively impact our financial position.

Tax reform measures are unpredictable and can change as the U.S. Congress and executive leadership changes.
For example, on December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 20017 was signed into law that significantly revised
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Codce™). It is difficult to predict what future tax reform measures, if
any, could be implemented and the extent to which they will impact our financial condition and our business,

Foreign currency exchange rates may adversely affect oar consolidated financial staiemenis.

Sales and purchases in currencies other than the US. Dollar expose us fo fluctuations in foreign currencics
relative to the ULS. Dollar and may adversely affect our consolidated financial statements. Increased strength of the ULS.
Dellar increases the effective price of our future drug products sold in LS. Dollars into other countries, which may
require us to lovwer our prices or adversely affect sales 1o the extent we do not increase local currency prices. Decreased
strength of the U5, Dollar could adversely affect the cost of materials, products and services we purchase overseas. Sales
and expenses of our non-U5. busincsses are also translated into U8 Dollars for reporting purposes and the
strengthening or weakening of the US. Dollar could result in unfavorable foreign currency translation and iransaction
cffects. In addition, cenain of our busingsses may in the future Invoice customers in o currency other than the business”
functional currency, and movements in the invoiced currency relative to the functional currency could also result in
unfavorable foreign currency translation and transaction cifects. We also face exchange rate risk from our investments in
subsidiaries owned and operated in loreign countries.

(ur anticipated operating expenses and capital expenditures over the next year are based upon onr nanagement’s
estimates of possible future events, Actual ameunts and the cost of new conditions couwld differ materially from those
exstimated by owr management.

Development of pharmaceuticals and cancer drugs is extremely nisky and unpredictable. We have estimated
operating expenses and capital expenditures over the next vear based on cemain assumptions. Any change in the
assumptions could cause the actual results to vary substantially from the anticipated expenses and expenditures and could
result in material differences in actual versus forecasted expenses or expenditures. Furthermore, all of the factors are
subject 1o the effect of unforesceable future events. The estimates of capital expenditures and operating expenses
represent forward-looking statements within the meaning of the lederal sccuritics laws. Prospective investors arc
cautioned that any such forward-looking statements are nod guarantecs of fulure performance and involve risks and
uncertaintics. Actual events or results may differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements as a
result of vanous factors, including the risk factors set forth under this “Risk Factors” section in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
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The financial and sperational projections that we may make from fime to fime are subject o inherent risks.

The projections that we provide herein or our management may provide from time to time (including, but not
limited to, our success in raising strategic and substantial financial resources, the cost and timing of our clinical trials,
clinical and regulatory timelines, production and supply matters. commercial lounch dates. and other financial or
operational matters) reflect numerous assumptions made by our management, inclueding assumptions with respect to our
specific as well as general business, regulatory, economic, market and financial conditions and other matters, all of which
are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control. Accordingly, there 1s a nisk that the assumpiions made
in preparing the projections. or the projections themselves, will prove insccurate. There may be differences between
actual and projected results, and actual results may be materially different from those contained in the projections. The
inclusion of the projections in this Anmual Report on Form 10-K should not be regarded as an indication that our
managemen! considered or consider the projections to be a guaranteed prediction of future events, and the projections
should not be relied upon as such. See “Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Statements.™

Qur present and potential future fnternational operations may expose us to business, political, sperational, and
Sinancial risks associated with doing business ourside of the U5,

Our business is subject 1o risks associated with conducting business internationally, Some of our suppliers and
clinical rescarch organizations and clinical tnal sites are located outside of the ULS. Furthermore, if we or any future
collaborator succeeds in developing any products, we anticipate marketing them in the EU, the United Kingdom and
other jurisdictions in addition o the U.S. I approved, we or our collaborator may hire sales representatives and conduct
physician and patient association owlreach activities outside of the 1.5, Doing business inlernationally involves a number
of risks, including buat not limited to:

s muliple, conflicting and changing laws and regulations such as privacy regulations, tax laws, export and
import restrictions, employment laws, regulatory requirements, and other governmental approvals, permits
and licenses which can vary jurisdictions 1o jurisdiction with different degrees of review and enforcement;

s farlure by us to obtain and maintain regulatory approvals for the use of our products in various countries;
*  rejection or qualification of forcign clinical inal data by the competent authonitics of other couninics;

®  additional potentially relevant third-party patent and other intellectual properiy nghts that may be necessary
to develop and commercialize our products and drug candidates,

®  complexities and difficulies in obtaiming, mamiaming, enforcing and defending our patent and other
intellectual property nights;

®  difficuliies in staffing and managing foreign operations by a small-scale orgamization;

& complexities associated with managing multiple payor reimbursement regimes, govemment payors of
patient self-pay systems;

®  limits, a3 a U5 -based company, in our ability to penetrate intermational markets;

s financial risks, such as longer payment cycles, difficulty collecting accounts receivable, the impact of local
and regional financial crises on demand and payment for our products and exposure 1o foreign cumency
exchange rate fluctuations;

& natural disasters, political and economic instability, including wars, terrorism and political unrest, oubreak
of disease, boveons, curtailment of trade and other business restrictions, impl ion of lanffs;

®  cenlain expenses including, among others, expenses for travel, translation and insurance; and

s regulatory and compliance risks that relate 1o anti-corruption compliance and record-kecping that may fall
within the purview of the U.S, Forcign Corrupt Practices Act. its accounting provisions or its anti-bribery
provisions o provisions of anti-comuption or anti-bribery laws in other countries.

Any of these factors could harm our ongoing international clinical operations and supply chain, as well as any
fisture intermational expansion and operations and, consequently, our business, financial condition, prospects and resulis
of operations,




We are subject to US. and foreign anti-corraption and anti-money laundering laves with respect to our operations and
nman-compliance with such laows can swbject us to crimimal or civil lability and harm our business,

We are subject to the ULS. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (“the FCPA™), the LS. domestic
bribery statute contained in 18 US.C. § 201, the U.S. Travel Act, the USA PATRIOT Act, and possibly other state and
national anti-bribery and anti-money launderng laws in countries in which we conduct activities. Anti-cormuption laws
are interpreted broadly and prohibit companics and their employees, agents, third-party intermedianes, joint venture
pariners and collaborators from authonizing, promising, offering or providing, directly or indirecily, improper payments
or benefits o recipients in the public or private sector. We interact with officials and employees of government agencics
and government-affiliated hospitals, universities and other organizations. In addition, we may engage third-parny
intermedianies to promote our clinical rescarch activitics abroad or to obtain necessary permits, licenses and other
regulatory approvals, We can be held liable for the cormipt or other illegal activities of these third-party intermediaries,
our emplovees, representatives, contractors, partners and agents, even if we do not explicitly authonize or have actual
knowledge of such activities.

We have a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics which mandates compliance with the FCPA and other anti-
cormuption laws applicable 1o our business throughout the werld, However, we cannot assure you that our employees and
third-party intermediaries will comply with this code or such anti-cormuption laws, Noncompliance with anti-cormuption
and anti-moncy laundering laws could subject us 1o whistleblower complaints, investigations, sanctions, settlements,
prosecution, other enforcement actions, disgorgement of profits, significant fines, damages, other civil and criminal
penaltics or mjunctions, suspension or debarment from contracting with ceriain persons, the loss of export pdviltgu;s,
reputational harm, adverse media coverage and other coll 1 gquences, 17 any subg investigations or other
enforcement actions are launched, or governmental or other sanctions are imposed. or if we do not prevail in any possible
civil or criminal litigation, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially harmed. In
addition, responding to any action will likely result in o materially significant diversion of management’s attention and
resources and significant defense and compliance costs and other professional fees. In certain cases, enforcement
authoniies may even cause us to appoint an independent complisnce monitor which can result in added costs and
administrative burdens.

Risks Associated with our Commaon Stock

Existing and new investors will experfence dilition as a vesult of fisture sales or swances of our common stock and
[uture oprion exercises under our 2006 Stock Incentive Plan and any amendments te the plan.

Our non-emplovee directors, employees, and certain of our consuliants have been and will be issued equity
and/or granted options that vest with the passage of time. Up o a total of 5,100,000 shares of our common stock may be
issued as stock options or restricted stock units under the Amended and Restated Monopar Therapeutics Inc. 20016 Stock
Incentive Plan, and stock options for the purchase of up to 2,147,790 shares of our common stock have alrcady been
granted (1,215,724 stock options ane exercisable) and are Jing along with 633,042 restricted stock units that have
been granted 1o non-employee directors and emplovees as of March 10, 2023, The issuance of such equity upon vesting
of restricted stock units and’or the exercise of such options will dilute both our existing and our new investors. As of
March 10, 2023, 189,346 stock options have been exercised.

Cur existing and our new investors will also experience substantial dilution resulting from the issuance by us of
equity securitics in connection with certain transactions, including without limitation, future offering of shares in future
Tundraising effons, intellectual propeny licensing, acquigition, or commercialization amangements,

Holders of the shares of our common stock will kave mo control of eur operations or of decisions on major
fransactioms.

Our business and affairs are managed by or under the dircction of our Board. Our stockholders are entitled to
vote only on actions that require a stockholder vote under federal or state law. Stockholder approval requires the consent
and approval of holders of & majority or more of our owtstanding stock, Shares of stock do rot have cumulative voting
rights and therefore, holders of a majority of the shares of our outstanding stock will be able 1o elect all Board members.
TacticGem, LLC ("TacticGem™) owns 7,166,667 shares of common stock (54.34%). The limited hability company
agreement requires TacticGiem o pass through votes (including the vote for the election of directors) to its members in
proportion to their membership percentages in TacticGem (57.367% owned by Toctic Pharma and 42.633% owned by
Giem). As a resull, Tactic Pharma, our initial investor, holds an approximately 32.4% beneficial interest in us and
together with Gem's beneficial ownership of approximately 23.2%, the two cntitics control & majority of our stock and
will be able 1o ¢lect all Board members and control our affairs, Some of our Board members and executive officers own
and control Tactic Pharma. Although no single person has a controlling interest in Tactic Pharma, acting together, they
are able o control Tactic Pharma and a large voting block of our common stock and together with Gem can elect a
majority of our Board.
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tur failure fo meet the comiinwed lisiing requirements of The Nasdog Capital Market could reswlf in @ de-listing of
o comimion stock,

If we fail 1o satisfy the continued listing requirements of The Nasdag Capital Markel, such as the corporate
govemance requirements or the minimum closing bid price requirement, the Nasdag Stock Market (“Nasdag™) may ke
steps to de-list our common stock. Such a de-listing or the announcement of such de-listing will have a negative effect on
the price of our common stock and would impair your ability to sell or purchase our common stock when you wish 1o do
%0, In the event of a de-listing, we would take actions 1o restore our compliance with the Nasdag listing requirements, but
we can provide no assurance thai any such action taken by us would allow our common siock (o become listed again,
stabilize the markel price or improve the liquidity of our common steck, prevent our common stock from dropping below
the Nasdag minimum bid price requirement or prevent future non-compliance with the Nasdag listing requirements.

The siock price of our common siock may be volatile or may decline regardiess of eur operating performance.

The market prices for secunties of biotechnology and pharmaceutical compantes have histonically been hghly
volatile, and the market has from time-to-time expenenced significant price and volume fuctuations that appear 1o be
unretated to the operating performance of particular companics, Our common stock has only been trading on the Nasdag
Capital Market since December 19, 2019, and has experienced significani volatility in market prices through March 10,
2023, ranging from a low of $1.39 10 a high of $48.00. Our small public float and relatively low and inconsistent trading
volumes exacerbate volatility.

The market price of our common stock is likely to remain highly volatile and may fluctuate substantially due to
many factors, including:

& announcements conceming the progress and success of our clinical trials, our ability to obtain regulatory
approval for and commercialize our product candidates, including any requests we receive from the FDA
for addilional studies or data that result in delays in oblaining regulatory approval or launching our product
candidates, if approved;

#  unstable market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors or the economy as 3 whole;

& price and volume Muctuations in the overall stock market,

#  the failure of our product candidates, if approved. w achicve anticipated commorcial success; in the time
projected by securitics analysis and others;

o announcements of the clinical success, NDA approval or introduction of new products by us or our direct
compelitors;

»  announcemenis of developments conceming product development results or intellectual property rights of
otlers;

& litigation or public concern aboul the safety and'or efficacy of our potential or approved products:

&  oactual (lucluations in our quarlerly or annual operaling results, and concemns by investors that such
fluctustions may ocour in the future and are indicative of internal problems;

& deviations in our eperating results from the estimates of securities analysts or other analyst comments;

®  additions or departures of key personncl;

#  healthcare reform legislation, including measures directed ot controlling the pricing of pharmaceutical
products, and third-party coverage and reimbursement policies:

& announcements or publicity conceming current or future strategic collaborations;

o disgussion of our Company, our stock price or our potential future market value by the financial and
scientific press and onling nvestor communitics; and

®  market responses 1o the fluctuating conditions of COVID-19 or fo the Russia-Ukraine war,

We may become involved in securities class action lingation that conld divert management's attentdon and harm ouwr
Business,

The stock mad:m have from time-to-time experienced significant price and volum: fluctuations that have
affected the market prices for the common stock of bistechnology and pharmaceutical companies. Our stock price has
experienced such fucneations since our initial public offering. These broad marker fluctuations may cause the market
price of our stock to advance or decline. In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a
company following a decline in the market price of s securities, This nisk is :.sp-r:clnlfy relevant for us becanse
biotechnology and bl.opl'mrmccutml companics have experienced signilicant steck price volatility in recent years. We
may become mvolved in this type of hitigation in the future. Litigation often 15 expensive and diverts management's
altention and resources, which could adversely affect our business.
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Substantial amounts of our outstanding shares may be sold into the market, [f there are substantial sales of shares aof
our common stock, the price of our common stock could decline.

The price of our commeon stock could decline if there are subsiantial sales of our commen stock, particularly
sales by our non-employee directors, executive officers and significant stockholders, or if there is a large number of
shares of our common stock available for sale and the market perceives that sales will ocour, We have 13,193,172
ouistanding shares of our common stock as of March 10, 2023. A majoniy of our outstanding shares of common stock
are currently held by non-employee dircctors, exceutive officers and other affiliates and are subject to volume hmitations
under Rule 144 under the Securitics Act of 1933, as amended (Securities Act).

Chir largest stockholders have nights, subject o some conditions, to require us to file registration statements
covering their shares or to include their shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or our
stockholders, We have also negistered shares of common stock that we have issued and may issue under our employee
oquity incentive plans. These shares are able to be sold freely in the public market upon issuance, subject to existing
internal practices which prohibit sales under certain circumstances, The market price of the shares of our common stock
could decline as a result of the sale of a substantial number of our shares of commaon stock in the public market or the
perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend 10 sell their shares,

Our ability to use owr net operating loss carry-forwards and certain other tax atfributes may be Kmited.

Under Section 382 of the Code, il a corporation undergoes an “ownership change” (generally delined as a
greater than 50% change, by value, in its equity ownership over a three-year period), the corporation’s ability to use its
pre-change net operating loss carry-forwards and other pre-change tax attributes (such as rezearch tax credits) to offset its
post-change income may be limited. We believe that additional fundraising efforts in the next three years, may trigger an
“ownership change™ Iimitation in the near future, As a result, if we eam net taxable mcome, our ability 1o use our pre-
change net operating loss carry-forwards to offset US. federal taxable income will be subject to limitations, which could
result in inereased fumre tax labality to us had we not been subject o such limitations.

Af securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inacewrate or unfavorable research about our
business, our stock price and rading volume conld decline,

The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that secunties or
industry analysts publish about us or our business, If one or more of the analysis who covers us downgrades our siock or
publishes inaccuraie or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price may decline. If one or more of these
analysis ceases coverage of our Company or fails to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock could decrease,
which might cause our stock price and trading volume to decline.

We do nor intend to pay dividends for the forexeeable futire and, as a resuli, vour ability te achieve a retirn on yoir
investment will depend on appreciation in the price of our common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock, and we do not intend to pay any cash
dividends in the foresceable future. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our
Board. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never oceur,
as the only way to realize any future gains as a return on their investments,

There can be no assurance that we will ever provide liguidity to our investors through a sale of our Company.

‘While acquisitions of pharmaceutical companies like ours are not uncommaon, potential investors are cautioned
that no assurances can be given that any form of merger, combination, or sale of our Company will take place or that any
merger, combination, or sale, even if consummated, would provide liquidity or a profit for our investors. You should nog
mvest in our Company with the expectation that we will be able 1o scll the business i order to provide liquidity or a
profit for our investors,

Belaware law amd provisions in our amended and restated bylaws conld make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest
difficult, therehy depressing the potentiol frading price of our conmon stock.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us

difficulr, limit attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our cumrent management or Board and adversely affect
our stock price.
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Provisions of our amended and restated bylaws may delay or discourage transactions invelving an actual or
potential change in our control or change n our mansgement, including transactions in which stockholders might
otherwise receive a premium for their shares, or transactions that our stockholders might otherwise deem to be in their
best interests. Therefore, these provisions could adversely affiect the price of our stock. Among other things, our amended
and restated bylaws:

o provide that all vacancies on our Board may only be filled by our Board and not by stockholders;

*  allow the holders of a pluralily of the shases of common stock entitled o vole in any election of directors to
elect all of the directors standing for election, if they should so choose; and

*  provide that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by our Board,

In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the
Delaware General Corporation Law, which gencrally prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad
range of business combinations with any “interested” stockholder for a period of three years following the date on which
the stockhalder became an “interested” stockholder,

Item 1. Properties

We are currently leasing office space for our execulive headguarters at 1000 Skokie Blvd i the Village of
Wilmette, Tllinois for our corporate offices, We believe that we will lease additional office space within the next 12
months as we continue to hire additional personnel.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are currently not, and 1o date have never been, a party to any adverse material legal proceedings.

FART 1T
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockhalder Matters and lssuer Purchases of Equity
Becurities
Market Information

Our common stock 15 listed under the symbol “MNPR™ on the Nasdag Capital Markei.
Holders

As of March 10, 2023, there were 13,193,172 shares of our common stock outstanding held by 30 holders of
record and approximately 2,700 beneficial stockholders,

Dividends

We have never paid cash dividends on any of our capital stock and we currently intend to retain our future
camings, if any, o fund the development and growth of our business, We do not intend 1o pay cash dividends 1o holders
of our contmon stock in the foreseeable futre,

Registration Rights

We are zubject 1o an agreement with TacticGem, LLC (“TaciicGem™), our largest stockholder, which obligates
us 1o file a Form 8-3 or other appropriate form of registration statement covering the resale of any of our common stock
by TacticGem, or its members Gem Pharmaceuticals, LLC, or Tactic Pharma, LLC, upon direction by TacticGem. We
are required 1o use our best efforts o have such registration statement declared effective as soon as practical after it 15
filed. In the event that such registration statement for resale is not approved by the SEC, and TacticGem submits a
witten request, we are required to prepare and file a registration statement on Form S-1 registering such common stock
for resale and io use our best efforts 10 have such registration statement declared effective as soon as praciical thereafier.
Additionally, if we propose to register our commaen stock for sale for cash, TecticGem and 1tz members have the right to
include some of their shares in such registration After registration, pursuant to these mghts, these shares will become
freely tradable without restriction under the Securitics Act other than pursuant 1o restrictions on affiliates under Rule 144,

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities.

There were no secunties issuances that were not registercd under the Secunities Act duning the reporting peniod.
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Ttem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations
together with our financial statements and related notes appearing at the end of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Some
of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth clsewhere in this Annual Report on Form (LK,
including information with respect 1o our plans and strategy for our business and related linancing activities, includes
forward-looking statements that involve nisks and uncertainties. You should read the “Risk Factors™ section of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, Item 1A, for a discussion of important factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking siatements contained in the following
discussion and analysis.

Overview

We are a chinical stage biopharmaceutical company focused on developing proprietary therapeutics designed 1o
extend life or improve quality of life for cancer patienis. We are building a drug development pipeline through the
licensing and acquisition of therapeutics in late preclinical or in clinical development stages, We leverage our scientific
and clinical expericnce to help reduce the risk of and accclerate the clinical development of our dreg product candidates.

Financial Status

Onir cash, cash equivalents and investments as of December 31, 2022, was 513.1 million. As discussed further
below and elsewhere in this Annual Report, we expect that our current funds will be sufficient for us 10 obtain topline
results from our ongoing open-label Phase 1b camsirubicin clinical trial as planned by the end of 2023 (but as discussed
below, this may not be the case if camsirubicin reaches even higher dose levels than we are anticipating and topline
results are deferred as dosing continues beyond 2023) and, assuming a positive result of the goino go interim analysis
decision anticipated by the end of March 2023, the continued enrollment in the Phase 3 portion of our engoing Validive
Phase 2b/3 (VOICE) clinical program. We will require additional funding to advance our clinical and preclinical
programs and we anticipate that we will seek (o rise additional capital within the next 12 months to fund our fulure
operalons.

Our primary funding source over the past three years was sales of shares of our common stock under at-the-
market sales programs through Capital on Demand™ Sales Agreements with JonesTrading Institutional Services LLC
(“Jones Trading™), During 2020 and the first quarter of 2021, we sold 1,964,724 shares of our common stock at an
average gross price of $10.02 per share for net proceeds of $19.100,603, after fees and commissions of $591,188, The
maximum aggregate offering priee under the prior agreement was reached during the first quarter of 2021 and there were
no further sales under that agreement. In April 2022, we entered into a new at-the-market sales agreement. Pursuant to
that agreement, during 2022, the Company sold 64,573 shares of its common stock at an average gross price per share of
S2.71 for net proceeds of $170,552, after fees and commissions of 34377, In addition, the Company incurred legal,
accounting and other fees 1otaling $83.234 for net proceeds afler fees, commissions and expenses of $87.318, From
Jangary 1, 2023 1o March 10, 2023, the Company sold 241,475 shares of its common stock at an average gross price per
share of $3.47 for net procecds of 836,836, after fees and commissions of $20,940,

Validive Clinical Update

In February 2021, we dosed the first patient in our Phase 2b/3 VOICE trial of Validived® for the prevention of
chemoradiation treatment (“CRT pinduced severe oral mucositis (“SOM™) in patients with oropharymgeal cancer
{*VOICE"). In August 2021, we successfully reached our original target of 20 sctivated clinical trial sites for the Phase
2b portion of the 2b/3 Validive® VOICE wnal and in September 2021, we received authorization 1o proceed with the
VOICE clinical trial in multiple countries in Europe. [n 2022, we completed enrollment of the Phase 2b portion of the
VOICE tnal and commenced enroliment in the Phase 3 portion. As of March 10, 2023, we have 81 climcal sites activated
and enrolling patients n the U5, and Europe. To be prepared for a potential positive go‘no-go decision based on the
interim analysis, we continue to activate additional sites globallv. This interim analysis. and the resulting go/no-go
decizion about whether to proceed 1o the Phase 3 portion of the wrial, is expected by the end of March 2023 If the interim
analysis results in a no-go decision, we would need to reconsider our efforts with respeet to Validive and refocus our
development efforts on our other product candidates. Validive has been our lead product candidate wo date and is the most
clinically advanced. and if we had to reconsider or abandon our efforts, it would likely materially adversely impact our
financing prospects, as well as the price of our common stock. Because the interim analysis is being performed by an
independent data monitonng commitiee, we do not know what the results will be as of the date of this Annual Repori,

To complete the VOICE clinical program, including, if required, completing a second Phase 3 confirmatory
clinical trial, we will require additional funding in the millions or tens of millions of dollars (depending on il we have
consummated a collaboration or partnership or neither for Validive), which we are planning to pursue within the next 12
months.
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Camsirubicin Clinical Update

In August 2021, we announced clearance from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) 1o proceed with
an open-label Phase 1b dose-cscalation clinical trial evaluating camsimubicin plus growth factor support { pegfilgrasting G-
C5F) in patients with advanced sofl tssue sarcoma {“ASTS"). In September 2021, we iniliated the Phase 1b clinical irial,
and in October 2021 we dosed the first patients. In February 2022, we announced that the first dose level of camsirubicin
had been completed n November 2021, with a positive recommendation from the trial safety review commitiee to
proceed 1o next higher dose level and that three patients had already been dosed at the second dose level, That dose level
was successfully cleared, as was the third and fourth dose levels, and we are presemly enrolling paticnts at the filth dosc
level. The fifth dose level is over twice the highest dose administered in any prior camsirubicin clinical trial (650 mg/m’
versus 265 mg/m®) and no drug-related cardiotoxicity has been observed 1o date up to the current dose-level. The open-
label Phase b camsirubicin dose-escalation tral is planning to enroll additional coborts until the maximum tolerable

dose is reached.

In November 2022, we presented an abstroct and poster of the Phase Ib clinical mnal data at the Connective
Tissue Oncology Socicty Annual Mecting in Vancouver, BC. Following completion of the Phase 1b clinical trial, we
continue 1o expect that Grupo Espafiol de Investigacion ¢n Sarcomas (“GEIS”™) will sponsor and lead a multi-country,
randomized, open-label Phase 2 clinical trial to evaluate camsinubicin head-to-head against doxorubicin, the current first-
line treatment for ASTS. We currently anticipate topline results in the camsirubicin Phase 1b clinical trial by the end of
2023 and believe we have sufficient funds to advance the trial through that date. However, if camsirubicin reaches higher
dose levels than we are anticipating, the Phase 1b clinical inal may still be dosing patients bevond the end of 2023 and
topline results may be deferred. Although we would likely consider this a posifive development, it 15 possible thal we
would require additional funding to compliete an extended Phase 1b clinical wial in this sineation. Regardless, additional
funding is expected 1o be required to suppont funther development through and beyond our ongoing Phase 1b clinical
trial,

MNPR-101 for Radiopharmacentical Use Development Update

Pursuant 1o our 5050 collaboration development agreement with NorthStar Medical Radisisotopes, LLC
(“NorthStar™) 10 develop potential radicimmunotherapeutics based on MNPR-101 (“MNPR-101 RITs"), we have
coupled MNPR-101 10 imaging und therapeutic radicisotopes. The resulting conjugates, MNPR-101-Zr and MNPR-101-
PCTA-Ac225, are designed to be highly selective agents that have the potential 1o image and kill certain cancer cells. By
eradicating these cancer cells with a uPAR-targeted RIT (“uPRIT™), the therapeutic goal i3 to spare healihy cells while
quickly killing the cancer cells.

Based on promising recently generated preclimcal imaging resulis with MNPR-101-Zr showing high uplake
across multiple tumor types, the companies committed to additional funding with the aim of initiating a first-in-human
imaging study with MNPR-101-Zr as carly as the ¢nd of this year. MNPR-101-Zr is a rirconium-89 labeled version of
MNPR-101, a highly selective amtibody against the urokinase plasminogen activator receptor (“uPAR"). Positron
cmission tomography (“PET”) imaging of preclinical mouse models for riple-negative breast, colorectal, and pancreatic
tumors displayed high and selective uptake of MNPR-101-Zr in these uPAR-expressing tumors, These proof-of-concept
studies provide support for a first-in-human PET imaging study with MNPR-101-Zr and a future therapeutic study using
the previcusly announced actinium-225 labeled MNPR-101 RIT. Overall, the imaging results demonstrate the potential
utility of MNPR-101 as a precision targeting agent for both imaging and therapy in multiple cancer indications.

MNPR=-202 and Related Analogs Updates

In June 2021, we entered into a collaboration agreement with the Cancer Science Institute of Singapore (CSI
Singapore™), one of Asia’s premier cancer research cenfers, at the MNational University of Singapore ("MUS")
{consistenily ranked as one of the world's top universities) to evaluate the activity of MNPR-202 and related analogs in
multiple types of cancer. MNPR-202 was designed to retain the same potentially non-cardiotoxic backbone as
camsimubicin but is modified at other positions which may enable it to work in cenain cancers that arc resistant to
camsirubicin and doxorubicin, In December 2020, we announced the issuance of our composition of manter LS. patent
(US10,430,340) covering MNPR-202 and related analogs. CSI Singapore has tested MNPR-202 in preclinical cancer
models with promising results. In December 2022, in collaboration with Dr. Anand Jevasckharan of CS1 Singapore, we

an abstract and poster of the preclinical data of MNPR-202 at the Amencan Society of Hematology 64th
Annual Mecting in New Orleans, LA,

Our Strategy
Cur management feam has exiensive expenience in developing therapeutics and medical technologies through

global regulatory approval and commercialization. In aggregate, companics they co-founded have achicved four dru
approvals and three diagnostic medical imaging device approvals in the ULS. and the EU, successfully sold an asset
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developed by management which 15 currently in Phase 3 clinical trials, sold two oncology-focused diagnostic imaging
businesses ta Fortune Global 1000 firms, and completed the clinical and commercial development and ultimately the sale
of a commercial biopharmaceutical company for over 800 million in cash. In addition, the team has supponed muliple
regulatory submissions with the FDA and EMA and launched multiple drugs in the U.S and the EU. Understanding the
prechnical, clinical, regulatory and commercial development processes and hurdles are key factors in successful drug
development and the expertise demonstrated by our management team across all of these areas increases the probability
of success in advancing the product candidates in our product pipeline. Our strategic goal is 1o acquire, develop and
commercialize promising oncology product candidates that address important unmet medical needs of cancer patients,
Seven key clements of our strategy to achieve this goal are to:

=  Leverage data generated from the Phase 2 Validive clinical trial to complete the execution of a
hopefully successful VOICE clinical program for Validive for SOM in oropharvogeal cancer
(“OPC™). In the prior Phase 2 clinical tnal the absolute incidence of SOM in OPC patients was reduced by
26.3%, the time to SOM onset was delayed, and the duration of discase in patients that developed SOM
was decreased by 15.5 days in the Validive 100 pg cohort versus placebo. In addition te the data from the
Phase 2 clinical 1nial, we believe the guidance from our key opinion leaders ("KOLs™) as well as from the
FDA and EMA, and our own intemal clinical trial design expertise, help position us well for an cffective
VOICE clinical trial program.

= (btain FDA and EMA approval of Validive to maximize the commercial potential of Validive in
both the U.S. and the EU, and seck marketing partnerships outside these markets. [ the VOICE
clinical program of Validive is successful and FI)A and EMA approvals are obtained, we currently intend
w commercialize Validive in the U.S. and the EU ourselves, which may include establishing our own
specialty sales force and seeking parinerships outside of these territories for regulatory approval and drug
sales and distribution,

#  Advance the clinical development of camsirubicin, by pursuing indications where doxorubicin has
demonstrated efficacy. ASTS will be the first indication, which is anticipated to allow camsirubicin to go
head-to-head against doxorubicin, the corent first-line reatment. In this indication, camsirubicin
previously demonstrated clinical benefit (stable discase or partial response) in 52.6% of patients evaluable
for wmor progression in a single-arm Phase 2 study. Clinical benefit was prn-Qonianal to dose and was
consistently observed at higher cumulative doses of camsirubicin (> 1000 mg/m®), Camsirubicin was very
well tolerated in this Phase 2 study and underscored the ability to potentially administer camsirubicin
without restriction as 1o cumulative dose (doxorubicin is limiled due 1o heart foxicity 1o 450 mg/m’
cumulative dose). Our carrent ongeing Phase 1b clinical trial continues towards establishing a new, higher
recommended dose for the next Phase 2 ASTS clinical trial.

*  Continue the development of MNPR-101-Zr, MNPR-101 RIT and related molecules as therapeutic,
diagnostic and imaging agents. We plan to continue the development of MNPR-101-Zr, MNPR-101 RIT
and related molecules for diagnostic, imaging, and therapeutic use in cancer.

= Continue the development of MNPR-202 and related analogs in multiple types of cancers. The 2-
pyrriline camsirubicin analog (MNPR-202) and related analogs represent proprietary composifions of
matier designed to retain the non-cardioionic backbone of camsirubicin vei exhibil novel feaiures in lerms
of antitumor activity and mechanism that distmguish these analogs from camsirubicin as well as from
doxorubicin, potentially addressing camsirubicin- and doxorubicin-resistant cancers.

*  Expand our drug development pipeline through advancing current asscis, in-licensing, and
acquisition of oncology product candidates. We plan to confinue the expansion of our drug dl;vclq:m:nl
pipeline through acquiring or in-licensing additional oncology product candidates, particularly those that
leverage existing scientific and clinical data that helps reduce the risks of the next steps in clinical
development.

- Utilize the expertise and prior experience of our team in the areas of assel acquisition, drug
development and commercialization to establish ourselves as a leading biopharmaceutical company.
O senior executive team has relevant experience in biopharmaceutical in-licensing and acquizitions as
well as developing product candidates through approval and commiercinlization. In aggregate, our team has
co-founded BioMarin Pharmaceutical (Nasdaq: BMRN), Sensant Corp (acquired by Stemens), American
BioOptics {asscts acquired by Olympus), Raptor Pharmaccuticals (SE00 million sale to Horzon
Therapeutics), and Tactic Pharma, LLC (“Tactic Pharma™) (sale of lead asset. choline tetrathiomolyvbdate,
was ultimately acquired by Alexion in June 2018 for 8764 million; Alexion was subscquently acquired by
AstraZencea).

Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company
We qualify as an “emerging growth company™ as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012

("JOBS Act”). An emerging growth company may take advantage of specified reduced reporting burdens that are
otherwise applicable generally to puhlic companies. These provisions include, but are not limited to:
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= inclusion of only two years, as compared to three years, of audited financial statements in addition to any
required unaudited interim financial statements with correspondingly reduced “Management's discussion
and analysis of financial condition and results of operations™ disclosures;

® an exemption from the auditor attestation requirement in the assessment of our infernal conirol over
fmancial reporting pursuant 1o the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Sarbanes-Oxley Act™);

& an exemption from compliance with any new requirements adopted by the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (“PCAOB"™) requiring mandatory audit [irm rotation;

s reduced disclosure about executive compensation arrangements; and

* an exemplion from the requirement 1o seck non-binding advisory voles on executive compensation or
golden parachute armngements.

We expect to take advantage of these provisions until we are no longer an emerging growth company. We will
remain an emerging growth company until the carlicst of (1) the last day of the year (a) following the fifth anniversary of
the completion of our initial public offering which is December 2024, (b) in which we have todal annual pross revenue of
at least $1.235 billion or (¢) in which we are deemed o be a large accelerated filer, which means the market value of our
commaon stock that is held by non-affiliates excceds $700 million as of the prior June 30th, and (2) the date on which we
have 1ssued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt dunng the prior three-year period.

We have elected 1o take advantage of centain of the reduced disclosure obligations in this Annual Repon on
Form 10-K, and may elect to take advantage of other reduced reporting requirements in future filings. As a result, the
mnformation that we provide to our stockholders may be reduced andior less detailed than what vou might find from other
public reporting companies.

The JOBS Act also permils an emerging growth company such as us o take advaniage of an exiended transition
period to comply with new or reviscd sccounting standards applicable to public companics until those standards would
otherwise apply 1o private companies. We have irrevocably elected 1o opt out of this provision and, as a result, we will
comply with new or revised accounting standards when they are required to be adopted by public companies that are not
cmerging growth companies. In addition, we are also a “smaller reporling company™ as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act and have clected to take advaniage of certain of the scaled back disclosure requirements available to
smaller reporting companies such as avoiding the extensive narrative disclosure required of other reporting companics,
particularly i the descripion of executive compensation,

Revenues

We are an emenging growth company. We have no approved drugs and have not generated any revenucs. To
date, we have engaged in acquiring or in-licensing drug product candidates, entering into collaboration agreements for
testing and clinical development of our drug product candidates and providing the infrastructure to support the clinical
development of our drg product candidates. We do nol anticipate commercial revenues from operations until we
complete testing and development of one of our drug product cundidates and obtain marketing approval or we sell, enter
into o collaborative marketing armangement, or oul-license ene of our drug product candidates 1o another party. See
“Liquidity and Capital Resources™.

Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

During the year ended December 31, 2022, there wene no relevant recently issued accounting pronouncements
that would impact our financial position and our consolidated results of operations and comprehensive loss or cashflows.

Critical Accounting Policles and Use of Estimates

While our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in Note 2 of our consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe the following accounting pelicies 1o be
cribical o the judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Clinical Trials Accruals

We accrue and expense the costs for clinical trial activities performed by third parties based upon estimates of
the percentage of work completed over the life of the individual study in accordance with agreements established with
coniract rescarch organizations, service providers, and clinical trial sites. We estimate the amounts fo acerue based upon
discussions with internal clinical personnel and external service providers as to progress or stage of completion of trials
or services and the agreed upon fee 1o be paid for such services. Costs of setting up clinical il sites for participation m
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the trials are expensed immediately as R&ED expenses. Clinical trial site cosis refated to patient screening and enroliment
are accrwed as patients are screened'entered into the tral.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation wrangements with emplovees, non-employee directors and
consultants using a fair value method, which requires the recognition of compensation expense for costs related to all
stock-based compensation grants, including stock option and resiricted stock unit (“"RSU™) grants. The fair value method
requires us to cstimate the fair value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option pricing model or
the closing stock price on the date of grant in the case of RSUs.

Stock-based compensation costs for steck awards granted to our employees. non-employee directors and
consultants are based on the fair value of the underlying instruments calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model on the date of grant for steck optionas and using the closing stock price on the date of grant for RSUs and
recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the requistte service period, which is the vesting period. Determining
the appropriate fair value model and related assumptions requires judgment, including scleoting methods for estimating
our future stock price volatility and expected holding term. The expected volatility rates are estimated based on our
actual historical volatility over the two-year period from our initial public offering on December 18, 20019, through
December 31, 2021, The expected term for stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021,
was estimated using the simplified method. Forfeitures only include actual forfeitures to-date as the Company accounts
for forfeitures as they oceur due to a limited history of forfeitures, We have not paid dividends and do not anticipate
paving a cash dividend in future vesting periods and, accordingly, use an expected dividend yield of zero. The risk-free
interest rate is based on the rate of US. Treasury securities with mamrities consistent with the estimated expected term of
the awards,

Resulis of Operations
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021

The following table summarnizes the results of our operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021:

Years Ended December 3,
(in thousands) 2022 2021 Variance
Rescarch and development expenses .. . 5 7.592 % 6493 § 1.09%
General and administrative expenses 2.945 2634 311
Total operating expenses . 10,537 9,127 1,410
Operating loss (10,537) (9,127) (1.410)
Interest income 21 24 3

Net loss ... . § (10.516) § (9.103) § (1.413)

Research and Development (“R&EDT) Expenses

R&D cxpenses for the year ended December 31, 2022 were 57,592,000, compared to $6,493,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2021, This represents an increase of $1,099.000 primarily anributed to (1) a 1,044,000 increase for
Validive clinical trial planning and execution including manufacturing costs, (2) a $460,000 increase due 1o camsirubicin
clinical trial planning and execution including manufacturing costs, (3) a $193, 000 increase in R&D consuliing. partially
offset by (1) a $334,000 decrease for R&D personnel salaries, bonuses, benefits and annual (non-cash) equity grants
and (2) 2 $64,000 net decrease in other R&D expenses,

General and Adminisirative (“G&A") Expenses

G&A expenses for the year ended December 31, 2022, were 82,945,000, compared 10 32,634,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2021, This represents an increase of $311.000 primarily atiributed 10 (1) a $349,000 increase in
Gé&A personnel salanes, bonuses, benefits and stock-based compensation for annual (non-cash) equity grants, and (2) a
$27,000 net increase in other G&A expenses partially offsct by a $65,000 decrease in patent costs,

Interest Income

Interest income for the vear ended December 31, 2022, decreased by $3,000 versus the vear ended December 31,
2021. The decrease was caused by lovwer bank balances offset by an increase in interest rates in 2022
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Liguidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liguidity

We have incurred losses and cumulative negative cash flows from operalions since we commenced operalions
resulting in an accemulated deficit of approximately $51.% millien as of December 31, 2022, We anticipate that we will
continue to incur losses for the foresceable future, We expect that our R&D and G&A cxpenses will increase to enable
the execution of our strategic plan. As a result, we anticipate that we will seek to raise additional capatal within the nexi
12 months o fund our future operations. We will seek to obtan needed capital through a combination of equity offerings,
including the usage of our Capital on Demand™ Sales Agreement with JonesTrading, debt financings, strategic
collaborations and gramt funding. To date, we have funded our operations through net proceeds from the initial public
offering of our common stock, net proceeds from sales of our commeon stock through at-the-market sales programs,
private placements of our preferred and common stock, and the net receipt of funds related to the acquisition of
camsirubicin, We anticipate that the currently available funds as of March 10, 2023, will fund our planned operations at
least through March 31, 2024,

We invest our cash equivalents in two money market accounts and U5, Treasury Bills.

Cash Flows

The following table provides information regarding our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2022, and
2021,

Years Ended December 31,

{in thousands) 022 2021 Variance
Net cash used in operating activities.., (7.228) § (7.317) 8§ %9
Net cash used in investing activities {4.919) - {4.219)
Net cash provided by financing acl 33 10,879 (10,846)
Effiect of exchange rafes {41 5 [d]
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents -3 (12.118) § 3,567 § {15.685)

During 2022, the Company began investing its idle cash due to the rising interest rates and at December 31,
2022, the Company holds short term liquid investments of 54,934,000 which cen be readily converted to cash, Durning the
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, we had net cash outflows of 512,118,000 and net cash inflows of $3,367.000,
respectively, a decrease of $15,685,000. During 2022, we had higher net cash used investing activitics and less funds
raised from sales of our common stock under an at-the-market siles program compared to 2021,

Cash Flow Used in Operating Activities

The cash flow used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2021 was essentially flat.

Cash Flow Used in Investing Activitics

The increase to cash flow used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to the
vear ended December 31, 2021 of approximately 54,919,000 was a result of our investment in U.S. Treasury Bills at the
end of 2022, Prior to 2022, idle cash was invested m money market accounts and recorded as cash equivalents,

Cash Flow Provided by Financing Activities

The decrease in cash flow provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2022, compared
to the year ended December 31, 2021, of approximately 510,846,000 was primarily due to higher net proceeds from sales
of pur common stock through an at-the-market sales program in 2021,

Future Funding Requircments

To date, we have not generated any revenue from product sales. We do not know when, or if, we will generate
any revenue from product sales. We do not expect to generate amy revenue from product sales or royalties unless and
uniil we obtain regulatory approval of amd commerecialize any of our current or future drug product candidates or we out-
licensze or sell a drug product candidate to another party. At the same lime, We expecl our expenses lo increase in
conncction with our engoing development activities, particularly as we continue the rescarch, development, future
preclinical studies and clinical trials of, and seck regulatory approval for, our current and future drug product candidates.
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If we obtain regulatory approval of any of our current or future drug product candidates, we will need substantial
additional funding for commercialization requircments and our continuing drug product development operations,

As a company, we have not completed development through marketing approvals of any therapeutic products.
We expect 10 continue 10 incur significant increases in expenses and mcreasing operating losses for the foresecable
future. We anticipate that our expenses will increase substantially as we:

s advance the clinical development and cxecute the regulatory strategy for Validive, assuming a positive
result of the go/no go inferim analysis decision anticipated by the end of March 2023;

&«  pdvance the clinical development and exccute the regulatory strategy for camsinubicing

. continue the preclinical activities and potentially enter clinical development of an MNPR-101-derived
radioimmunotherapeutics (MNPR-101 RIT) and companion diagnostics {MNPR-101-Zr). 1o treal cancer:

*  continue the preclinical activities, and potentially later-on enter clinical develapment, of MNPR-202 {and
related analogs) for various cancer indications;

*  acquire and'or license additional pipeline drug product candidaies and pursue the future preclinical andor
climical development of such drug product candidates;

*  seck regulatory approvals for any of our current and future drug product candidates that successfully
complete registration clinical trials;

*  gstablish or purchase the services of a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any
products for which we obtain marketing approval;

develop or contract for manulacturing/guality capabilities or establish a reliable, high quality supply chain
sufficient to support our clinical requirements and 1o provide suficient capacily to launch and supply the
markel for any product for which we obtain marketing approval: and

= add or contract for required operational, financial and management information systems and capabilities
and other specialized expent personnel 1o support our drug product candidate development and planned
commercialization effors.

We anticipate that the funds available as of March 10, 2023, will fund our obligations at least through March 31,
2024. We have based this estimuate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could use our available capital
resources sooner than we currently expect. Because of the numerous nsks and unceriaintics associated with the
development and commercialization of our drug product candidates, and the extent to which we enter into collaborations
with third partics to participate in the development and commercialization of our drug product candidates, we are unable
o accurately estimate with high reliability the amounts and timing required for increased capital outlays and operating
cxpenditures associated with our current and anticipated drug product candidate development programs.

Chir furare capital requirements will depend on many fectors, including:

= the progress of clinical development and regulatory inferactions and approvals of Validive;
«  the progress of clinical development and regulatory interactions and approvals of camsinubicing

. the costs, timing and outcomes of secking, obtaining, and maintaining FDA and international regulatory
approvals;

= the progress of preclinical and clinical development of MNPR-101-derived radioimmunoiherapeatics and
companion dagnostics, 1o treat cancer, including activities through our collaboration wath NorthStar;

*  the progress of preclinical and potentially clinical development of MINPR-202 {and related analogs):

& the number and charactenistics of other drug product candidates that we may license, acquire, invent or
olherwise pursuc;

and clinical trialz and

#  the scope, progress, timing, cost and results of rescarch, preclinical devel
regulatory requirements for future drug product candidates;

= the costs associated with manufacturing/quality requirements and establishing or contracting for sales,
marketing and distribution capabilitics;
. our ability to maintain, expand and defend the scope of our intellectual property portfolio, including the

amount and timing of any payvments we may be required to make in connection with the licensing, filing,
defense and enforcement of any patents or other intellectual property rights;

*  our need and ability to hire or contract for additional management, administrative, scientific, medical, sales
and marketing, and manufscturing/quality and other specialized personnel or external experiise;
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= the effect and timing of entry of competing products or new therapies that may limit market penetration or
prevent the introduction of our drug product candidates or reduce the commercial potential of our product
portfolio;

. our need to implement additional required internal management, operational, record keeping and other
systems and infrastructure; and

. the economic and other terms, timing and success of our existing collaboration and licensing armangements
and any collaboration, licensing or other arrangements into which we may enter in the future, including the
timing of receipt of or payment to or from others of any license, milestone or royalty payments under these
arrangemenis.

Expenditres are expected to increase in 2023 and onward for:

& assuming a positive result of the go/io go interim analysis decision anticipated by the end of March 2023,
clinical research services and chnical site fees for owr Phase 3 VOICE clinical program, mcluding, if
required, completing a second Phase 3 confirmatory clinical irial;

»  process development, manufacturing costs, clinical trial expenses and clinical database management of
camsirubicin in connection with the Phase Ib dose escalation elinical trial and other future clinical
development;

*  support of the development of MNPR-101-derived radicimmunotherapeutics (MNPR-101 RIT) and
companion diagnostics {MNPR-=101-Zr) to treat cancer, including activities through our collaboration with
NorthStar;

» preclinical studies {and if successful, clinical studies) of MNPR-202 (and related analogs); and

s emplovee compensation and consulting fees to support the increased scope of activities required for the
s of our product candidate programs including Validive, camsirubicin, MNPR-101 RIT (uPRIT and
related compounds) and companion dingnostics (MNPR-101-Zr) and MNPR-202 (and related analogs).

We have activated clinical inal sites and are dosing patients in our VOICE clinical trial. In order to complete the
VOICE clinical program, including, il required, completing a second Phase 3 confirmatory clinical iial, we will require
addinonal funding in the millions or tens nfmlthuns nl‘dnl lars (depending on if we have consummated a collaboration or
parinership or nerther for Validive), or find a suitable pharmaceutical pariner, both of which wie are planning to pursue
within the next 12 months. There can be no assurance that any such events will occur, Wi have also initiated and
commenced dosing in our Phase 1b camsirubicin clinical trial. We intend to continee evaleating drug product candidates
for the purpose of growing our pipeline. Identifying and secuning high-quality compounds usually takes time and related
expenses; however, our spending could be significantly accelerated in 2023 and onward if additional drug product
candidaics are acquired and enter chmcal development. In this event, we may be required fo expand our management
team, and pay higher contract manufacturing costs, contract research organization fees, other climcal development costs
and insurance costs that are not currently projected. Beyond our need 1o raise additional funding within the next 12
months to complete the VOICE clinical program, additional long-term funding 12 needed 1o commercialize Validive, if
approved, and otherwise generally to support our current and [uture product candidates through clinical rials, approval
processes and, if applicable, commercialization,

Until we con generate a sulficient amount of product revenue 1o inance our cash requirements. we expect 1o
finance our future cash needs primarnly through a combination of equity offerings, including the usage of our Capital on
M"' Sales Agreement with JonesTrading, debt fi ings, strategic collaborations and grant funding. To the extent
that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the ownership interest of our
current stockholders will be diluted, and the terms of these scouritics may include liguidation or other preferences that
adversely affect our current stockholders” nghts. Debt financing, if available, may inwvolve agreements that include
covenants limiting o restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurnng additional debt, making capital
expenditures or declaring dividends. 1T we raise additional funds through marketing and distribution arrangements or
other collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing armangements with other pariics, we likely will have to share or
relinguish valuable rights 1o our technologies. fulure revenue streams. research programs o drug product candidates or
grant licenses on terms that may not be favoersble w us, which will reduece our future retums and affect our future
operating flexibility, If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may
be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our pipeline product development or commercialization efforts or grant
n'ghlslm others to develop and market drug product candidares that we would otherwise prefer to develop and markes
ourselves.




Contractual Obligations and Commitmenis
License, Development and Collaboration Agreements
Omnxen 5.4,

In June 2016, we executed an agreement with Onxeo S A, a French public company, which gave us the
exclusive option to license {on a world-wide exclusive basis) Validive (clonidine hydrochlonide mucobuccal tabler;
clomdine HCl MBT a mucoadhesive tablet of clonidine based on the Launad mucoadhesive technology. The agreement
includes clinical, regulatory, developmental and sales milestones that could reach up to $108 million il we achieve all
milestones, and escalating royaltics from 5% to 10% on net sales, In September 2007, we exercised the option to license
Validive from Onxeo for 51 million, but as of March 10, 2023, we hove not been reqiiired to pay Onxeo any other funds
under the agreement. We will need to raise significant funds or enter into a collaboration parinership to support the
completion of clinical development and marketing approval of Validive,

Under the agreement, we arce required to pay royaltics to Onxeo on a product-by-product and country-by-country
basis until the later of (1) the date when a given product is no longer within the scope of a patent claim in the coumiry of
sale or manufacture, (2) the expiry of any extended exclusivity period in the relevanm country (such as orphan drug
exclusivity, pediatric exclusivity, new chemical entity exclusivity, or other exclusivity granted bevond the expiry of the
relevant patent), or (1) a specific time period after the first commercial sale of the product in such country. In most
counines, ncluding the US,, the patent term is generally 20 years from the carliest clomed filing date of a non-
provisional patent application in the applicable country, not taking into consideration any polential patent lerm
adjustiment that may be filed in the future or any regulatory extensions that may be obtained. The royalty iermination
provision pursuant to {(3) described above is shorter than 20 years and is the least likely cause of termination of royalty
payments,

The Onxeo hicense agreement does not have a pre-determmined term, bul expires on a product-by-product and
country-by-country basis; that is, the agreement expires with respect to a given product in a given country whenever our
rovalty payment abligations with respect to such product have expired. The agreement may also be terminated carly for
cause if either we or Onxeo materially breach the agreement, or if either wie or Onxeo become insolvent. We may also
choose to terminate the agreement, either in its entirety or as to a certain product and a certain country, by providing
Omnxeo with advance notice.

Grupo Espaiol de Investigacion en Sarcamas (“GEIS™)

In June 2019, we executed a clinical collaboration with GEIS for the development of comsirubicin in patients
with advanced soft tissue sarcoma (“ASTS”). Following completion of the Phase Ib chinical trial in the ULS. that we
mitiated in the third quarter of 2021 with the first patient dosed in October 2021, we continue to expect that GEIS will
sponsor and lead a multi-country, randomized, open-label Phase 2 clinical trial o evaluate camsirubicin head-to-head
against doxorubicin, the current first-line treatment for ASTS. We will provide study drug and supplemental financial
support for the clinical trial. For quanter ended March 31, 2021, we incurred $0.3 million in expenses under the GEIS
agreement and other clinical-related expenses including clinical material manifacturing and database management
expenses in support of the then-planned GEIS Phase 2 camsirubicin clinical trial. We can terminate the agreement by
providing GEIS with advance notice, and without affecting our rights and ownership to any related intellectual property
or clinical data. In the second quarter of 2021, due 10 regulatory delays in Spain, we decided to conduct an open-label
Phaze Ib clinical trial of camsirubicin in the U.S., therefore no expenses were incurred related to the GEIS collaboration
bevond March 31, 2021,

XOMA Ltd.

Pursuant 10 a non-exclusive license agreement with XOMA Lid. for the humanization technology used in the
development of MNPR-101, we are obligated to pay XOMA Lud. clinical, regulatory and sales milestones which could
reach up to §14.925 million if we achieve all milestones for MNPR-101. The agreement does not require the payment of
sales royaltics. There can be no assurance that we will achicve any milestones. As of March 10, 2023, we had not
reached any milestones and had not been required to pay XOMA Ltd. any funds under this license agreement.

Service Providers

In the normal course of business, we contract with service providers (o assist in the performance of R&D,
including drug product manufacturing, process development, clinical and preclinical development, and GE&A including
financial strategy. audit, tax and legal suppornt. We can ebect 1o discontinue the work under these agreemients at any lime.
We could alse enter into collaborative research and development, contract research, manufacturing and supplier
agreements in the future, which may require upfront payments and‘or long-term commitments of cash.
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Office Lease

We are currently leasing office space for our executive headquarters at 1000 Skokie Blvd,, in the Village of
Wilmette, Hlinois for 84,238 per month through February 2024, and we anticipate that we will lease addivional space in
the fulure as we hire additional personnel.

Legal Contingencies
We arc currently not, and 1o date have never been, a party to any adverse material legal procecdings.
Indemnification

In the normal course of business, we enter into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of representations
and warrantics and provide for gencral indemnification. Our exposure under these agreements is unknown because it
mnvolves claims that may be made against us in the future, but that have not yet been made. To date, we lave not pard any
claims or been required o defend any action related to our indemnification obligations. However, we may record charges
in the future as a result of these indemnification obligations,

In accordance with our Sccond Amended and Restated Centificate of Incorporation, Amended and Restated
Bylaws and the indemnification agreements entered into with each officer and non-emplovee director, we have
indemnification obligations to our officers and non-employee directors for cerfain cvenls or occumences, subject to
certain limits, while they are serving at our request in such capacity. There have been no claims Lo date, See ltem 1A -
“Risk Factors - We have Imited the liability of and indemnificd ouwr directors and officers.”™

Item B. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required to be filed in this item appears on pages F-1 to F-25 of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.

liem 9, Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
MNane,
ltem 9A. Controls and Procedures

Our Chiel Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have provided certifications filed as Exhibats 31,1 and
320, and 31.2, respectively. Such certifications should be read in conjunction with the information contained in this Item
A for a more complete understanding of the matters covered by those centifications,

{a) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control aver Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal conirol over financial
reporting, as defined in Rule 13al 5(1) of the Sceuritics Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Aet™). Our internal control
over financial reporting is a process designed 10 provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the financial
reponting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with ULS. generally accepted
accounting principles. This process includes those policies and procedures (i) thal pertain 1o the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets, (i) that receipts and
expenditures are being made only n accordance with anthorizations of our management and non-employee directors, (i)
that provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of our assets that could have a matenal effect on our financial statements, and () that provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
GAAP. Because of its inherent limitations, intemnal control over financial reporting may not prevemt or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any cvaluation of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are
subject o risk that the internal control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Cur management has assessed the effectivencss of our internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2022, Management based this assessment on the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013), Management's assessment included an
cvaluation of the design of our internal control over financial reporting and testing of the operational effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting. Based on management’s assessment, management has concluded that, as of
December 31, 2022, our internal control over financial reporting was effective.
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{b} Disclosure Contrals and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our
Chiefl Exccutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2022, pursuant o Rules 13a15(¢) and 15d15(¢) under the Exchange Act. Based on that evaluation, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chicf Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures, as of
such date, were effective.

{e) Changes in Internal Contral over Financial Reporting

We have concluded that the consolidated financial statements and other financial information mcluded i this
Annual Report on Form 10K fairly present in all material respects our financial condition, results of operations and
comprehensive loss and cash flows as of, and for, the periods presented.

There have been no changes in our intemal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December
31, 2022 that have materially affected. or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reponing.

Item 9B. Other Information

On March 20, 2023, our Board of Directors (“Board ™) increased the size of our Board from five to six members,
Simulaneously, upon recommendation from our Corporate Governance & Nominating Committee, our Board appointed
Kim R. Tsuchimoto to serve on our Board until our next annual mecting of stockholders. Ms. Tsuchimoto is our Chief
Financial Officer and brings over 25 years of experience in the biopharma industry.
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PART I
Item 10, Directors, Exccutive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this liem regarding our directors, executive officers and corporate govemance is
incorporated into this seciion by reference to the sections captioned “Election of Directors™ and ~Executive Officers” in
the proy statement for our 2023 annual meeting of stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC pursuant to
Regulation 14A not later than 1 20 days after December 31, 2022,

Item 11. Exccutive Compensation

The information required by this Ttem regarding executive compensation is mcorporated into this section by
reference to the section captioned “Executive Compensation™ in the proxy statement for our 2023 annual mecting of
stockhobders, which will be filed with the SEC pursuant 10 Regulation 14A not later than 120 days after December 31,
2022.

ltem 12, Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matiers

The information required by this lem regarding security ownership of our beneficial owners, management and
related stockholder matters is incorporated into this section by reference 1o the section captioned “Security Ownership of
Centain Beneficial Owners and Management” in the proxy statement for our 2023 annual mecting of stockholders, which
will be filed with the SEC pursuant 1o Regulation 14A not later than 120 days after December 31, 2022,

The information required by this Ttem regarding the secuntics authorized for issuance under our equity
compensation plans is incorporated into this section by reference to the section captioned “Equity Compensation Plan
Information” in the proxy statement for our 2023 annual meeting of stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC
pursuant to Regulation 14A not later than 120 days after December 31, 2022,

Item 13, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this ltem regarding certain relationships, related transactions and director
independence is incorporated inte this section by reference 10 the sections captioned “Transactions with Related Persons,
Promoters and Certain Control Persons,” “Review, Approval and Ratification of Transactions with Related Parties™ and
“Director Independence” in the proxy statement for our 2023 annual meeting of stockholders, which will be filed with
the SEC pursuant 1o Regulation 14A not later than 120 days after Decembser 31, 2022,

ltem 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The information required by this ltem regasrding our principal accountant fees and services is incorporated inlo
this =ection by reference to the section caplioned “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm™ in the proxy

statement for our 2023 annual meeting of stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC pursuant o Regulation 14A not
later than 120 days after December 31, 2022,
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PART IV
Item 15, Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule

1. Financial Statements

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (FCAOB 1D: 207)
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the Years Ended December 31, 2022

aml 2021

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders” Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

MNaotes w Consolidated Financial Statements
2, Financial Statements Schedules

F-5
F-6
F-71aF-19

Chler financial statements schedules are not included because they are nol required, of the information is otherwise

shown in the Consolidated Financial Statements or notes thereto.
b} Exhibiis
The following exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Exhibit  Document Incorporated by Reference From:
30 Seeond Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation Form 10-K filed on March 26, 2018
32 Amended and Restated Bylaws Form 10-0 filed on May 12, 2022
4.1 Deseription of Registered Scourities Filed herewith as Exhibit 4.1

101*  License Agreement with XOMA Lud Form 10-K filed on March 26, 2018

10.2*  Option and License Agreement with Onxeo S.A. Form 10-K filed on March 26, 2018

10.3*  Contribution Agreement (351) - Containing Registration Rights Form 10-K filed on March 26, 2018
with TacticGem

10.4 2016 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended Form DEF 14A filed on Apnl 29, 2022

10.5 Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement Form 10-K filed on March 24, 2022

106 Form of Non-gualified Stock Option Agreement Form 10-K filed on March 24, 2022

n.7 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice Form 10-K filed on March 24, 2022

In.g Emplovient Agreement of Chandler D, Robinsen — effective Form 10-K filed on March 26, 2018
NMovember 1, 2007

109 Employment Agreement of Kim R. Tsuchimoto — effective Form 10-K filed on March 26, 2018
Nowvember 1, 2017

10,10 Amendment One 10 Employment Agreement of Kim R. Tsuchineoto  Form 10-K filed on March 26, 2018

— effective March 1, 2018

1.1 J(‘onsul:sz %llj\ccmnm of pRx Consulting ( Patrice Rioux) - effective  Form 10-K filed on March 24, 2022
anuary 1, 202

10,12 Consulting Agreement of pRx. Consulting (Patrice Rioux) - effective  Form 10-K filed on March 24, 2022
October 1, 2021

10,12 Amendment No | to Consulting Agreement of pRx Consulting Form 10-K filed on March 24, 2022
{Patnice Rioux) — effective October 1, 2021

10,14 Consulting ment of pRx Consulting (Patrice Rioux) - effective - . ik T %
i, 2" ‘E’“ Filed herewith as Exhibit 10.2

10,15 (zon:!.lltlng Agr-:cmcm of Christopher M, Starr — effective January 1, Form 10-K filed on March 24, 2022

1016 Capital on Demand™ Sales Agreement with JonesTrading "
institutional Services, LLC Form 8-K filed on April 20, 2022

21.1 Subsidianes of Monopar Therapeutics Inc. a3 of December 31, 2022 Filed herewith as Exhibat 21,1

231 Conscnt of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Filed herewith as Exhibit 23.1

4.1 Power of Attomey (included in the signature page hercto)

3Ll Certification of Chandler D. Robinson, Chief Executive Officer Filed herewith as Exhibit 31.1

31.2 Cenification of Kim R. Tsuchimoto, Chief Financial Officer Filed herewith as Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Chandler D). Robinson, Chief Executive Cfficer and
Kim R. Tsuchimoto, Chiel Financial Oficer

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

Inlire XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and
contained in Exhibit 101)

Confidential Information has been omitied and filed separatel

321
101.INS
10LSCH
101L.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

104

Filed herewith as Exhibit 32,1

with the SEC on exhibits marked with {*).

Confidential treatment has been approved with respeet to the omitted information, pursuant 1o an Order dated January 8,

2018,
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SIGNATURES

Pursuam to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Seccurities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report 10 be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

MONOPAR THERAPEUTICS INC

Dated: March 23, 2023 By:/s' Kim R. Tsuchimoio
Name: Kim Tsuchimoto
Title: Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes
and appoints Chandler D. Robinson and Kim R. Tsuchimoto, his anomey-in-fact, with the power of substitution, for him
in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10K and 1o file the same, with exhibits
thercto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, herchy ratifying
and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virlue
hercof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this repon has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capscities and on the dates indicated:

Signatures Title hate

/s/ Chandler . Robinson March 23, 2023
Chandler Robingon Chiel Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Excoutive Officer)
/+ Kim R, Tsuchimoto March 23, 2023
Kim Tsuchimoto Chief Financial Officer and Dhrecior

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal

Accounting Officer)
/& Christopher M., Stamr March 23, 2023
Christopher Starr Executive Chairman of the Board and

Director
/s/ Raymond W, Anderson March 23, 2023
Raymond W. Anderson Director
/s/ Michael J. Brown March 23, 2023
Michael Brown Director
/s Arthur 1. Klausner March 23, 2023
Arthur Klausner Director
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INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm...
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 20"1 2
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the Years Ended December 31, 2022
and 2021.. i
Comhdawd Staucmma ul'sm.khuldera Lqu:ly lur llw 'I’turi Fndml I}wcmbcr \1 ’0'-'2 .md 20"'
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 202

Maotes to Consolidated Financial Statements ...
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Monopar Therapeutics Inc.
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have sudited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Monopar Therapeutics Inc, and its subsidianies (the
“Company™) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, andihe related consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity and cash flows, for cach of the two years in the period ended December 31,
20022, and the related notes {collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the peried
ended December 31, 2022, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is 1o
express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting
firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB™) and are required to be
independent with respect 1o the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securitics and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits i sccordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due 1o error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged 1o perform, an
audit of its nternal control over financial reporting. As pant of our audits, we are required 1o obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company's intermal control over financial reporting, Accordingly, wie express no such opinion,

Our asdis mcluded performing procedures o assess the nsks of matenal misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining. on a test basis, evidence regarding the amoums and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
managemeni, as well as evaluating the overall preseniation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion,

/s/ BPM LLP
We hive served as the Company”s auditor since 2015,

Walnut Creek, California
March 22, 2023




Monopar Therapeutics Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31,
2022 2021
Assels
Current assels:
Cash and cash cquivalenis . 8 BI86,194 § 20,303,569
Investments........ 4.933,550 -
Other current assets i 45982 217,745
Totn] CUMTENT BESEES oo e et st sre e sestees s enses s snnsen s ssieiensenieeee 13,105,726 20,521,614
Operating lease nght-of-use asset 61,228 -

Total assets.. § 13226954

S 10.521.614

Liabilities and Stockholders” Equity

Current habilities:

Accoums payable, scerued expenses and other current Habilities .o, 8 3128894 § 1,580,543
Tl imvind T o on s SR P . 2B 1,580,543
Non- curreit operating lease liabiliy BADR -
Total liabilitics ... 3.137.302 1.580,543
Commitments and contingencies (Note §)
Stockholders” equity:
Commeon stock, par value of $0.001 per share, 40,000,000 shares authorized, 12,946,573
and 12,598,125 shares issucd and outstanding at December 31, 2022, and December
31, 2021, respectively... s 12,947 12,598
Additional paid-in capital, 61,871,784 60220016
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).. £942 {3, 160)

Accumulated deficit...

(S1804,021) (41.288,383)

Taotal stockholders” equi

10,089,652

18,941,071

- 5§ 13,226,954

“Total lizhilities and stockholders” equily.

5 205216014

The accompanying notes are an integral pan of these consolidated financial statements,
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Monopar Therapeutics Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

For the Years Ended
December 31
2022 2021
Operating expenscs;
Research and development .. w5 T59L,6001 § 6,493,208
General and administrative.. 2,945,276 _ 2.634.040
Total operating expenses..

10,536,877 _ 9.127.248

Loss from operations.. (10536.577)  (9.127.248)

Interest income

& 21,239 24,024

Net loss. (10,515,63%)  (9,103,224)
Oiher comprehensive income:

Forcign currency translation gain/{loss). (2.937) 4713

Unrealized gain on investments 15,039 -
Comprehensive loss - S{10,503,536) S!g_ﬂﬂﬁ,ﬁl 1)
Net loss por share:
Weighied average shares outstanding:

Basic and diluted ..........cooooorecreeresrenes,

12,718,166 12471217

The accompanying notes are an integral pan of these consolidated financial statements,
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Monopar Therapeutics Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders” Equity
Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Accumulated
iher
Additional  Comprehensive Tatal
Common Stock Paid-in Income Arcumulaicd Stockhobders'
Shares  Amosumt _ Capitsl {Loas) Drficit Equity.
Balass ar January L 2021 o e 11ASIAGS § 11453 $47.373.570 § (AN 21851595 15691991

Tasmnd e of comman stock under o Capitsl os Demand

Sabes Agreement with honesTrading Ietitutional Services

LLC, met of commissions snd foes of 3358053 1004047 1,104 10,534,208 - — 10.925.512
Issmce of common stock 10 non-zmpl directors

pursmant to vested restricted stock weits 12,020 12 12y — — —

lmmafmmwmmloimmmlumd

resiricied stock undts, nel ol ases .o 25,680 bl 1h3.279) 163,253}

lssuange of common slock upon exercise o‘f’

stack optives. . Vs v 2913 3 17475 - = 1TATE

Stock-hased compensation L“uruh'l - - | OS5 - - 1 468,054

Netlemt.. .. - - - — 0B (RI03224)

OIhun-lprd-cﬂun mcome, 4713 4718
Balance at Diecember 3, 2021 12598125 12598 60320016 (30600 bl 28R 3EY) 1E541.071

Issimance of common stock under a Capital om Demand ™

Sales Apreoment with fonesTrading Iestrtutional Services

LLLC, ret of consmisssons, foos and expemcs of SK7.611 ... B4.5T3 [ B7.253 H7.318

Issuance of common stk 1o son-employee direcion

pursasni to vested resiricted stock umits,, . 45,744 45 45} -_ - -

Issuance of common stexck io employees ml!n\md

restricied sock uniis, not of e 130 ™ {76,703} (6633

Fssuaniy of common sk upom exerdise

e T S (R [ - — — 16

Stock- Iumlrmnpcmmm |w<~w::. - —  ledl 26l - —_ 1.641,265

Net loat...—... = (05186381 (10.815.63%)

f.hbcnwwthcmw meoms., 12102 12,102
Balamce ai December 31, 2022 12546870 § 11547 S0].571.784 § FO41 5 (SLE02108  |DONGAST

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial stalements.




Monopar Therapeutics Inc.

Conselidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years
Ended December 31,

2022
Cash Mows from ngur:ting activities:

2021

Net loss.... e SU0S15,638) $(9,103,224)

-’ad_puslmnts le tmncllc ncl Iow-s lll tm cuh usod m opcmlmg.adwnws
Stock-based compensation expense (non-cash).... 1,641,263
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, ney

Onther current assels.., o 171,755
Accounts pavable, a:m.lul cxpenses and nlht:r umml ]ul‘n]' e 1478290
Operating lease nght-of-use assets and labilites, net. 4,238
Net cash used in operating :bcl!u‘tlci. (7.228.559)
Cash fows from investing activities:
Purchase of investments ......

Wet cash used in investing activities. {4.918.511)
Cash Mows from financing activities:

Cash procecds from the sules of commeon stock under a Capital on Demand™ Sales

| 468,054

(86, 198)
403,967

(7.317.400)

W _A(4518.511) -

Agreement... % 109,337 10,925,312
Taxes paid mlnlod :u n:‘: aharc -m-n[erm.n: ul' wslcd msmmd a.tm.k u 5. (Th.633) (63,253)
Cash proceeds from the issuance of stock upon exercise of stock optio 169 17478
Met cash provided by financing activitics 32,873 10879537
Effect of exchange rates... . (3ATE) 4,624
et increase (decrease) in cash mdca.d! cqumlenls serserinsarrrrssasaersrasasaenrses (1L 11T678) 3,566,760

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 20,303,869 16,737,109

Cash and cash equivalents ot end of period S_8.186.194 $20.303.869

The accompanying notes are an integral pan of these ¢ lidated financial s,
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MONOPAR THERAPEUTICS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022
Note 1 - Natwre of Business and Ligquidity
Nature of Business

Monopar Therapeutics Inc. (“Monopar™ or the "Company™) is a clinical-stage biopharmaccutical company focused on
developing proprietary therapeutics designed 1o extend life or improve quality of life for cancer patients. Monopar
currently has four compounds in development: 1) Validive" {clonidine hvdrochlonide mucobuceal tablet; clonidine HCI
MBT), a Phase 203 clinical stage, first-in-class mucoadhesive bueccal tablet for the prevention of radiation induced
severe oral mucositis (“SOM™) in oropharyngeal cancer patients; 2) camsirubicin (generic name for MNPR-201, GPX-
150; S-imino-13-deoxydoxorubicin, o Phase b clinical stage novel analog of doxorubicin engincered specifically to
retain anticancer activity while minimizing toxic effects on the heart; 3) MNPR-101 RIT and MNPR-101-Zr. a
preclinical stage uPAR-targeted antibody being developed as a radioimmunotherapeutic and companion diagnostic for
advanced cancers; and 4) an carly stage camsirubicin analog, MNPR-202, for various cancers.

Liguidity

The Company has incurred an accumulated deficit of approximately $51.8 million as of December 31, 2022, To date, the
Company has primarily funded its operations with the net proceeds from the Company’s initial public offering of its
common stock on Nasdag, sales of its common stock in the public market through at-th rket sales agr

private placements of convertible prefermed stock and of common stock and cash provided in the camsinibicin asset
purchase iransaction. Management estimaies that currently available cash will provide sufficient funds to enable the
Company to meet its obligations at least through March 2024, The Company’s ability to fund its future operations,
including the continued clinical development of Validive and camsirubicin, is dependent upon its ability o execute its
business strategy. to obtain additional funding and'or 1o execute collaborative research agreements. There can be no
cortainty that future financing or collaborative research agreements will occur in the amounts required or at o time needed
to maintain operations. if at all,

The coronavirus disease (“COVID-19") continues to alfect economies and business around the werld. In response 1o
COVID-19 and its ¢ffects on clinical inals, in 2020 Monopar modified the original adaptive design Phase 3 clinical trial
for its lead product candidate, Validive, (o be a Phase 2b/3 climical trial C"VOICE"™) to better it the types of trals which
can enroll sufficient required patients in the current environment. This modification allowed the Company to activate the
VOICE clinical wrial without requiring near-term financing. To complete the VOICE clinical program, including. if
required, completing a second Phase 3 confirmatory clinical trial, Monopar will require additional funding in the millions
or tens of millions of dollars (depending on if the Company has consummated a collaboration or partnership or neither
for Validive), which it is planning to pursue within the next 12 months, Due to many uncertainties, the Company 15
unable to estimate COVID-19"s financial impact or duration in light of global vaccine rollouts, treatment options and
potential surges of new cases from current or future COVID-19 vanants or its potential impact on the Company”s current
chnical trials, including COVID-19"s effect on drug candidate manufactunng, shipping, patient recruitment at clinical
sites and regulatory agencics around the globe.

The Russia-Ukraine war, and resulting sanctions against Russia and Russian entities or allies, have inereased fuel costs
and may cause shipping delays. The broader economie, trade and financial market consequences are uncertain af this
time, which may increase the cost of supplies for the Company’s clinical materials, may delay the manufacture of its
clinical materials, may increase costs of other goods and services, or make it more difficult or costly o rise additional
financing. any of which could cause an adverse cffect on the Company's clinical programs and on the Company’s
financial condition.

Market vaniables, such as inflation of product costs, higher capital costs, labor rates and fuel, freight and energy costs, as

well as geopolitical events could likely canse the Company to suffer significant increascs in ils operating and
administrative expenses.
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MONOPAR THERAPEUTICS INC,
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022
Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements include the financial results of Monopar Therapeutics Inc., its wholly-owned
French subsidiary, Monopar Therapeutics, SARL, and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiary, Monopar Therapeutics
Australia Pty Lid and have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the ULS,
(“GAAPT) and include all disclosures required by GAAP for financial reporting. All intercompany accounts have been
eliminated. The principal sccounting policies applied in the preparation of these ¢ lidated financial statements are set
out below and have been consistently applied in all periods presented. The Company has been primarily imvolved m
performing rescarch activities, developing product candidates, and raising capital to support and expand these activities.

The sccompanying consolidated financial statements coniain all normal, recurring adjustments necessary to present fairly
the Company s consolidaed financial position as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company’s consolidated resulis of
operations and comprehensive loss and the Company’s consolidated cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2022
and 2021,

Functional Curreney

The Company’s consolidated funchional currency 15 the ULS, Dollar. The Company's Australian subsidiary and French
subsidiary use the Australian Dollar and European Euro, respectively, as their functional currency. At each quarter-end,
cach forcign subsidiary’s balance shects are ranslated into U8, Dollars based upon the quarter-end exchange rate, while
their statements of operations and comprehensive loss and statements of cash flows are translated into ULS. Dollars based
upon an aversge exchange rate during the period,

Comprelensive Loss
Comprehensive loss represents net loss plus any income or losses not reported in the consolidated statements of

operations and comprehensive loss, such as foreign currency translations gains and losses and unrealized gaing and losses
on debt security investments that are reflected on the Company’s ¢ lidated of stockholders” equity.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make cstimates and
assumptions that affect the repored amounts of assets and labilities, disclosure of contingent assets and habilities, and
repened amounts of expenses in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could
differ from those cstimates,

Going Concern Assessment

The Company applies Accounting Standards Codification 20540 (“ASC 205-40°"), Disclosure of Uncertainties abowt an
Enmtity s Ability vo Continue as o Going Concern, which the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“"FASB”) issucd to
provide guidance on determining when and how reporting companies must disclose going concem uncertainties in their
financial statements, ASC 205-40 requires management 1o perform interim and annual asscssments of an entity”s ability
to continue as a going concern within one year of the date of issuance of the entity's financial statements {or within one
year after the date on which the financial statements are available to be issued, when applicable). Further, a company
must provide certain disclosures if there is “substantial doubt about the entity's ability to confinue as a going concern.” In
February 2023, the Company analyred its cash roquirements st beast through March 2024 and has determined that, based
upon the Company’s current available cash, the Company has no substantiol doubt about its ahility to continue as a going
concem,

Cash Equivalenis
The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with a maturity of %0 days or less on the date of

purchase 1o be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents as of December 31, 2022 consisted of two money market accounts and
LLE. Treasury Bills. Cash equivalents as of December 31, 2021 consisted of one money market account.




MONOPAR THERAPEUTICS INC,
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2022
Trvestments

The Company considers all of is investments in debt securities (U5, Government or Agencies), with maturities al the
date of purchase from three months to one year 1o be available-for-sale securiics. These investments are recorded at fair
value with the unrealized gains and losses reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) on the Company s
consalidated balance sheets, Realized gains and losses from the sale of investments, iF any, are determined are recorded
net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, The investments selected by the Company have
a bow level of inherent credit risk given they are izsued by the LS, government and sny changes in their fair value are
primarily aitribuiable (o changes in interest raies and market liquidity. Invesiments as of December 31, 2022 consisted of
U.S. Treasury Bills with maturitics of 91 days to one year. There were no investments as of December 31, 2021,

Prepaid Expenyes

Prepayments are expenditures for poods or services before the goods are wsed or the services are received and are
charged to operations as the benefits are realized. Prepaid expenses may include payments to development collaborators
in excess of actual expenses incurred by the collaborator, measured at the end of ecach reporting period. Prepayments also
include inserance premiums, dues and subscriptions and software costs of 310,000 or more per year that are expensed
monthly over the life of the contract, which 13 typically one year. Prepaid expenses are reflecied on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets as other current assets,

Leases

Lease agrecments are evaluated to determine whether an arrangement is or containg a lease in accordance with ASC 842,
Leases, Right-of-use lease asscts and lease habalitics are recognized based on the present value of the fiture minimum
lease payments over the lease term at the commencement date. The right-of-use lease assel on the Company’s
consalidated balance sheets includes any lease payments made and excludes lease incentives. The incremental borrowing
taking inte consideration the Company's credit quality and borrowing rate for similar assets i3 used in determining the
present value of future payments. Lease expense is recorded as general and administrative expenses on the Company ‘s
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. ASC 842 was adopied by the Company on January 1,
2019, See Note & for discussion of operating leases.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that polentially subject the Company 1o concentration of credit rnsk consist of cash and cash
equivalents, The Company maintains cash and cash cquivalents at two reputable financial institations. As of December
31, 2022, the balunce at one financial institution was in excess of the $250,000 Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
(“FDIC™) insurable limit, The Company has not experienced any losses on its deposils since inception and management
belicves the Company is not exposed to significant risks with respect to these financial institutions,

Fair Valwe of Financial Instruntents

For fMnancial instruments consisting of cash and cash rq:uva]gnls. investments, accounts payable, acerued expenses, and
other current liabilities, the carrying are stil of fair value due to their relatively shon
maturitics,

The Company adopled ASC %20, Fair Value Measwremenis amd Disclosures, as amended, which addresses the
measurement of the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, Under this sandard, fair value is defined as the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (i.c., the “exit price”) in an orderly ransaction
between market participants ot the measurement date.

The standard cstablishes a hicrarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs
and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available,
Observable inpuls reflect assumptions market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability based on market data
obtained from independent sources. Unobservable inputs reflect a reporting enfity’s pricing an asset or liability developed
based on the best information available under the circumstances. The fair value hierarchy consists of the following three
levels:

Level | = mstrument valuations are obtained from real-time quotes for rmnsactions in active exchange markets involving
identical assets.

Level 2~ instrument valuations are obtained from readily available pricing sources for comparable instruments,

Level 3 - instrument valuations are oblained without observable market values and require a high-level of judgment 1o
determine the fair value,
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MONOPAR THERAPEUTICS INC,
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2022

Determining which category an asset or liability falls within the hierarchy requires significant judgment. The Company
evaluates its hicrarchy disclosures cach reporfing perntod, There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 or 3 of the fair value
hierarchy during the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021. The following table presents the asseis and liabilities
recorded that are reported at fair value on our consolidated balance sheets on a recurring basis, No values were recorded
in Level 2 or Level 3 at December 31, 2022, and 2021,

Assers and Linbilities Measured ar Fair Value on a Recurring Basix

December 31 2022 Level 1 Total
Assels:
Cash equivalents'” « § T248946 5 7.248.946

Investments™*

4.933.550 _ 4.933.550
« S1L1824% S12.182.496

December 31 2021 Level 1 Total
Assels:

Cash equivalents'"
Total

. 520014205 520.014.205

- 520.014.205 $20.014.205

(1) Cash equivalents as of December 31, 2022 represent the fair value of the Company’s investment in two money
market accounts and LS, Treasury Bills with maturitics at the daie of purchase of less than %0 days, On December
31, 2021 cash equivalents represented the fair value of the Company’s investment in a money markel account.

(2} Inwvestments represents the fair value of the Company’s investment in LS. Treasury Bills with maturities at the date
of purchase from 90 days to one year.

Net Loxs per Share

Met loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, is caleulated by dividing net loss by the weighted-
average shares of common steck owstanding during the period. Diluted net loss per share (or the vears ended December
31, 2022, and 2021 is caleulated by dividing net loss by the weighted-average shares of the sum of a) weighted average
common stock outstanding (12,718,166 and 12472217 shares for the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021,
respectively) and b) potentially dilutive shares of common stock (such as stock options and restricied stock units)
ouistanding during the period. As of December 31, 2022, and 2021, potentially dilutive secunitics included stock-based
awards to purchase up to 1,915,600 and 1655451 shares of the Company’s common stock, respectively, For the years
ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, potentially dilutive securities are excluded from the computation of fully diluted
net loss per share as their effect is anti-dilutive.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development ("R&ED") costs are expensed as incurred. Major components of RED expenses include
salaries and benefits paid 10 the Company's R&D staff, compensation expenses of G&A personnel performing R&D,
fees paid to consultants and 1o the entities that conduct certain R&D activities on the Company's behalf and materials
and supplies which were used in R&D activities during the reporting period.

Climical Trials Accrials

The Company accrues and expenses the costs for clinical trial activities performed by third partics based upon estimates
of the pereentage of work completed over the life of the individual study in accordance with agreements established with
coniract research organizations, service providers, and clinical tnal sites. The Company estimates the amounis o accrue
based upon discussions with internal clinical personnel and extermal service providers as 1o progress or stage of
complenion of mals or services and the agreed upon fee to be paid for such services, Costs of seting up clinical wial sites
for participaiion in the trials are expensed immediately as R&D expenses, Clinical irial site cosis related 1o patieni
screening and enrollment are acerued as patients are sereencd ’entered into the trial.

Collaborative Agreements

The Company and 15 collaborative pariners are active pariicipants in collaborutive agreements and all pariies would be
exposed 1o significant risks and rewands depending on the technical and commercial success of the activities. Contractual
payments to the other partics in collaboration agreements and costs incurred by the Company when the Company is
deemed to be the principal participant for a given transaction are recognized on a gross basis in R&D expenses. Royalties
and license payments are recorded as eamed.

During the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, no milestones were met, and no rovaliies were camed, therefore,
the Company did not pay or accrue’'expense any license or rovally payments,
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MONOPAR THERAPEUTICS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022
Licensing Agreements

The Company has various agreements licensing technology utilized in the development of its product or technology
programs. The licenses contain success milestone obligations and royalties on future sales. During the vears ended
December 31, 2022, and 2021, no milestones were mel, and no rovalties were eamed, therefore, the Company did not
pay or accrue/expense any license or rovalty payments under any of is license agreements.

Patent Costs

The Company expenses costs relating to ssued patents and patent applications, including costs relating to legal, renewal
and application fees, as a component of general and administrative expenses in its consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive loss,

Income Taxes

The Company uscs an asset and liability approach for accounting for deferred income taxes, which requires recognition
of deferred income tax assets and liabilitics for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized
in us financial statements but have not been reflected in its taxable income. Estimates and judgments are required in the
caleulation of certain tax liabilities and in the determination of the recoverability of certain deferred income tax assets,
which arise from temporary differences and carmyforwands. Deferred income tax assets and labilities are measured using
the currently enacted tax rates that apply 1o taxable income in effect for the years in which those 1ax assets and liabilities
are expected to be realized or settled.

The Company regularly asscsses the likelihood that its deferred income tax assets will be realized from recoverable
income taxes or recovened from future taxable income. To the extent that the Company believes any amounts are not
“more likely than not” to be realized, the Company records a valuation allowance to reduce the deferred income tax
assets. In the event the Company determines that all or part of the net deferred fax assets are not realvzable in the future,
an gdjustment to the valuation allowance would be charged to camings in the peniod such determination 15 made.
Stmilarly, il the Company subsequently determines deferred income tax assels that were previously determined to be
unrealizable are now realizable, the respective valuation allowance would be reversed, resulting in an adjustment to
camings in the period such determination is made.

Internal Revenue Code Sections 382 and 383 (“Sections 382 and 3837) limit the use of net operating loss (“NOL™)
carryforwards and R&D credits, after an ownership change. To date, the Company has not conducted a Section 382 or
383 smdy, however, because the Company will continue 1o raise significant amoumnts of equity in the coming years, the
Company expects that Sections 382 and 383 will limit the Company s usage of NOLs and R&D credits in the future.

ASC 740, fncome Taves, requires that the tox benefit of net operating losses, temporary differences, and credit
carryforwards be recorded as an asset 10 the extent that management assesses that realization is “more likely than not.™
Realization of the future tax benefits is dependent on the Company’s ability to generate sufficient taxable income within
the carryforward peniod. The Company has reviewed the positive and negative evidence relating to the realizability of the
deferred 1ax assets and has concluded that the deferred tax assets are not “more likely than not” to be realized. As a
resull, the Company recorded a full valuation allowance as of December 31, 2022, and 2021. U.S. Federal R&D tax
credits from 2006 10 2019 were utilized 10 reduce payroll taxes in future periods and were recorded as other current assels
(anticipated to be received within 12 months). on the Company's consolidated balance sheets, The Company intends to
maintain the valuation allowance until sufficient evidence exists to support its reversal, The Company regularly reviews
its tax positions. For a tax benefit to be recognized, the related tax position must be “more likely than not” to be sustained
upon examination. Any amount recognized is generally the largest benelit that is “more likely than ao™ to be realized
upon setilement. The Company’s policy is 1o recognize interest and penaltics related to income tax matlers as an income
tax expense. For the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, the Company did not have any interest or penalties
associnted with unrecognized tax benefils,

The Company 13 subject to U.5, Federal, lllinois and California state income taxes. In addition, the Company 15 subject to
local tax laws of France and Australia. Tax regulations within each jurisdiction are subject to the interprewtion of the
related tax fvws and regulations and require significant judgment to apply. Monopar was originally formed as an LLC in
December 2014, then incorporated on December 16, 2005, The Company is subject to U.S. Federal, siate and local tax
cxaminations by tax autheritics for the wx vears 2015 through 2021, The Company docs not anticipate significant
changes to its current uncertain tax positions through December 31, 2022, The Company plans on filing its U.S. Federal
and state tax returns for the year ended December 31, 2022, prior to the extended filing deadlines in all jurisdictions.
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MONOPAR THERAPEUTICS INC,
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022
Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation amangements with emplovees, non-emplovee directors and
consultants using a fair value method, which requires the recognition of compensation expense for costs related 1o all
stock-based awards, including stock option and restricied stock unit (“RSU™) grants. The fair value method requires the
Company to estimate the fair value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option pricing model or
the closing stock price on the date of grant in the case of RSUs.

Stock-based compensation expense for awands granted 1o employees, non-employee directors and consullants are based
on the fur value of the underlying mstrument calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model on the date of
grant for stock options and using the closing stock price on the date of grant for RSUs and recognized as expense on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service peniod, which is the vesiing period. Determining the appropriate fair value
model and related assumptions requires judgment, including estimating the future stock price volatility and expected
terms. The expected volatility rates are estimated based on the Company’s historical actual volatility over the two-year
period from its initial public offering on December 18, 2019 through December 31, 2021. Forfeitures only include known
forfeitures to-date as the Company accounts for forfeitures as they ocour due to a limited history of forfeitures, The
expected term for oplions granted to date is estimated using the simplified methed. The Company has not paid dividends
and docs not anticipate paying a cash dividend in the future vesting period and, accordingly, uses an expected dividend
vield of zero. The nsk-free interest rate is based on the rate of U8, Treasury secunfies with maturities consistent with the
cstimated expected term of the awards.

Note 3 - Investments

As of December 31, 2022 the Company had two money market accounts and avalable-for-sale investments with

contraciual maturities of one year or less as follows:

Unreslized  Aggregate
As of December 31, 2022 Cost Basis Gains Fair Valuc

U.S, Treasury Bill - % 6905171 S 15039 § 6920210

Money Market Funds - _ 5,262,286 = 5261286
Total S12.167457 S 15,039 51218249
A mmLrel LT S ———r e RS e

As of December 31, 2022, there were no available-for-sale securities in an unrealized-loss position and there were no
sales of available-for-sale securities made duning 2022, LS. Treasury Bills classified as Investments on the consolidated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 were $4.9 million.

See Note 2 for addittonal discussion regarding the Company”s fair value measurements.
Note 4 - Capital Stock

Holders of the common stock are entitled to receive such dividends as may be declared by the Board of Directors out of
funds legally available therefor. To date no dividends have been declared Upon dissolution and liquidation of the
Company, holders of the commen stock are entitied 10 a ratable share of the net assets of the Company remaining after
paymenis to creditors of the Company. The holders of shares of commeon stock are enlitled 1o one vole per share for the
clection of cach dircctor nominated to the Board and one vote per share on all other matters submitted to a vote of
stockholders,

The Company*s amended and restated cerificate of incorporation authonzes the Company 1o issue 40,000,000 shares of
common stock with 4 par value of $0.001 per share,
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MONOPAR THERAPEUTICS INC,
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022
Sales of Common Stock

On January 13, 2020, the Company entered into a Capital on Demand™ Sales Agreement with JonesTrading Institutional
Services LLC (“JonesTrading™), as sales agent, pursuant to which Monopar could offer and sell (at its discretion), from
time 1o time, through or to JonesTrading shares of Monopar's common stock, having an aggregate offering price of up to
$19.7 million. Pursuant to this agreement, dunng the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company sold 1,104,047
shares of its common stock at an average gross price per share of $10.20 for net proceeds of $10.925,312 after fees and
commissions of 338,153, In aggregate pursuant to this agreement, the Company sold 1,964,724 shares of its common
stock at an average gross price per share of $10.02 for net proceeds of S19,100.603, after fees and commissions of
591,188, During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company did not sell any shares of commaon stock under this
agreement s the maximum aggregate offering price was reached during the first quarter of 2021,

O April 20, 2022, the Company executed a new Capital on Demand™ Sales Agreement with JonesTrading, pursuant to
which Monopar may offer and sell, from tme to time, through or to JonesTrading, as sales agent or principal, shares of
Monopar's common stock. On April 20, 2022, the Company filed a prospectus supplement with the 1.5, Securities and
Exchange Commission relating to the offer and sale of its common stock from time to time pursuant to the agreemient up
to an aggregate amount of 54,870,000, In addition, the Company filed a Formn 5-3 and prospectus 1o increase the
aggregate amount under this agreement to 56,680,571 less $174,929 sold within 12 months of the filing. The Form §-3
and prospectus were declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 4, 2023, Expenses
related to these financing activitics were reconded as offering costs (o reduction of additional paid in capital) on the
Company’s consolidated statement of stockholders” equity for the period. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the
Company sold 64,573 shares of its common stock at an average gross price per share of $2.71 for net proceeds of
£170.552, after fees and commissions of $4,377. In addition, the Company incurred legal, accounting and other fees
totaling $%3.234 for nel proceeds afler fees, commissions and expenses of 587,318,

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had 12,946,573 shares of common stock issued and owistanding,
Note 5 - Stock Incentive Plan

In April 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors and steckhelders representing a majority of the Company’s outstanding
stock at that time, approved the Monopar Therapeutics Ine. 2016 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended ithe “Plan™), allowing
the Company to grant up to an aggregate 700,000 shares of stock-based awards in the form of stock options, restricied
stock umiis, stock appreciation nghts and other stock-based awards to employees, non-employee directors and
consultants. In October 2017, the Company®s Board of Directors voted to increase the stock award pool o 1,600,000
shares of common stock, which subscquently was approved by the Company’s stockholders. In April 2020, the
Company’s Board of Dircctors voled to increase the stock award pool 1o 3,100,000 {an increase of 1,500,000 shares of
commeon stock), which was approved by the Company’s stockholders in June 2020, In April 2021, the Company’s Board
of Directors voted 1o approve an amendment to the 2016 Stock Incentive Plan 1o remove certain individual award limits
and other provisions related to 1L.R.C. Section 162(m) and to update the limit on Incentive Stock Options (o no more that
10K of the maximum aggregate number of shares which may be granted under the plan, which was approved by the
Company's stockholders in June 2021, In March 2022, the Company s Board of Dircctors voled to increase the stock
award pool to 5,100,000 (an increase of 2,000,000 shares of common stock), which was approved by the Company’s
stockholders in June 2022,

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company’s Plan Administrator Committee {with regards to non-officer
employees and consultants) and the Company’s Compensation Commiitee, as ratified by the Board of Directors (in the
case of executive officers and non-employee dircetors), granted to executive officers. non-officer employees, non-
cmployee directors and consultants aggregate stock options for the purchase of 604,064 shares of the Company's
commeon stock with exercise prices ranging from $1.59 w0 £3.95 per share which vest over | 1o 4 years, All stock option
grants have a |0-year term. In addition, during the vear ended December 31, 2022, an aggregate 403,522 restnicted stock
units were granted to executive officers, non-officer employees and non-employee directors which vest ever | to 4 vears.

Under the Flan, the per share exercise price for the shares 10 be issued upon exercise of an option shall be determined by
the Plan Administrator, except that the per share exercise price shall be no less than 100% of the fair market value per
share on the grant date, Fair market value is the Company’s closing price on Nasdag, Stwock options generally expire after
10 years.
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Stock option activity under the Plan was as follows:

Options Outstanding
Number of Weighted-
Shares Average
Subject to Exercise
Options Price
Balance at J. v 1, 2021 1,258,577 § 447
Granted 403,476 6.27
Forfeited .. (115,151) 649
Exercised. (2.913) 6.00
Balance at December 31, 2021 1,543,989 4.7%
Granted'"'..........cc0.. . 604,064 2.83
Forfeited'”' .. (337,103) 6.13
Exercised ; 168,000) 0.001
Balance at December 31, 2022 1,642,950 4.28
Unvested options outstanding expected 1o vest™ ., 461,524 4.0

(1) 604,064 options vest as follows: options to purchase 533,552 shares of the Company’s common stock vest 6/48ths
on the six-month anniversary of vesting commencement date and 1/48th per month thereafler; options to purchase
60,512 shares of the Company’s commeon stock vest quarterly over one vear; and options 1o purchase 10,000 shares
of the Company”s common steck vest monthly over one year, Exercise prices range from 31.59 10 53,95 per share.

(2} Forfeited options represent unvested shares and vested, expired shares related fo employee terminations,

(3) Estimated forfeitures only include known forfeitures to-date as the Company tvpically accounts for forfeitures as
they occur due to a limited history of forfeitures.

A summary of options outstanding as of December 31, 2022, is shown below:

Number of
Weighted- Shares Weighted-
Number of  Average  Subjectto  Awverage
Shares Remaining  Options  Remaining
Subject to Contractual Fully Contractual
Options Termin  Vested and  Termiin

Exercise Prices Ouistanding Years Exercisable Years
£0.001-55.00 ... 893,939 6,79 558,142 536
£5.01-810,00 ... 629,216 6.39 516,336 5.97
£10.01-515.00 . 113,670 7.05 100,823 7.05
S15.01-520.00 .. 6125 7.00 6,125 7.09
1.642.950 6.65 __LIBL426 5.78
Restricted stock unit activity under the Plan was as follows:
Weighted-
Average

Restricted  Grant Date
Stock Fair Value
Units per Unit

Unvested balance at December 31, 2020 40,8066 3 1293
Granted.... (%3]
Vested.. B4
Forfeited . i 752
Unvested balance at December 31, 2021 111,462 B4
Granted... = 403,522 2.80
Vested.. (149.706) 407
Forfeited... (92,628) 4.01
Unvested Balance at December 31, 2022 171,650 4.00
——l
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During the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, the Company recognized S518,164 and $560,317 of employee,
non-emplovee director and consultant stock-based compensation expense as general and sdministrative expenses.,
respectively, and S823,009 and $907.737 as research and development expenses, respectively. The stock-based
compensation expense is allocated on a depantmental basis, based on the classification of the stock-based award holder.
Mo income tax benefits have been recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for
stock-based compensation armangements.

The fair value of options granted from inception o December 31, 2022, was bascd on the Black-Scholes option-pricing
moddel assuming the fellowing factors: 4.7 1o 6.2 years expected term, 35% to 92% volatility, 0.4% 10 4.4% risk free
interest rate and zero dividends. The expected term for options granted 1o date was estimated using the simplified
methad,

Stock option grants and fair values under the Plan were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
022 021
Stock options gramted........cve 604,064 403,476

s 213§ 4,46
.85 970451 S 1152572

Weighted-average grant date fair value per share..
Fair value of shares vested ...

At December 31, 2022, the aggregate intrinsic value of oustanding vested stock options was 5917,798 and of
owstanding unvested stock options was $2,690 and the weighted-average oxercise price in aggregate was $4.28 which
includes $4.39 for fully vested siock options and $4.00 for stock options expected to vest. Al December 31, 2022,
unamortized balance of stock-based compensation was $2.2 million, 10 be amenized over the following 2.6 years,

Note 6 - Related Party Transactions

As of December 31, 2022, Tactic Pharma, LLC (*Tactic Pharma™), the Company's initial investor, beneficially owned
33% of Monopar’s common stock and during the year ended December 31, 2022, there were no transactions between
Tactic Pharma and Monopar,

Mone of the related parties discussed i this paragraph received compensation other than market-based salary, market-
based stock-based compensation and benefits and performance-based incentive bonus or in the case of non-emplovee
dircctors, market-rate Board fees and market-rate stock-based compensation. The Company considers the following
mdividuals as related parties: Two of the Company ‘s board members were also Managing Members of Tactic Pharma as
of December 31, 2022, Chandler D. Robinson is a Company Co-Founder, Chief Executive Officer, common stockholder,
Managing Member of Tactic Pharma, former Manager of the predecessor LLC. Manager of CDR Pharma, LLC and
Board member of Monopar as a C Corporation. Michael Brown is a Managing Member of Tactic Pharma (as of February
1. 2009, with no voting power as it relates to Monopar), a previous managing member of Monopar as an LLC, common
stockholder and Board member of Monopar as a C Corporation.

Note 7= Income Taxes

ASC 740, Jucome Taves, requircs that the tax benefit of net operating losses, porary differences, and credit
carryforwards be reconded as an asset 10 the extent that management assesses that realization is “more likely than pot.™
Realization of the future tax benefits is dependent on the Company’s ability to generate sufficient taxable income within
the carryforward period. The Company has reviewed the positive and negative evidence relating to the realizability of the
deferred tax assets and has concluded that the deferred tax assets are not “more likely than not” to be realized. The
valuation allewance increased by approximately $3,420,000 and 52,500,000 during the years ended December 31, 2022,
and 2021, respectively.
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The provision for income taxes for December 31, 2022, and 2021, consists of the following:

As of December 31,
2022 2021
- <
Total deferred: 5 - -

*Total provision for income taxes of S800 for cach of the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, s recorded in
general and administrative expenses on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss as
it is not considered a material amount.

The difference between the effeetive tax rate and the LS, federal tax raie is as follows {in %):

As of December 31,

2022 2021
OO EOMCOME BB v cosivinininisisisieiwaimaysays sy A o e e e e mamamsasaBssnHpHpHOY 21.00 2100
State income taxcs, less federal Benefit,.....oeevevrron 6.39 712
Tax credits.. 557 203
Permanent differences............. (2.45) {1.97)
Change in valuation allowances {32.58) (27.47)
(Hher. 2.0d 07l
Effective tax rate benefit (expense)............. {0.01) 0,00
Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:

As of December 31,

2022 2021
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwands, . 8 3548494 £ 1484229
Tax credits carryforwands ... 1.254.678 382,048
Stock-based compensation .. 630,113 700,208
Intangible asset basis differences, 3,824,482 3153199
Accrued labilities & allowances 96478 -
Capitalized research and development 1,787,350

11,141,595 7,720,284

Ciross deferred tax assels ..o
Valuation all 2 (10.041.595) (7.720,284)
Net deferred 1A% A85618 ...o.ovwnwimmrsissrsmmsssspmasareapssreares — ==

As of December 31, 2022, Company had total federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $12,428 000,
which will begin o expire in 2035, Losses gencrated after 2017 will be carried forward indefinitely. At December 31,
2022, the Company had stwe net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $12,457.000 which will begin to expire
in 2027,

As of December 21, 2022, the Company had federal and state tax credits of $1.426,000 and $183,000, respectively. The
federal credits expire beginning afier the vear 2035 and the state credits began to expire in 2023

F-16




MONOPAR THERAPEUTICS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2022

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 limits the use of netl operaiing carryforwards and R&D credits in ceriain sifuations where
changes occur in the stock ownership of 2 company. In the event the Company has had a change in ownership, utilization
of the carryforwards and R&D credits could be limited. The Company has not performed a net operating loss or R&D
credit utilization study 1o date.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions in accordance with ASC T40-10, “Accoumiing for Uncertainty in
Income Taxves,” ASC 740-10 prescribes a comprehensive model for the recognition, measy pe ion and
disclosure in financial statements of any uncertain tax positions that have been taken or are expected 1o be taken on a tax
retumn. It is Company’s policy to include penaltics and interest expense related 1o income taxes as an iNCoMe WX expense,

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

2022 21
Beginning uncertain tax benefits. . ...t s s 3 103,104 5 63,262
Current year — increases 150,701 46,092
Prior vear - increases (decreascs). 67,370 {6,250)

Ending uncertain tax benefits. ..., ] 320,075 8 103,104

Included in the balance of uncertain tax benefils al December 31, 2022 are $321,175 of 1ax benefits that, if recognized,
would not impact the effective tax rate as it would be oflset by the reversal of related deferred tax assets which are
subject to a full valuation allowance. The Company anticipates that no material amounts of unrecognized tax bencfits
will be settled within 12 months of the reporting date. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had no accrucd interest or
penaltics recorded related to uncertain tax positions,

The Company files LS, federal, California and Hhinois state tax retumns. Company is subject to California state minimum
franchise taxes. All tax returns will remain open for examination by the federal and state taxing authorities for three and
four vears, respectively, from the date of utilization of any net operating loss carryforwards or R&D credits, In addition,
due to the operations in ceriain foreign countries, the Company became subject to local tax laws of such couniries.
Nonetheless. as of December 21, 2022, due to the insignificant expenditures in such countrics, there was no material tax
effect to the Company's 2022 consolidated financial statements.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2007 (“TCJA™) was enacted. On January 1, 2022, a provision of
the TCIA went into effect which requires the capitalization of research and development costs in the year incurred and
requires taxpayers (o amortize such costs over five years and 135 years for domesiic and foreign expense, respectively.
The Company evaluated the impact of the TCJA and prepared the provision by following the treatment of research and
development expenditures for tax purposes under Section 174,

Note 8 - Commitments and Conlingencies
License, Development and Collaboration Agrecments
(hen S,

In June 2016, the Company exccuted an option and license agreement with Onxeo S.A. ("Onxeo”), a public French
company, which gave Monopar the exclusive option o license (on a world-wide exclusive basis) Validive o pursue
treating severe oral mucosiiis in patients undergoing chemoradiation treatment for head and neck cancers. The pre-
negotiated Onxeo license agreement for Validive as pant of the option agreement includes clinical, regulatory,
develop I and sales miles i that could reach up to 3108 million if the Company achieves all milestones, and
escalating royalties on net sales from 5% to 10%, On Seplember &, 2017, the Company exercised the license option, and
therefore paid Onxeo the $1 million fee under the option and license agreement.

Under the agreemeni, the Company is required to poay royaltics (o Onxco on g product-by-product and country-by-
country basis until the later of (1) the date when a given product is no longer within the scope of a patent claim n the
couniry of sale or manufacture, {2} the expiry of any extended exclusivity period in the relevant country (such as orphan
drug exclusivity, pediatric exclusivity, new chemical entity exclusivity, or other exclusivily grunted beyond the expiry of
the relevant patent), of (3) a specific time period after the first commercial sale of the product in such country. In most
countrics, including the US,, the patent term is gencrally 20 years from the carliest claimed filing date of 3 non-
provisicnal patent application in the applicable country, not taking inte consideration any potential patent term
adjustment that may be filed in the future or any regulatory extensions that may be obtained. The rovalty termination
provision pursuant to (3) described above is shorter than 20 years and is the least likely cause of termination of royalty
paymenis,
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The Onxeo license agreement does not have a pre-determined term, but expires on a product-by-product and country-by-
country basis: that is, the agreement expires with respect 10 a given product in a given country whenever the Company s
rovalty payment obligations with respect to such product have expired. The agreement may also be terminated early for
cause if ¢ither the Company or Onxeo materially breach the agreement, or if either the Company or Onxen become
nsolvent. The Company may also cheose to terminate the agreement, either in iis entirefy or a3 10 a certain produwct and a
certain country, by providing Onxeo with sdvance notice,

The Company is internally developing Validive and has its ongoing VOICE clinical wrial, which, if successful, may allow
the Company to apply for marketing approval within the next zeveral years. The Company will need 1o raise significant
fuids or enter into o collaboration partnership to support the further development, including potential commercialization
of Validive. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had not reached any of the pre-specified milestones and has not
been required to pay Onxeo any funds under this license agreement other than the S1 million one-time license fee.

Grupo Espaiiol de Investigacidn en Sarconas (“GEIS™)

In June 2019, the Company executed a clinical collaboration agreement with GEIS for the development of camsirubicin
in patients with advanced soft tissue sarcoma (“ASTS"). Following completion of the Phase 1b clinical tral in the U.S.
that Monopar initiated in the third quarter of 2021 with the first patient dosed in October 2021, the Company continues to
expect that GEIS will sponsor and lead a multi-country, randomized, open-label Phase 2 clinical trial o evaluate
camsirubicin head-to-head against doxorubicin, the current first-line treatment for ASTS. The Company will provide
study drug and supplemental financial suppon for the clinical trial. For three months ended March 31, 2021, Monopar
incurred $0.3 million in expenses under the GEIS agreement and other clinical-related expenses including clinical
material manufacturing and database management expenses in support of the then-planned GEIS Phase 2 camsirubicin
clinical irial. The Company can lemunate the agreement by providing GEIS with advance notice, and withoul affecting
the Company’s rights and ownership to any related intellectual property or clinical data. In the second quarter of 2021,
due to regulatory delays in Spain, Monopar decided 10 conduct an open-label Phase 1b clinical trial of camsirubicin in the
LL5., therefore no cxpenses were incurred related to the GEIS collaboration beyond March 31, 2021,

XOMA Led,

The intellectual property nghts contributed by Tactic Pharma to the Company included the non-exclusive license
agreement with XOMA, Lid. for the humanization technology used in the development of MNPR-101. Pursuant o such
license agreement, the Company is obligated 1o pay XOMA Lid. clinical, regulaiory and sales milest for MNFR-101
that could reach up to $14.925 million if the Company achicves all milestones. The agreement docs not require the
payment of sales royaltics. There can be no assurance that the Company will reach any milestones under the XOMA
agreement. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had not reached amy milestones and has not been required to pay
XOMA Lid. any funds under this license agreenrent,

Operating Leases

The Company is currently leasing office space for 1s executive headquarters at 1000 Skokie Blvd., m the Village of
Wilmette, lilinois for $4,238 per month. In February 2022, the Company entered into a 24-month lease for 1,202 squarc
feet of the office space for $2.379 per month, In May 2022, the Company entered into a 22-month lease for 939 square
feet of additional office space for $1.859 per month.

As of December 31, 2022, in accordance with ASC 842, Leases, the two leases were recorded as an operating lease right-
of-use (“ROUT) asset and a lease liability included in accounts payable, acerued expenses and other current liabilities,
and non-current operating lease liability on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The initial ROU asset and
associated liability is cqual to the present value of the minimum lease payments, Since the rate implicit in the lease is
rarely readily determinable. the Company applied an incremental borrowing rate taking into consideration our credit
quality and borrowing rate for similar assets. The lease terms used 1o calculate the ROU asset and related lease liability
docs not include an option 1o extend but docs include an option 1o terminate the lease. Lease costs for operating leases are
recognized on a straight-line hasis over the cxpcxtul lease term and recorded a5 general and administrative expenses on
the Company’s consolidated statements of op and prehensive loss. Amortization of the ROU asset
commenced on April 1, 2022, and June 1, 2022, for the two operating leases, respectively. No ROU asset or lease
liability was recorded in 2021 as the lease obligation was less than one year.
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The components of lease expense were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021

Total lease costs § 34424 S 54,960
Maturitics of the lease liability as of December 31, 2022 are as follows:

Operating
Fiscal Year Leases
December 31, 2023 ... H 50,856
December 31, 2024 8476
Total lease payments . 59,332
Less: impuied inferest ... 12.342)
Total lease lability as of December 31, 2022 s 56,990

The following table presents the weighted average remaining lease term and the discount rate used in caleulating the
ROU asset and related lease liability for the periods presented:

December 31,
2022 021
Lease term:
[Mscount rate:
Supplemental balance sheet information:
As af December 31,
022 2021
Total ROU asset § 61228 -
Operating lease habality — current.,.... PRS- | 48,582
Operating lease liabality - non-current B.408 -
Total aperating lease labilities 5 56,990 -
i Su—

Legal Contingencies

The Company may be subject w claims and asscssments from time 1o time in the ordinary course of business, No claims
have been asserted 1o date.

Indemnification

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into coniracts and agreements that contain a variety of
representations and  warranties and provide for general indemmification. The Company®s exposure under these
agreements is unknown because it involves claims that may be made against the Company in the future, but that have not
yet been made, To date, the Company has not paid any claims nor been required 10 defend any action related 1o its
indemmification obligations. However, the Company may record charges in the future as a resull of future claims against
these indemnification obligations.

In accordance with its second amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and the
indemnification agreements entered into with cach officer and non-cmployee director, the Company has indemnification
obligations to its officers and non-employee directors for certain events or occurrences, subject o cemain limits, while
they are serving a1 the Company s request in such capacitics. There have been no indemnification claims 1o date.
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